
Afren plc
Kinnaird House
 1 Pall Mall East
London SW1Y 5AU
England

T: +44 (0)20 7451 9700
F: +44 (0)20 7451 9701

Email: info@afren.com

www.afren.com

Afren Energy Resources Limited 
 1st Floor, The Octagon
 13A, A.J. Marinho Drive
Victoria Island Annexe
Lagos
Nigeria
 
T: +234 (1) 4610130 – 7
F: +234 (1) 4610139

Afren Côte d’Ivoire, Limited
Avenue Delafosse Prolongée
RDC Résidence Pelieu
04 B P 827 Abidjan 04
Côte d’Ivoire

T: +225 20 254 000
F: +225 20 226 229

Afren Resources USA Inc
 10001 Woodloch Forest Drive
Suite 360
The Woodlands
Texas 77380
USA

T: +1 281 363 8600
F: +1 281 292 0019
 

Afren Energy Resources Ghana Limited
c/o GNPC
 1st Floor, Petroleum House
PMB, Tema
Ghana

T/F: +233 22 206 828

Annual Report and Accounts 2008
Afren plc

The premier pan-African independent oil and gas company

A
fren

 p
lc  A

nnual Report and A
ccounts 20

08



CONTENTS
01 2008 Highlights
02 Delivering on Our Strategy
04 A 100% Focus on Africa
06 Afren’s Key Differentiators
07 Afren – Committed to African Communities
08 Diversity.  A Key to Prosperity
11  Chairman and Chief Executive’s Statement
20   Review of Operations 

 20 Nigeria – Okoro Setu 
 22 Nigeria – Ebok 
 24 Nigeria – Ogedeh 
 25 Nigeria – Anambra Basin 
 26 Nigeria – Ofa 
 27 Côte d’Ivoire – Block Cl-11 
 28 Côte d’Ivoire – Block Cl-01 
 29 Côte d’Ivoire – The Lion Gas Plant 
 30 Ghana 
 31 Congo 
 32 Gabon 
 33 Nigeria – São Tomé & Príncipe JDZ

34 Corporate Social Responsibility
36 Financial Review
40 Board of Directors
42 Senior Management
43 Senior Management – Afren Nigeria
44 Senior Management – Afren Côte d’Ivoire
45 International Advisory Board
46 Directors’ Report
49 Corporate Governance Statement
50 Directors’ Remuneration Report
55  Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
56 Independent Auditors’ Report
57 Group Income Statement
58 Balance Sheets
59 Cash Flow Statements
60 Statements of Changes in Equity
62  Notes to the Consolidated Financial  

Statements
90 Glossary of Terms
IBC  List of Advisers and Company Secretary

Afren is a leading independent oil and gas exploration 
and production company. 

Our focus lies exclusively on the vibrant continent of 
Africa, the world’s fastest growing source of natural 
resources and an increasingly key supplier to the major 
global economies.

By adhering to, and delivering against, a clear and 
differentiated strategy, Afren has continued on the 
sound growth trajectory we have set in previous years. 

The year 2008 heralded a landmark as we achieved 
our stated goal of First Oil.  This, coupled with recent 
appraisal drilling results, points to the potential  
of producing up to 65,000 barrels of oil equivalent  
a day by the close of 2010.
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up to  

 65,000
over

 26,000
barrels of oil equivalent per day 
expected by end 2010 from our 
current portfolio

working interest barrels of oil 
equivalent per day production from 
our current portfolio

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

   First organic production, with the Okoro field successfully brought onstream

   Current profitable and stable production base of over 26,000 working interest 
boepd (entirely Afren operated)

   Outcome of Ebok field appraisal (post period end) transformational; a material  
52 mmbbls oil development, with upside to 106 mmbbls and field production  
of up to 50,000 bopd expected by end 2010 

   An outperforming asset base, with Okoro producing circa 47% above expectation, 
and CI-11 producing 10% above expectation under Afren’s operatorship

   New partnerships established with the national oil companies of Côte d’Ivoire 
and Ghana

   Continued progress on gas monetisation strategy – co-operation agreement  
with E.ON Ruhrgas, a Memorandum of Understanding with Electricité de  
France and two licences secured in the Anambra Basin, Nigeria

   Significant portfolio growth, with the acquisition of seven assets completed 
across three countries: Nigeria, and new entries into Côte d’Ivoire and Ghana 

   Strategic alliance with Sojitz Corporation to pursue joint acquisitions of scale

7 assets 2 new
country

acquired in 2008 entries in 2008

2008 Highlights
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Delivering on Our Strategy

The year 2008 saw us build on the  
solid foundations laid in previous 
years, establishing a robust platform 
of producing assets in two countries, 
complemented by a high grade 
portfolio of development, appraisal 
and exploration assets.  We have now 
built up a diverse and multinational 
enterprise comprising 15 assets in  
six African countries, providing over  
26,000 net working interest boepd,  
with visibility of up to 65,000 boepd  
by end 2010.

A key theme throughout 2008 was 
operational momentum and delivery 
as we became a fully fledged oil and 
gas production company and operator.  
We will maintain and build on this 
momentum – at the Ebok field in 
particular – as the company moves  
into a transformational phase in 2009 
and beyond.  

  £11 million raised after placing  
24.4 million ordinary shares

  Agreement for participation in the 
development of the Ogedeh Field, 
offshore Nigeria

  Acquisition of licence interests  
in Gabon

  £7.5 million raised after placing  
21.4 million ordinary shares

  Completion of Block 1 JDZ transaction
  Admission to AIM and completion of  
£8 million placing

  Completion of appraisal drilling on the 
Okoro field OML 112, offshore Nigeria

  Establishment of International Advisory 
Board

  Completion of US$75 million Convertible 
Bond Issue

  Acquisition of Heritage Oil Corporation’s 
interests in the Republic of Congo

  Agreement for the development of the 
Okoro Setu Project in OML 112, offshore 
Nigeria

2005 2006

Portfolio expansion
Nigeria, Côte d’Ivoire and Ghana

In 2008, we added a total of seven new 
assets across three countries, with two new 
country entries.  We successfully completed 
the acquisition of Devon Energy’s assets 
in Côte d’Ivoire and Ghana, incorporating 
upstream oil and gas production (Block  
CI-11), midstream NGL production (Lion  
Gas Plant), development upside (CI-01) and  
world class exploration acreage (Keta Block).
In Nigeria, we signed PSCs for OPLs 907 
and 917 in the gas rich Anambra Basin to 
aggregate and commercialise stranded 
gas, true to our broader gas monetisation 
strategy.  Also in Nigeria, we farmed into and 
appraised the Ebok field located in OML 67, 
offshore South East Nigeria, which could be 
contributing up to 50,000 bopd by the end 
of 2010.
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  Sail Away Ceremony of Armada Perkasa 
FPSO
  Announcement relating to the 
acquisition of Devon Energy’s interests  
in Ghana
  Completion of first exploration well  
on La Noumbi licence
  Closing of US$50 million unsecured loan
  Agreement signed for participation in 
the Eremor Field
  Completion of US$65 million equity 
raising
  Farm-In Agreement with Independent 
Energy for participation in the Ofa Field
  Okoro Setu Project Development Plan 
receives Government approval
  US$230 million debt facility secured for  
the Okoro Setu Project

 Ebok-4 appraisal well spudded
  Completion of the Cuda-1x exploration 
well, offshore Ghana

  Farm-down agreed in Ghana
  Strategic alliance with Sojitz Corporation
  Memorandum of Understanding with 
Electricité de France (EDF) and Gasol plc

  Early conversion of Convertible Bonds
  First Oil from the Okoro Setu Project
  US$236 million raised after placing  
95 million ordinary shares

  Farm-In Agreement with Oriental Energy 
Resources for the development of the 
Ebok Field, offshore Nigeria

  Acquisition of Devon Energy’s interests  
in Côte d’Ivoire

  Co-operation agreement signed with 
E.ON Ruhrgas AG and African LNG 
Holdings Limited

  Production Sharing Contracts signed  
for OPL 907 and OPL 917

  US$126 million raised after placing  
265 million ordinary shares

  Successful outcome of the Ebok field 
appraisal, with a transformational  
52 mmbbls project confirmed

2007 2008 2009

First Oil
Okoro Setu field development  
successfully completed

The Okoro Setu Project marked our first 
operated full field development, and 
successfully delivered Afren’s first organic 
production in June 2008.  This achievement 
is all the more impressive given the short 
timeframe of two years from reaching 
agreement with our partner to First Oil.   
In 2007, Afren put in place the necessary 
drilling capability, financial structure, 
development plan and production capacity.  
2008 saw our team successfully deliver  
the project, which is now outperforming 
internal expectations by 47%, and  
is testament to our ability across all 
disciplines.  It also identifies Afren as a 
partner of choice to appraise and develop 
the numerous discovered, undeveloped 
‘fallow’ oil fields across the Gulf of Guinea, 
and Nigeria in particular.

Afren’s strategy is clear and consistent: to 
consolidate our position as the premier pure-play  
E&P independent in Africa, through indigenous 
partnerships and strategic acquisitions.  
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Afren’s energies and resources are focused 
exclusively on Africa.  As a result, the roots of our 
Company grow deeper and firmer in this exciting 
continent with each passing year.  

We have forged unique bonds and 
working relationships with indigenous 
companies and suppliers, and remain 
firmly committed to developing the 
talented local professionals who 
underpin our business.  

Afren has operating offices in Lagos 
and Abidjan, and our activities in Africa 
have channelled significant resources 
directly into local economies.  The local 
workforces have not only benefited 
from our employment opportunities; 

their communities have received 
significant contributions from Afren 
including healthcare, education and 
training.

This wholehearted commitment is 
both good practice and good business.  
When we identify opportunities, 
Afren has proved we have unique 
access to the people, partners and 
goodwill to bring them to fruition.  

A 100% Focus on Africa

Transocean Adriatic VI jack-up rig
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THE RIGHT POLITICAL CLImATE 
The governments of countries where  
we operate are keenly aware of 
the value and importance of their 
resource base.  They also recognise 
the need to provide a stable structure 
and framework in which local and 
international stakeholders alike can 
operate responsibly and drive future 
growth to the benefit of all.  Africa’s 
market share, and that of West Africa 
specifically, is forecast to expand 
substantially over the near to medium 
term, as the region plays an increasingly 
important role in satisfying the world’s 
energy demands.  

Currently, 15% of oil and gas supplied 
to the US originates from West Africa 
and this is projected to increase to 30% 
over the next decade.  This highlights 
a growing dependence on a region 
where Afren has developed a clear 
competitive advantage, both through 
our partnership-led approach and 
unparalleled access to deal flow.

THE fASTEST-GROWING  
RESERvES bASE
Over the past two decades, Africa’s 
proven oil reserves have increased by 
100%.  In the same period, West Africa 
has witnessed a 165% growth.  No other 
region in the world has matched this 
remarkable expansion; indeed, many 
established producing provinces have 
exhibited a contracting resource base  
over the same period.

As importantly, Africa: 

•	 offers	a	fiscally	stable	environment;
•	 yields	high-margin	barrels;
•	 	enjoys	an	established	oil	exploration	

and production industry, at an earlier 
stage of maturity than other major 
hydrocarbon provinces;

•	 	holds	world-class	remaining	
prospectivity with positive early 
indications of a secondary market 
emerging (comparable to the North 
Sea and Gulf of Mexico 20 years ago); 
and

•	 	offers	gas	commercialisation	
opportunities of enormous scale.

billion barrels 1987 2007 growth (%)
Total North America 101 69 -32
Total South and Central America 68 111 63
Total Europe and Eurasia 76 144 90
Total Middle East 567 755 33
West Africa 20 52 165
Other Africa 39 66 68
 
Source: BP Statistical Review of World Energy 2008 
 

Sources: Waterous & Co, OPEC Annual 
Statistical Bulletin 2003, BP Statistical Review 
of World Energy 2008

•  Nigeria

•  Angola

•  Chad

•  Congo

•  Equatorial Guinea

•  Gabon

•  Nigeria

•  Equatorial Guinea

•  Congo

•  Gabon

70%

THE PROvEN REWARdS 
Afren’s interests are currently focused 
on West Africa: specifically, we have 
a diversified portfolio with assets in 
Nigeria, Côte d’Ivoire, Ghana, Nigeria – 
São Tomé and Príncipe JDZ, Gabon and 
Congo Brazzaville.

In our region there is: 

•	 	an	estimated	52	billion	barrels	of	
proved oil reserves, of which 70%  
is in Nigeria; and

•	 	an	estimated	219	tcf	reserves	of	gas,	
of which 81% is in Nigeria.

Of great interest to Afren is the number 
of discovered yet undeveloped oil and 
gas fields, particularly in Nigeria, that 
offer a rich opportunity set.  The vast 
majority of these fields reside as ‘fallow’ 
assets in the Majors’ portfolios, typically 
falling below those organisations’ 
materiality thresholds.  However, to 
smaller, agile independents such as 
Afren they represent opportunities  
of considerable scale.
 
We are witnessing encouraging signs 
that a secondary market is on the  
verge of opening up, as governments 
focus on realising the full benefit of 
their natural resources and seek to 
stimulate greater local participation.  
Acreage is increasingly being awarded 
to indigenous companies who, in turn,  
are looking to partner with independents 
who can bring both technical expertise 
and financial resources.  Afren is  
well placed to work alongside them.   
We have demonstrated our technical, 
operational and financial capabilities  
at the Okoro Setu Project in particular, 
and have become a natural partner  
of choice.

81%

05

PROvEd RESERvES GROWTH 1987 TO 2007

PROvEd OIL RESERvES 
total 52 billion barrels

PROvEd GAS RESERvES 
total 219 trillion cubic feet
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OuR dIffERENTIATEd mOdEL OuR PARTNERS:

01
A company  
rooted in Africa 

04
monetising gas

Afren is an early 
player in the major 
opportunity of 
monetising African gas 
reserves – a position 
we’ve strengthened 
through strategic 
alliances with world-
class energy brands.  

03
Partnerships  
with indigenous 
companies 

02
Solid partnerships 
with African  
governments  
and NOCs

We enjoy excellent 
working partnerships 
with governments and 
national oil companies, 
nurtured through an  
in-depth understanding 
of national goals,  
priorities and local  
business cultures.

Afren’s growth has been driven by four guiding 
and differentiating principles.  These have not 
been focused on ‘quick wins’, but rather on 
creating robust pillars and firmly entrenched 
values on which lasting and measurable results 
can be built.  

In 2008, we saw the rewards of this resilient  
and differentiated model start to materialise.  

Afren’s Key Differentiators 

We understand that partnerships 
thrive through complementary skills 
and qualities.  Afren has forged 
strong bonds with five indigenous 
companies as well as the national 
oil companies of Côte d’Ivoire and 
Ghana.  Together we jointly provide 
the resources, knowledge and 
experience needed to build and 
sustain a long-term and successful 
business that satisfies the objectives 
and requirements of all concerned.
 

All our resources and talents 
are focused exclusively on 
Africa, with African energy 
professionals strongly 
represented both at board 
level and throughout the 
Company.  

PETROCI
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SOS Children’s Village

Our relationship with local African communities is 
all about growing together.  We bring employment 
opportunities and an active programme that 
contributes to healthcare, education and training.  
In turn, our communities bring determination, 
commitment and talent, knowing that when Afren 
succeeds, everyone succeeds.

Afren – Committed to  
African Communities
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Diversity.  A Key to Prosperity 
 Although our interests lie exclusively in Africa, we 
have constructed a diverse base of investments and 
opportunities.  

upstream oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids.   
15 assets.  Six countries. 

Technical operator of all producing and core assets.   
Afren has a carefully configured portfolio designed  
to manage risk and maximise opportunity.

    Local Work 
Country Acquired Wl (%) Operator Partner Programme
 
Côte d’Ivoire 
1.  Block CI-11  Q3 08  47.96%  Afren  PETROCI  
2.  Block CI-01  Q3 08  80.00%(1)  Afren  PETROCI
3.  Lion Gas Plant  Q3 08  100.00%  Afren  PETROCI  
 
Ghana 
4.  Keta  Q4 07  68.00%  Afren  GNPC

dEvELOPmENT ANd ExPLORATION  
SummARY

* Held through AGER joint venture in which Afren holds a 50% interest. 
(1) 65% direct interest and 15% additional rights. 
(2) Share of Profit Oil after cost recovery. 
(3)   Note on the Okoro Setu Project, Afren is the technical service provider to Amni, 

the named operator. On the Ebok Project, Afren is the technical service provider  
to Oriental Energy, the named operator.

(4)  Afren Global Energy Resources.

1

3
2

4

Côte d’Ivoire

Ghana

Production Exploration Appraisal / 
Planned  
developmentUnder review

Technical  
evaluation 
agreement 

15

14

13

Gabon

Congo

    Local Work 
Country Acquired Wl (%) Operator Partner Programme
 
Gabon 
13. Iris Marin  Q2 05  16.67% Addax
    Petroleum  
14. Ibekelia  Q2 05  20.00%  Sterling   
    Energy 
 
Congo (brazzaville) 
15. La Noumbi  Q2 06  14.00%  Maurel    
    et Prom  

7 11

65

10

8 9

12

Nigeria

   Technical Local Work 
Country Acquired Wl (%) Operator(3) Partner Programme
 
Nigeria 
5. Okoro  Q2 06  50.00%(2) Afren  Amni  
6. Setu  Q2 06  50.00%(2)  Afren  Amni  
7. Ogedeh  Q3 05  50.00%(2)  Afren  Bicta
8. OPL 907  Q1 08  41.00%*  AGER(4) GEC  
9. OPL 917  Q1 08  42.00%*  AGER(4)  GEC
10. Ebok  Q1 08  50.00%(2)  Afren Oriental
11. Ofa Q2 07 32.50%(2) Afren IEL 
 
Nigeria – São Tomé & Príncipe JdZ 
12. Block 1  Q1 05  4.41%  Chevron   
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Afren’s portfolio expansion has been 
both diverse and rapid.  Since 2004, we 
have expanded our African footprint to 
15 assets in six African countries.

Côte d’Ivoire

São Tomé  
& Príncipe 

Gabon

Congo

Ghana

Nigeria
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“ following the achievement of first Oil in 
2008, we enjoyed exceptional success in the 
appraisal drilling of the Ebok field in Nigeria.  
Independent and management estimates 
project a material 41-52 mmbbls development, 
with upside to 106 mmbbls.  Through a  
fast-track early production system, we could 
see 15-25,000 bopd by early 2010, rising to  
35-50,000 bopd by year end.” 

 Osman Shahenshah, Chief Executive 

Transocean Trident IV jack-up rig
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Consistent delivery on a Clear  
and differentiated strategy 
The year 2008 represented a milestone in 
the history of Afren.  It was a year in which 
operational delivery and expansion was 
the dominant theme: First Oil was achieved 
at the Okoro Setu Project in Nigeria; we 
acquired Devon Energy’s assets in Côte 
d’Ivoire and Ghana; and we completed the 
farm-in and (post period end) successful 
appraisal of the Ebok field in Nigeria.   
Our ability to deliver consistently against  
a clear and differentiated strategy positions 
Afren as the leading pure-play African 
independent E&P company and a partner  
of choice.

  an established pure-play african producer.   
2008 saw the Company establish itself 
as a significant producer in two African 
countries.  In Nigeria, the Okoro Setu 
Project came onstream during June.  This 
was augmented by additional production 
from Côte d’Ivoire in September, providing 
a diversified and balanced production base.

  
   Material development opportunity to 
position afren at the upper end of london 
listed oil producers.   
The exceptional results from the Ebok 
appraisal drilling in Nigeria, ahead  
of pre-drill expectations, confirmed a 
material 52 mmbbls oil development with 
upside potential to 106 mmbbls.  This is 
expected to contribute up to 50,000 bopd 
of production by the end of 2010.  With 
a visible exit production rate of up to 
65,000 boepd by end 2010, this will rank 
Afren firmly towards the top end of the 
London quoted established independent 
producers.  

  a track record of delivery and operational 
achievement.  

  Afren operated a total of nine 
development, exploration and appraisal 
wells in 2008 and participated in two 
further exploration wells on a non-
operated basis.  Afren today operates 
comfortably in excess of 26,000 boepd 
of upstream oil and gas production and 
midstream NGL production.  During 
2008 we significantly strengthened our 
technical expertise, with the appointment 
of Shahid Ullah as Chief Operating Officer 
and a multi-disciplinary technical team 
of nine professionals from Randall and 
Dewey.  These additions complement and 
significantly expand our operational and 
technical resources as we seek to enter the 
next phase of growth and development.

    access to strategic financing.  
  Against a difficult economic backdrop 

and a challenging macro environment, 
we continued to successfully secure 
access to capital.  During 2008 we raised 
approximately US$450 million through 
a combination of debt, equity and loan 
notes.        

     Partnerships remain core to our business.  
  Afren enjoys active partnerships with five 

indigenous companies in Nigeria and the 
national oil companies of Côte d’Ivoire and 
Ghana.  An important strategic partnership 
established in 2008 is that with Sojitz 
Corporation (Sojitz), whereby Afren and 
Sojitz will jointly pursue acquisitions of 
scale in Africa.  The agreement runs for an 
initial period of three years from signing, 
or until Sojitz has invested US$500 million 
in joint acquisitions.  Our joint interests 
were further aligned when we agreed 
to a US$45 million investment by Sojitz 
in Afren, in the form of loan notes at a 
coupon of LIBOR +2%.

egbert iMoMoh 
Chairman and Founder

osMan shahenshah
Chief Executive and Founder

Chairman and Chief  
executive’s statement 

“ 2008 saw the company establish itself 
as a significant producer in two african 
countries.” 
Egbert Imomoh, Chairman



Afren plc | Annual Report and Accounts 200812 Afren plc | Annual Report and Accounts 200812

  gas monetisation.  
  We continue to see gas as a major 

opportunity and gas monetisation remains 
at the core of our long-term strategy.  We 
signed co-operation agreements in 2008 
with E.ON Ruhrgas AG and African LNG 
Holdings Limited to develop, collect and 
monetise gas for domestic and export 
purposes in Nigeria.  In a similar vein, we 
signed a Memorandum of Understanding 
with Electricité de France (EDF) to examine 
establishing a gas aggregation joint venture 
across certain identified West African 
countries.  Having signed Production 
Sharing Contracts for two licences in the  
gas rich Anambra Basin during March 
2008, we are continuing to grow a rapidly 
expanding gas asset portfolio.

  financial results.  
  Total annual production of 1.3 million 

boe generated US$42.5 million revenue 
net of royalties.  Delays in establishing the 
Terminal Establishment Order at the Okoro 
field resulted in the first lifting occurring 
in October 2008, significantly reducing 
the production during the period.  The 
Company made a pre tax loss of US$56.0 
million for the year (2007: US$39.0 million).  
Cash reserves across the Group at the year 
end amounted to US$117.7 million, subject 
to short-term restrictions in Nigeria and 
Ghana.  Having drawn down the majority 
of the Okoro facility, total debt at the year 
end amounted to US$405.2 million.  Of 
this, it is expected that around US$111.2 
million will be repayable during 2009 
(US$25.1 million has already been repaid 
post period end).

In 2007, Afren put in place the drilling 
capability, financing structure, development 
plan and the production capacity for 
the Okoro Setu Project.  2008 saw our 
team bring that good work to fruition, 
delivering the project efficiently and 
to the highest operational and safety 
standards.  Dedication, hard work and 
operational expertise have paid dividends: 
the field is now outperforming our internal 
expectations by 47%.  With additional 
production from our assets in Côte d’Ivoire 
and development planning under way at 
Ebok and CI-01, the Company has significant 
visible production growth of up to 65,000 
boepd from its existing asset base alone by 
end 2010.

Such tremendous progress and growth, 
in the space of just four years since IPO, is 
testament to our ability to operate across all 
disciplines and deliver consistently against  
a focused and differentiated strategy.

resPonding to the CUrrent 
environMent
Following the considerable momentum 
gained by the Company throughout 2008, 
our focus is to maintain our growth in 
2009 and beyond.  This follows a year of 
unprecedented volatility, when oil prices 
reached record highs before falling by 
approximately 80% in the six months from 
July to December 2008.  Looking ahead, oil 
prices in the short-term will be driven by  
a number of key factors, including demand 
for oil, OPEC behaviour and the state of the 
global economy (and, in particular, that of 
the credit markets).

In response to this challenging set of 
circumstances we are actively seeking to 
reduce Afren’s cost base by driving greater 
efficiencies across all operating activities 
and all parts of the business.  In a highly 
competitive climate, we will maximise 
opportunities to drive down our production 
and development costs, ensuring robust 
margins.

Although we have made appropriate plans 
to address near-term oil price weakness  
and increased volatility, we observe that the 
medium-term prospects are nevertheless 
strong.  Our confidence in the future and 
the potential for future growth remains 
undiminished, despite the current turbulence 
in the global economy.  As we maintain 
our successful investment in the existing 
portfolio, we will also continue to grow 
the Company opportunistically, and on 
a selective basis that remains true to our 
founding strategy.
 

afriCa: a World Class oPPortUnity set
Africa remains the fastest-growing global 
resource base; indeed, reserves there 
have doubled over the last two decades.  
Currently, 15% of oil and gas supplied to  
the US originates from West Africa, and  
this is projected to rise to 30% over the  
next decade.  

The Nigerian Government has set ambitious 
targets for realising value from its significant 
energy resources, and is looking to more 
than double production from 2.1 million to  
5 million barrels per day.  These aggressive 
targets continue to bring undeveloped  
assets into sharp focus, with most still  
owned by the major international oil 
companies.  We continue to see evidence  
of an emerging secondary market, similar  
to that previously seen in the North Sea and  
the Gulf of Mexico.  Additionally, acreage  
is being increasingly awarded to indigenous 
companies who, in turn, are looking  
to partner with independents who can  
offer a combination of technical expertise 
and / or financial resources.  This presents  
a compelling opportunity for Afren to  
make a significant contribution to Nigeria’s 
production ambitions, through our 
partnership approach.  With our credentials 
in Africa now well established, Afren is a 
more attractive partner than ever before.

Key Partner relationshiPs
At the heart of Afren’s growing success is our 
continuing ability to attract partners of the 
highest calibre, whether they be indigenous 
companies, national oil companies, or major 
utility and oil and gas companies.  In 2008, 
we were delighted to form the following 
key partnerships:

afren and sojitz Corporation:  
strategic alliance
In October 2008, we announced a strategic 
alliance with Sojitz to pursue significant 
acquisition opportunities in Africa.  This 
alliance is highly complementary: it brings 
together Sojitz’s financial strength and desire 
to expand its access to strategic African 
oil and gas reserves and production, with 
Afren’s unparalleled access to opportunities 
in the region.

Chairman and Chief  
executive’s statement 
continued

at the heart of afren’s growing success 
continues to be our ability to attract 
partners of the highest calibre, whether 
they be indigenous partners, national oil 
companies, or major utility and oil and  
gas companies.
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Afren in action:  
first oil from okoro setu  

First Oil is always a landmark event, 
and 10 June 2008 marked the day  
that Afren became a ‘producer’. 

We successfully drilled and completed 
two production wells, and connected 
them via a well-head platform and 
sub-sea flowlines to the floating 
production storage and offtake (FPSO) 
vessel, the Armada Perkasa.  Initial 
production commenced at more than 
3,000 bopd per well of 27° API gravity 
oil, in line with expectations.

A further five production wells were 
drilled and brought onstream and 
production was steadily ramped up 
during the remainder of 2008.  By 
year end Okoro Setu had produced 
1.2 mmbbls.  The field exited 2008 
producing at rates of approximately 
22,000 bopd, representing an 
outperformance of 47% on  
pre-development expectations.  

Indigenous Partners and  
Local Workers

At the heart of the success of Okoro Setu 
has been a sound partnership; this joint 
venture brought Afren together with 
indigenous partner AMNI International.  
Osman Shahenshah, CEO of Afren, 
comments: “It is a testament to the 
strength of this relationship that the 
entire timeline – from agreement and 
approvals to drilling and production – 
was achieved in just two years.” 

This success is very much an African 
one.  As well as working with local 
partners, Afren recruited local people 
both to crew the FPSO and to work 
on drilling operations.  Our Okoro 
Community Development policy has 
been instrumental in nurturing skills, 
as well as contributing to finance, 
health and infrastructure projects.  

Armada Perkasa FPSO



Chairman and Chief  
executive’s statement 
continued

Under the agreement, and as appropriate, 
Sojitz will provide financial support to the 
alliance for the purpose of funding material 
joint acquisitions.  This will include, among 
other sources, investment and credit support 
from Japanese governmental funds.  The 
strategic alliance will run for an initial period 
of three years from the signing date, or until 
Sojitz has invested a total of US$500 million 
in joint acquisitions.  
 
The alliance was further strengthened 
through a direct investment by Sojitz in 
Afren.  The initial US$45 million nominal 
value was made in the form of loan notes.

As part of the agreement, the parties   
established a joint working group and we 
welcomed Hiroshi Kanematsu to Afren’s 
International Advisory Board.  Mr Kanematsu 
is President of the Energy & Mineral 
Resources Division at Sojitz Corporation and 
Senior Managing Executive Officer of Sojitz.  
He brings a wealth of experience, having 
been involved in international energy and 
mining projects for over 25 years.

afren and PetroCi: strategic entry into  
Côte d’ivoire
In September 2008, we completed the 
acquisition of Devon Energy’s interests in 
Côte d’Ivoire.  This comprised a 47.96% 
working interest and operatorship of the 
producing Block CI-11; a direct 65% interest 
and operatorship (with rights over an 
additional 15% interest) in the undeveloped 
Block CI-01; and a 100% interest in the 
onshore Lion Gas Plant.  

This offered a clear strategic fit with Afren’s 
existing portfolio.  The Company has 
acquired both a fully functioning business in 
Côte d’Ivoire, with around 100 experienced 
staff, and established a strategic partnership 
with PETROCI (the national oil company 
of Côte d’Ivoire).  The acquisition offers 
a combination of production, near-term 
development, appraisal and exploration 
upside, as well as midstream interests and  
a full local workforce.

afren, electricité de france (edf)  
and gasol plc
In September 2008, we signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
with EDF and Gasol plc (Gasol).  Our shared 
objective is to explore a gas aggregation 
joint venture to identify and develop 
stranded gas assets in specific West African 
countries.

afren and oriental energy limited
In April 2008, Afren signed a Farm-In 
Agreement with Oriental Energy Resources,  
a leading Nigerian-based international oil and 
gas company active across the Gulf of Guinea.  
The Joint Venture was formed in order to 
appraise and develop the Ebok field.   

Ebok is an undeveloped oil field, 50km 
offshore in 135ft of water in Nigeria’s prolific 
south-eastern producing area.  The field is 
located close to several producing NNPC /  
Mobil JV fields and 55km south-east of 
Mobil’s onshore QIT Terminal.  The field was 
discovered by the NNPC / Mobil JV in 1968 
(M-QQ1 (Ebok-1)), and two subsequent 
appraisal wells were drilled in 1970 (Ebok-2 
and Ebok-3) leading to a P50 STOIIP estimate 
of 118 mmbbls at the time.

As we look beyond First Oil, collaboration 
forms an integral part of our growth 
strategy as we continue to expand our 
portfolio through developing other 
potential assets from the Majors in Nigeria.  
In addition to the unique Joint Venture with 
Oriental, we are proud to have attracted 
other indigenous partners such as Amni 
International Petroleum Development 
Company, Global Energy Company Limited, 
Bicta Energy and Independent Energy 
Limited.  

oPerations UPdate
near-term development and  
production expectation

nigeria
Ebok
Ebok-4, drilled by the Transocean Trident  
IV jack-up drilling unit, was spudded on  
24 November 2008.  The well reached  
a total depth of 3,838ft measured depth 
(md) on 17 December 2008.  

The well encountered a total gross oil 
column of 284ft in high-quality reservoir 
sands ranging in depth from 2,560ft  
to 3,718ft.  Of these gross pay intervals,  
274ft is calculated as net oil pay.  After  
an extensive logging and sampling 
programme, drill stem testing delivered  
a rate of 1,450 bopd of 20° to 25° API crude 
oil.  Well test analysis indicates that high  
skin conditions, which restricts oil flow  
into the well bore, were prevailing over  
the test interval and as such constrained 
the surface flow rates.  Well test analysis 
and dynamic reservoir simulation modelling 
confirms that flow rates of circa 3,500 bopd 
per well in a production scenario will be 
achieved which is also consistent with  
offset production data from analogous  
fields in the area.  

An independent assessment of the in-place 
oil and recoverable oil reserves from the 
Ebok field by Netherland Sewell & Associates 
Inc. (NSAI), post drilling of the Ebok-4 
appraisal well, has preliminarily confirmed 
a P50 STOIIP of 148 mmbbls oil for the FB-1 
and FB-2 areas of the field.  Recoverable 
reserves have been calculated at 41.2 mmbbls 
oil.  NSAI has further assigned 14 mmbbls oil 
of resources to the FB-1 and FB-2 field area.

An additional 21 mmbbls oil of contingent 
reserves and 33 mmbbls prospective 
resources have been assigned to other areas 
of the field including the Ebok West and 
Ebok North Fault Blocks.

Afren’s Management Case comprises a STOIIP 
of 178 mmbbls with recoverable reserves 
of 52 mmbbls for the FB-1 and FB-2 on 
Ebok, recognising amplitude conformance 
indicating oil in the D2 reservoir extending 
further south as a most likely scenario.

Successful appraisal of the Ebok West Fault 
Block and Northern area closures, as well as 
down flank potential in the FB-1 / FB-2 areas 
during the initial development phase of the 
field, is expected to lead to increased field 
production and a potential reserves upgrade 
in line with the resource assessment outlined 
by NSAI.
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Based on these results, which were 
considerably better than expected, and the 
upgrade to the resource-base established 
with the Ebok-4 well, it was decided that the 
Ebok-5 well (designated to test the Ebok West 
Fault Block) would be deferred and drilled as 
part of the phased development.

The Field Development Plan includes the 
potential to install an early production system 
(EPS) at the field (subject to all necessary 
approvals) that could deliver production of 
15,000-25,000 bopd in early 2010.  This would 
come from five or more horizontal production 
wells and one water injection well drilled 
in the FB-1 and FB-2 areas of the field and 
tied back to a Floating Production Storage 
Offloading (FPSO) vessel moored at the field.  
A second development phase on the FB-1 and 
FB-2 area of the field would entail drilling a 
further eight or more development wells and 
increase full field production to 35,000-50,000 
bopd by end 2010.  

Okoro Setu
In June 2008 the Okoro Setu field, Afren’s 
first operated full field development, came 
onstream.  This represented a lead-time of 
just two years from farm-in to First Oil.   

Seven horizontal production wells were 
successfully drilled, completed and 
connected via a well-head platform and 
sub-sea flowlines to the Armada Perkasa 
FPSO.  The vessel, which is operated by  
Bumi Armada, arrived on location in March 
2008 and was spread-moored and made 
ready to receive oil from the Okoro field.  
Operating under a five-year contract,  
the vessel has an oil storage capacity of 
360,000 barrels and a processing capacity 
of up to 27,000 barrels of liquids a day.  
Her crew is made up mainly of Nigerian 
nationals, many of whom are from the  
local onshore community close to the  
Okoro Setu fields.
 
Production from the field was steadily 
ramped up through Q3 and Q4 2008 to 
deliver a stable production rate of circa 
22,000 bopd with no water.  This represents 
an outperformance of around 47% against 
pre-development expectations, and the 
process uptime is currently running at 99%.

Côte d’ivoire
Block CI-11
The Lion and Panthère fields have been 
developed via a Mobile Offshore Production 
Platform (MOPP) and four tethered caissons.  
Oil and gas is piped to Abidjan; the oil is 
sold on the open market, while the gas is 
processed at the Lion Gas Plant and sold 
under two long-term contracts to domestic 
end users.  Afren’s partners in the block are 
PETROCI (20.14%), International Finance 
Corporation (18.94%) and SK Energy Co  
Ltd (12.96%).

Production at Block CI-11 remains stable at 
rates of up to 38 mmcfd gas and 1,600 bopd 
oil.  Gas is sold to the local market where it  
is used for power generation, and oil is sold 
on the international market.

A significant subsurface production 
optimisation and maintenance programme 
is currently under way on Block CI-11.  
The objective is to deliver incremental 
production safely from the existing well base 
via wireline workovers, while establishing 
the potential for a heavy workover / infill 
drilling programme in 2010.

Lion Gas Plant
The Lion Gas Plant (LGP) was constructed by 
Ocean Energy in 1998 to improve margins  
by extracting and selling high-value natural 
gas liquids (NGLs) from gas produced at 
Block CI-11.  Gas production from adjacent 
Blocks CI-26 and CI-40, operated by Canadian 
Natural Resources Limited (CNRL), was  
added to the process stream, providing  
third party tariff revenue from the use 
of the Block CI-11 pipeline infrastructure,  
and additional gasoline and butane sales  
revenue at the LGP.

The LGP has a total inlet capacity of 75 
mmcfd, and strips out gasoline and butane 
from the rich gas stream it receives, 
delivering dry gas to the power sector.  
Butane is sold into the local market, while 
the gasoline is sold on the international 
market.  The LGP enjoys tax-exempt status, 
providing high cash margins and attractive 
plant economics to Afren.  Current NGL 
production at the 100% Afren owned and 
operated LGP is averaging circa 1,200 boepd.

Afren also intends to investigate the 
feasibility of extracting propane at the 
LGP, which could be used to meet domestic 
demand from the industrial sector in  
Côte d’Ivoire.

Block CI-01
Block CI-01 was awarded to United Meridian 
Corporation in 1994, and is located offshore 
in the easternmost part of Côte d’Ivoire, 
adjacent to the international border 
with Ghana.  It extends from near the 
shoreline to 1,900m water depth and is 
located approximately 52km from Abidjan.  
Three separate significant hydrocarbon 
accumulations were discovered by 
exploration drilling in the late 1970s, and 
through to the mid-1980s, by Esso and Agip.  
Afren’s partners in the block are PETROCI 
(20%) and SK Energy Co Ltd. (15%).

Preparatory work is under way on Block 
CI-01 to evaluate options to develop the 
gas and oil reserves already defined on the 
block.  The proposed concept is to develop 
the Kudu, Eland and Ibex fields with gas tied 
back via pipeline to the onshore Lion Gas 
Plant, where it will be treated and supplied 
to the local market.  Produced oil will be sold 
on the international market.

exploration
Afren participated in two exploration wells 
in 2008, one as a deepwater operator, 
drilling the Cuda prospect on the Keta Block 
in Ghana and also participating (on a non-
operated basis) in the ICM-1 well on the Iris 
Marin permit, offshore Gabon.  Additionally, 
the THAM-1 well on Themis Marin, also 
offshore Gabon, was spudded in 2007 and 
was completed in early January 2008.



ghana
Keta Block 
In May 2008, Afren signed an agreement to 
acquire a 88% operated interest in the Keta 
Block, located offshore eastern Ghana in the 
Volta River Basin.  The block covers a total 
area of 5,500km2.  The block is covered by 
1,600km2 of good quality 3D seismic data 
with the remainder of the block covered by 
proprietary and non-proprietary 2D seismic.

Afren successfully farmed out a portion of 
its interest in the block to Mitsui E&P Ghana 
Keta Limited (Mitsui), a subsidiary of Mitsui 
& Co. Ltd, in exchange for an agreed carry 
on exploration activities.  Afren now holds  
a 68% operated interest.

The Cuda-1x exploration well, drilled 
by the Transocean Deepwater Discovery 
drillship, was spudded in November 2008.  
The well was targeting a Cretaceous 
structure expected to contain 325 mmbbls 
of mean prospective resources in a setting 
comparable to those successfully proven by 
the recent Jubilee and Odum discoveries in 
the country.  Unfortunately, operations were 
terminated due to abnormally high pressures 
that were encountered at the top of the 
Upper Cretaceous.  The primary objective 
of the well remains untested and is still 
considered highly prospective.

A full technical evaluation, incorporating 
the results of the Cuda-1x well, is ongoing 
and will be incorporated in further prospect 
evaluation and future well planning on the 
Keta Block.

Congo
La Noumbi
Afren holds a 14% interest in this high-
impact exploration licence, with multiple 
reservoir targets covering an area of 2,830km2.  
Ongoing technical work has identified 
several attractive prospects mapped at 
several stratigraphic levels.  The joint venture 
plans to drill the ‘Tie-Tie Updip’ exploration 
well in the first half of 2009.

gabon
Themis Marin
The last remaining commitment well, 
THAM-1 was spudded on 30 December 
2007 and drilled to a total depth of 4,362ft.  
The reservoir target was encountered low 
to prognosis, with limited hydrocarbon 
shows, and was subsequently plugged and 
abandoned.  The licence period on Themis 
Marin expired in March 2008, and the 
partners have since relinquished the block.

gabon
Iris Marin
Afren holds a 16.67% non-operated  
interest in the Iris Marin permit.  The  
Charlie prospect was drilled in May 2008 by 
operator Addax and was estimated to have 
gross prospective resources of 35 mmbbls.   
The well intersected high-quality Gamba 
sands but failed to find a valid sub-salt 
structure to trap hydrocarbons.  The well  
was subsequently plugged and abandoned.  

gabon
Ibekelia
Located adjacent to the Iris Marin permit, 
Afren and its co-venture partners are 
currently negotiating an Exploration and 
Production Sharing Contract with the 
Gabonese authorities for the Ibekelia licence.  

nigeria
OPL 907 and OPL 917
The two licences in the Anambra Basin cover 
an area totalling over 3,500km2 and contain 
existing gas discoveries that require further 
appraisal.  A number of additional leads and 
prospects have been identified.  Currently, 
the consortium is collecting and assessing the 
existing extensive 2D seismic coverage on the 
blocks with a view to reprocessing it in order 
to better define the existing discoveries.  
Afren also plans to augment this data with  
a further seismic acquisition programme.

JDZ Block 1
Further drilling on Block 1 is expected.  
This will follow drilling of the adjacent 
exploration wells Blocks 2, 3 and 4 which  
is anticipated to commence in 2009, subject  
to rig availability.

nigeria
Marginal fields
Given the increasing scale of our near-term 
developments (for example, Ebok), Afren  
is reviewing its options with respect to  
the marginal fields.  In relation to Ogedeh, 
a series of standalone and clustered 
development scenarios with various export 
solutions have been investigated, to optimise 
the project from both a technical and 
economic perspective.  A cluster development 
is considered to be the most likely approach, 
after appraisal drilling, to define the potential 
reserve base on the field.  

angola
Block 16
The Company opted not to complete the 
acquisition of a 15% working interest in 
Block 16 from Devon Energy.  The net 
financial exposure to Afren had significantly 
increased from the time of announcing  
the transaction in November 2007.   
Given current market conditions and the 
Company’s focus on production, near-term 
development and high-impact exploration 
prospects, we felt that this was the most 
prudent approach.

risKs and resPonsibilities 
Afren has made a commitment to perform 
responsibly and positively towards its staff 
and contractors, the physical environments 
and the host communities that its business 
may affect.  

The year 2008 saw the transformation of 
Afren into a producing upstream company 
with the successful start-up of the Okoro 
Setu Project and the acquisition of Devon 
Energy’s assets in Côte d’Ivoire.  Hand in 
hand with this transition we have been 
strengthening our environmental, health, 
safety and social (EHSS) programmes in 
Nigeria and Côte d’Ivoire to meet the  
needs of long-term production operations.
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Afren in action:  
entry into Côte d’ivoire

Our organic growth in 2008 was 
complemented by key acquisitions that 
offered a compelling strategic fit.  

In September, we completed 
the acquisition of Devon Energy 
Corporation’s oil and gas interests in 
Côte d’Ivoire.  The acquisition gave 
Afren a fully functioning, integrated 
upstream oil, gas and midstream 
business with high-quality assets and 
around 100 experienced staff.  Pivotal 
to the success of the acquisition is a 
strategic alliance with PETROCI, the 
national oil company of Côte d’Ivoire.  

The deal comprised production (with 
Afren gaining a 47.96% participating 
interest of Block C1-11), development 
upside (with a 65% direct interest in 
Block C1-01, and rights over a further 
15%) and a 100% interest in the 
onshore Lion Gas Plant (LGP).

•  C1-11 production has continued at  
a consistent level, at rates of up to  
38 mmcfd gas and 1,600 bopd oil.  
Since assuming operational control, 
Afren has delivered a 10% increase  
in production.  

•  C1-01 is being assessed, and options 
explored, to develop the discovered 
gas and oil reserves defined on  
the block.  

•  The LGP was constructed in 1998 to 
extract and sell high-value natural gas 
liquids from gas produced by Block  
C1-11.  The plant has tax-exempt 
status, delivering attractive margins 
and plant economics.  

In a single move, Afren successfully 
acquired a unique package of 
existing production, proved reserves, 
development upside and a strategically 
important midstream facility.
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Afren in action:  
sojitz: afren’s Us$500 million  
strategic partner 

Our joint interests have been further 
aligned by Afren agreeing to Sojitz 
investing US$45 million in Afren in the 
form of loan notes.  

Afren’s task now is to identify material 
and strategic assets for the alliance.   
As appropriate, Sojitz will provide 
financial support, including securing  
the participation of government funds 
from Japan.  

Sojitz was formed in 2004, from the 
merger of two century old institutions.   
It operates through 91 global offices  
and has assets of US$27 billion.  At Afren,  
we take great pride in being able to 
attract a partner of such calibre, and  
the ringing endorsement it represents.  

Afren’s growth has been fuelled by 
selecting partners whose qualities 
complement our own in terms of 
knowledge, resources and common 
goals.  So in addition to our five 
indigenous partners in Nigeria, and the 
national oil companies of Côte d’Ivoire 
and Ghana, we were delighted to sign 
a strategic alliance in 2008 with Sojitz 
Corporation.  

Sojitz brings financial strength, as well 
as a strategic objective to expand its 
portfolio of oil and gas reserves and 
production into Africa.  In turn, Afren 
offers unrivalled access to opportunities 
in the region and a wealth of expertise 
across all disciplines.  

The agreement will run for an initial 
period of three years or until Sojitz 
has invested US$500 million in joint 
acquisitions.  

Tokyo skyline
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In Nigeria, we have a full team of EHSS 
professionals charged with supporting the 
Okoro Project in addition to working on our 
exploration assets.  During 2008, the team 
was heavily involved with the Okoro Setu 
development drilling and the installation 
and commissioning of the well-head 
platform, flowlines and the Armada Perkasa 
FPSO.  By the end of 2008 over 800,000 man-
hours had been expended on the project.  
Against this, there were three lost time 
accidents during the year.  These incidents 
were fully investigated with the contractors 
concerned and remedial measures were put 
in place to prevent any recurrence.

On the Ebok appraisal drilling schedule, EHSS 
performance was exemplary with no safety 
or environmental incidents.

The acquisition of the assets in Côte d’Ivoire 
entailed a comprehensive due diligence 
review of operations both offshore on the 
Gulftide Platform and at the Lion Gas Plant.  
This review focused on the integrity of the 
facilities and the management systems  
that are in place to ensure safe operations.  
Since taking control Afren has been working 
closely with the operations team to integrate 
systems and to ensure that our EHSS 
standards are being applied.

The Cuda exploration well in Ghana saw 
Afren’s first operated deep water drilling 
operation and as with the Ebok appraisal 
drilling, EHSS performance was excellent 
with no injuries or environmental incidents.

2008: a transforMational year; 
robUst PlatforM established
Throughout 2008 we have continued on 
the consistent historic growth trajectory, 
demonstrating our competence across all 
disciplines.  We have established ourselves 
as a fully fledged oil and gas operating 
company with production in two countries, 
and one capable of taking an asset through 
the appraisal and development phase to 
monetisation in the space of just two years.  
We will continue to ensure operational 
robustness and improve profitability at 
our existing producing assets and grow 
organically through monetisation of our 
high-grade portfolio of development 
projects, the Ebok field in particular.

Financially, we remain in a relatively  
strong position with a cash balance of 
around US$60 million at the end of March 
with some restrictions in the near-term,  
and will benefit during the course of  
2009 from plateau production at the  
Okoro field in Nigeria and stable revenues  
in Côte d’Ivoire.  Post period end the 
Company successfully raised US$126 million 
through a significantly over-subscribed 
equity offering.  The Company will continue 
to seek opportunities to further increase 
local participation from the growing  
African capital markets base and foster  
key strategic alliances as alternative sources 
of funding.  We are already witnessing 
encouraging signs in our efforts to reduce 
costs and overheads, and will continue to 
focus on strict capital discipline and plan 
appropriately during these turbulent times.

We believe that a platform is now in place, 
providing a robust and resilient basis upon 
which we can look to the future with 
great excitement and optimism.  Having 
established a unique position in Africa 
through our focused and differentiated 
approach, coupled with our entrepreneurial 
culture and strong corporate governance 
principles, we will maximise value through 
indigenous identity and participation.  
We will continue to consolidate asset 
opportunities and, where appropriate,  
to create further shareholder value 
through participating in selective corporate 
consolidation.

It has been an honour to work closely over 
the last few years with Dr Rilwanu Lukman, 
who resigned from the Board in 2008 to 
return to Government service.  We thank 
him for his leadership during the nascent 
phase of Afren and wish him well in his 
future endeavours.

In summary, Afren has established a solid 
foundation and achieved significant growth 
to date.  With a full field development of 
Ebok expected to produce up to 50,000 
bopd by end 2010, Afren has a visible exit 
production rate of up to 65,000 boepd by 
end 2010.  This will firmly rank Afren at the 
top end of the London quoted established 
independent producers and a step closer to 
becoming a Super African Independent.

egbert imomoh 
Chairman and Founder

 
osman shahenshah
Chief Executive and Founder

 in summary, afren has established a solid  
foundation and achieved significant growth  
to date.  2009 will be the year that takes the  
company to a new paradigm…



Afren plc | Annual Report and Accounts 200820

the flagship okoro setu development

1. background
The Okoro Setu Project lies within OML 112
in the eastern part of the offshore Niger
Delta.  OML 112 was awarded to Amni
International Petroleum Development
Company Limited (Amni) in 1993 as part
of the Nigerian Government’s indigenous
licensing programme.  In 2006, Afren entered
into a Production Sharing and Technical
Services Agreement with Amni to further
appraise and develop the Okoro Setu fields
within a defined exclusive area in the
eastern part of the block.  In accordance
with this agreement, Afren has funded
the development costs for the field and
provides technical services to Amni.  Afren
is recovering its costs, plus an additional 
uplift, through production.

2. field technical background
The Okoro field was discovered in 1973 by
Japan Petroleum with the Okoro-1 well.  The
full potential of the field was not recognised
until some complex subsurface velocity
anomalies were resolved.  In 2006, Amni  
and Afren appraised the field in the area  
of the velocity anomalies with the Okoro-3
and Okoro-3 Side Track (ST) wells.  Okoro-3
encountered oil in the Upper Hydrocarbon
Sands, and Okoro-3ST found both the  
Upper and Lower Hydrocarbon Sands to 
be oil bearing.  This well and its sidetrack 
confirmed the potential size and extent of 
the field.  The intersected reservoir sands are 
excellent quality, unconsolidated, delta top 
sands with porosities in the 30% range and 
Darcy range permeabilities.  The Okoro oil 
was found to be approximately 23°-25° API 
with low viscosity and a low GOR.  

The successful outcome of the appraisal wells
allowed Amni and Afren to move forward
with a Field Development Plan (FDP) for  
the Okoro field, which was approved by the 
Nigerian Government in March 2007.  

The Setu field is located 7km north of Okoro
and was discovered by Amni in 2002 with
the Setu East-1 well.  Five oil-bearing zones
were encountered in the Agbada Formation
and all were successfully tested.  Rates above
1,900 bopd were tested from each of the
zones.  90% of the oil in-place volumes in 
the Setu field is located in the 7402 sand 
which makes the tie-back of the relatively 
modest oil volumes easier to undertake.

Afren and Amni estimate combined P50 oil 
reserves for the Upper and Lower Sands in 
the Okoro field of 28.9 mmbbls.

Further analysis of the Setu field has been 
undertaken and revised development 
scenarios are being evaluated.  It is expected 
that production will be focused from the 
7402 sand reservoir where 90% of the field 
reserves are accounted for.

Recoverable reserves at Setu are estimated 
at 4 mmbbls, assuming two of the five zones 
are developed.

review of
operations
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3. field development
The initial Field Development Plan, 
approved by the partners and the Nigerian 
authorities, called for the drilling of five 
horizontal development wells from a well- 
head platform (WHP) location with fluids 
evacuated via an 8” export line to a spread-
moored floating production storage and 
offtake production facility (FPSO).  However, 
ongoing detailed reservoir simulation work 
indicated that significant incremental oil 
volumes could be accessed if a further two 
horizontal production wells were added to 
the programme.  The additional wells were 
approved and due to the efficiency of the 
drilling operations the wells were drilled 
within the existing contract for the Global 
Santa Fe Adriatic VI jack-up drilling rig.  The 
drilling rig arrived in late January 2008 and 
commenced operations shortly afterwards.  
With the sub-sea template installed, the 
rig began operations on the first two wells 
targeting the Lower Hydrocarbon sands.  
Additional data was also acquired to refine 
existing sub-surface uncertainties.

The WHP was installed in May 2008 and
commissioned throughout June, when the 
flowlines connecting it to the FPSO were  
also installed.  Three flowlines were laid
between the WHP and field production  
unit, the FPSO Amada Perkasa.  These 
comprised an 8” export line, a 6” test line 
and a 4” gas-lift line.  First Oil from the first 
two production wells was achieved in June 
2008, with rates in excess of 3,000 bopd 
achieved from each well.  With the batch 
drilling of a further three wells, production 
was ramped up to circa 16,000 bopd, and 
from there to 22,000 bopd with no water 
when the final two production wells were 
hooked up in December 2008.

The Armada Perkasa, operating under a  
five-year contract by Malaysian conglomerate 
Bumi Armada Berhad, was spread-moored 
approximately 800m south-east of the field.  
The 72,000 dwt vessel was built in 1975 as a 
trading tanker and converted for FPSO duty 
10 years ago.  It has an oil storage capacity 
of 360,000 barrels and a processing capacity 
of 27,000 barrels of liquids a day, producing 
stabilised crude for storage inside the vessel.  
Sales of the produced oil are made via export 
tankers which moor up behind the FPSO  
to receive the stabilised crude oil via a 12”
offloading hose.  Two gas-lift compressors
provide a total of 20 mmcfd for gas-lift
activities for the production wells.  Associated 
gas will be used for gas-lift, to aid well 
productivity when the field begins to 
produce water.  

Due to the unconsolidated nature of the
reservoir, sand control screens were used  
in the well completions.  Down hole gauges
were also installed in all wells to allow
careful monitoring of the reservoir pressures
and so optimise the deliverability of the
individual wells.

4. outlook
To date, the production operations have
been running smoothly with optimised field
production being successfully produced to
the FPSO and offloaded to export tankers.
Uptime for the FPSO process is currently
around 99% which is remarkably good for
the initial stages of a new production system.  

In total, gross production at the Okoro  
field during 2008 reached 1.2 mmbbls.  
Field production is currently stable at  
around 22,000 bopd.  This represents a  
circa 47% outperformance against internal
expectations.  Production at current levels  
is expected to plateau by the second half  
of 2009.

Okoro Setu Field
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1. background 
The Ebok field was awarded to Oriental  
(a 100% operated interest) in May 2007 
by the ExxonMobil / Nigerian National 
Petroleum Corporation (NNPC) Joint 
Venture.  In March 2008, Afren signed 
a Farm-In Agreement with Oriental to 
participate in the development of Ebok.  
The farm-out has been structured to ensure 
that the field benefits from the Nigerian 
Marginal Field Fiscal and Tax Regime.

Under the terms of the agreement, Afren 
is responsible for funding all capital and 
operating costs for the development of 
the field, and will recover the costs from 
100% of net field revenues.  Following cost 
recovery, the ExxonMobil / NNPC JV will 
receive a Net Profit Interest, with Afren 
and Oriental sharing net revenues equally.  
Further to the Ebok farm-in, Afren has 
entered into a collaboration agreement 
with Oriental to pursue other potential 
development assets in the region.

2. field technical background
Ebok is an undeveloped oil field located in 
OML 67, 50km offshore in 135ft of water  
in Nigeria’s prolific south-eastern producing 
area.  The field was discovered by the 
ExxonMobil / NNPC JV in 1968 (M-QQ1  
(Ebok-1)), and two subsequent appraisal  
wells were drilled in 1970 (Ebok-2 and  
Ebok-3).  A total of 271ft (83m) of net oil 
pay was encountered in Ebok-1 in four sands 
between 2,600ft (800m) and 3,600ft (1,100m).  
Although the zones were not production 
tested, 24 degree API oil was recovered 
from the Ebok-1 well.  The Ebok area is also 
covered with good quality 3D seismic data 
from 1992 to complement the extensive data 
set available from the wells drilled to date.  

Ebok is also located close to several  
ExxonMobil / NNPC JV producing fields and  
is 55km south-east of ExxonMobil’s onshore 
QIT Terminal.  The estimated STOIIP on the 
field (pre Q4 2008 appraisal drilling) was 
77-167 mmbbls with a mean of 118 mmbbls.

Nigeria

NIGERIA – EBOk

review of operations 
continued
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3. operations Update
Ebok-4, drilled by the Transocean Trident
IV jack-up drilling unit, was spudded on  
24 November 2008.  The well reached  
a measured depth (md) of 3,838ft on  
17 December 2008.

The well encountered a total gross oil
column of 284ft in high-quality reservoir
sands ranging in depth from 2,560ft  
to 3,718ft.  Of these gross pay intervals,
274ft is calculated as net oil pay.  After  
an extensive logging and sampling 
programme, drill stem testing delivered a 
rate of 1,450 bopd of 20° to 25° API crude 
oil.  Well test analysis indicates that high 
skin conditions, which restrict oil flow into 
the well bore, were prevailing over the 
test interval and as such constrained the 
surface flow rates.  Well test analysis and 
dynamic reservoir simulation modelling 
confirms that flow rates of circa 3,500 
bopd per well in a production scenario  
will be achieved.  This is also consistent 
with offset production data from 
analogous fields in the area.  

An independent assessment by NSAI  
of the in-place oil and recoverable oil 
reserves from the Ebok field, post drilling 
of the Ebok-4 appraisal well, has initially 
confirmed a P50 STOIIP of 148 mmbbls  
oil for the FB-1 and FB-2 areas of the  
field.  Recoverable P50 reserves have been 
calculated at 41.2 mmbbls oil.  NSAI has 
further assigned 14 mmbbls oil of resources 
to the FB-1 and FB-2 field area.

An additional 21 mmbbls oil of contingent
reserves and 33 mmbbls prospective
resources have been assigned to other 
areas of the field including the Ebok West 
and Ebok North Fault Blocks.  

Afren’s Management Case comprises  
a STOIIP of 178 mmbbls with recoverable 
P50 reserves of 52 mmbbls for the  
FB-1 and FB-2 areas on Ebok, recognising 
amplitude conformance indicating oil in 
the D2 reservoir extending further south  
as a most likely scenario.

Successful appraisal of the Ebok West fault
block and Northern area closures, together 
with down flank potential in the FB-1 /
FB-2 areas during the initial development
phase of the field is expected to lead to
increased field production and a potential
reserves upgrade in line with the resource
assessment outlined by NSAI.  

Based on these substantially better than 
expected results, and the upgrade to the 
resource base established with the Ebok-4 
well, it was decided that the Ebok-5 well 
(designated to test the Ebok West Fault
Block) would be deferred and drilled as
part of the phased development.

4. field development Plan and outlook
Afren and its partner Oriental are 
currently defining the field development 
scenario which includes the potential 
to install an early production system 
(EPS) at the field (subject to all necessary 
approvals).  This could deliver production 
of 15,000-25,000 bopd from the field in 
early 2010 from five or more horizontal 
production wells, and one water injection 
well drilled in the FB-1 and FB-2 areas 
of the field and tied back to a floating 
production storage offloading (FPSO) 
vessel moored at the field.  A second 
development phase on the FB-1 and FB-2 
areas of the field would entail drilling  
a further eight or more development  
wells and increase full field production  
to between 35,000 to 50,000 bopd by  
end 2010.
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1. background
In August 2005, Afren signed a Financing
and Production Sharing Agreement with
Bicta Energy and Management System
Ltd (Bicta) for the development of the
Ogedeh field.  The field was awarded to
Bicta as part of the 2003 Nigerian Marginal
Field licensing round.  Ogedeh is situated
in OML 90 in the shallow waters of the
Western Niger Delta.  Under the terms  
of the agreement, Afren will recover 
costs preferentially, with an uplift, from 
oil production revenue until payback is 
achieved.  Thereafter, profit oil will be 
shared between Afren and Bicta.

2. field technical background
The Ogedeh-1 discovery well was drilled
in 1993 by Chevron; oil and gas were
discovered in two separate sandstones in the
Agbada formation at depths between 5,500
and 9,000ft.  The field is covered by good 
quality 3D data.  A full technical evaluation
of the existing data has been carried out
by Afren, resulting in gross contingent
resources for the field ranging from
5-15 mmbbls oil.  Additional exploration
potential is recognised at several shallow
levels and will be tested by the first
appraisal / development well.  This could  
add an additional 5-10 mmbbls of resources.

3. field development Plan and outlook
Several development options have been
reviewed in conjunction with the owners
of the other marginal fields in OML 90,
Ajapa and Akepo.  A cluster development
is currently the favoured concept.

Nigeria

NIGERIA – OGEDEH

review of operations 
continued
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Nigeria

NIGERIA – ANAMBRA BASIN

in Pursuit of our gas Monetisation strategy
Blocks OPL 907 and 917, located in the 
Anambra Basin, onshore northern Nigeria, 
were awarded to Afren in March 2008. 
Sporadic but successful exploration activity has 
occurred in the basin from the 1950s to the 
1980s.  Six discoveries were made from a total 
of 30 exploration wells, drilled without the 
benefit of modern seismic data techniques.

The discoveries made were predominantly 
gas and were not followed up due to the lack 
of a gas market.  The basin is considered to 
have potential gas resources in excess of 5 tcf.  
Recent initiatives launched by the Nigerian 
Government to develop the country’s gas 
resources have now made the Anambra Basin 
an attractive commercial proposition.

Afren holds the interest in the licences 
through a Joint Venture (JV) with Global 
Energy Company Limited of Nigeria.  The JV 
partnership, Afren Global Energy Resources 
(AGER), holds a 41% interest in OPL 907 
and a 42% interest in OPL 917, and will 
act as operator for both assets.  The other 
JV participants on OPLs 907 and 917 are as 
provided below: 

oPl 907 
Buston Energy Resources Limited 25%
Allenne Exploration &  14% 
Production Limited 
VP Energy Limited 3%
De Atai Oil Services  
International Limited 2%
Kaztec Engineering Limited 5%
Bepta Oil & Gas Limited 10%

oPl 917 
VP Energy Limited  17%
Petrolog Oil & Gas Limited  18%
De Atai Oil Services  10% 
International Limited 
Goland Petroleum Development  13% 
Company Limited 

oPl 907 and oPl 917
The OPL 907 licence covers 1,462km2 and 
contains the Akukwa gas and condensate 
discovery which was made by Shell / BP in 
1955.  A second well was drilled in 1956 
which encountered over 500ft net gas pay  
in Cretaceous sandstones.

The OPL 917 licence covers 2,284km2  
and contains the Igbariam discovery.  The 
Igbariam-1 well was drilled by Shell / BP in
1971, with gas and condensate discovered in
Cretaceous sandstones.  A total of over 200ft 
of net hydrocarbon pay was encountered
but the well was not tested.

outlook
Currently, the JV partnership has sourced
the existing seismic database on the blocks
and, after a competitive tender process, has
commenced reprocessing the seismic data
to take advantage of the improvement in
technology that exists since the data was
originally acquired.  The re-interpretation
of the reprocessed data set will be used to
guide further seismic acquisition or target
areas where drilling could be considered.
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1. background
In May 2007, Afren entered into a Farm-In 
Agreement with Independent Energy Limited 
(IEL) for the appraisal and development of 
the Ofa field.  Ofa was awarded to IEL as 
part of the 2003 Marginal Field round and is 
located in OML 30 onshore in the northern 
Niger Delta.

2. field technical background
The field was discovered by Shell with the
Ofa-1 well in 1970; up to eight potential
oil-bearing zones were encountered.
Shell completed the well in the deepest
zone (N4000) in 1979 and unsuccessfully
attempted to flow the well under natural
depletion.  The lack of flow was believed to
be due to the heavy nature of the crude oil.
An independent assessment by Gaffney  
Cline & Associates in 2006 estimated that  
the combined oil in-place for the Ofa field 
could be up to 150 mmbbl.

In 2007, Afren and IEL carried out a test
programme on three of the eight potential
oil zones using a hydraulic workover rig.
An electric submersible pump (ESP) was used
to supplement any natural flow in order to
determine if commercial flow rates could
be achieved.

The lowermost zone (N4000) initially
produced oil at rates up to circa 1,000 bopd
but production was not sustained due to
production of water.  A second test of  
the N1000 / M8800 zones was undertaken
but despite initial minor oil production,
the zones only produced formation water.

3. outlook
Afren has decided not to proceed with 
development at present, but will assess 
the potential for other field development 
options with its partner IEL.

Nigeria

NIGERIA – OFA

review of operations 
continued
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Lion A-3 well. In 1996 a new oil reservoir 
in the Foxtrot section was found by the 
Lion A-4ST and a new oil reservoir in the 
Cenomanian was found by the Lion B-4 ST.  
First production was established in 1995.

The Panthère gas field was originally 
discovered and delineated by Phillips  
in 1982, with the drilling of the B1-5X,  
B1-9X and B1-10X wells.  The field was not 
developed at that time due to gas market 
constraints.  Delineation of the field for 
commercial development began with the 
drilling of the Panthère C-1 well by United 
Meridian Corporation (UMC) in 1993.  
UMC subsequently drilled the C-2, D-1  
and D1A wells.

The Panthère field commenced production 
in November 1995.

Gross P50 reserves for Block CI-11 are 
estimated to be 18.1 mmboe as at  
31 December 2008.

3. operations Update and Production 
outlook
During the period 30 June 2007 to  
31 December 2008, gross production was  
0.75 mmbbls oil and 20 bcf gas.  Current 
gross daily volumes remain stable: rates  
of up to 38 mmcfd gas and 1,600 bopd  
oil are being achieved from the Lion and 
Panthère fields.  
  
A significant sub-surface, production 
optimisation and maintenance programme 
is currently under way on Block C1-11.  The 
objective is the safe delivery of incremental 
production from the existing well base 
via wireline workovers, while establishing 
the potential for a workover / infill drilling 
programme in 2010.

1. background
Block CI-11 is located about 13km offshore
and 89km from Abidjan in water depths
ranging from 45m to 280m. The producing 
Lion and Panthère fields were discovered 
by Phillips in the 1980s and were brought 
onstream in 1995 by United Meridian 
Corporation (later acquired by Ocean  
Energy Inc. which subsequently merged  
with Devon Energy).

The Lion and Panthère fields have been
developed via a mobile offshore production
platform (MOPP) and four tethered
caissons.  Oil and gas is piped to Abidjan,
where the oil is sold on the open market,
and gas is processed at the Lion Gas Plant
and sold under two long-term contracts to
domestic end users, where it is used for 
power generation.

Afren’s partners in the block are PETROCI 
(the national oil company of Côte d’Ivoire)
(20.14%), International Finance Corporation
(18.94%) and SK Energy Co Ltd (12.96%).

2. field technical background
Lion is predominantly oil and Panthère 
predominantly gas bearing.  

The Lion field was discovered by Phillips in 
the 1980s with the drilling of the B1-7X  
and B1-8X wells.  The B1-7X well proved the 
existence of the Lion sand reservoir with oil 
shows on the overall structural high.  The 
B1-8X well flowed oil and gas at commercial 
rates from Senonian slope-canyon reservoirs.

Commercial delineation of the Lion field 
started in 1994 with the drilling of the Lion 
A-1 well.  The Senonian accumulations were 
appraised in 1996 with the drilling of the 

Côte d’Ivoire

CôtE D’IvOIRE – BLOCk CI-11
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Côte d’Ivoire

CôtE D’IvOIRE – BLOCk CI-01

1. background
Block CI-01 was awarded to United Meridian
Corporation in 1994, and is located offshore
in the easternmost part of Côte d’Ivoire,
adjacent to the international border with
Ghana.  It extends from near the shoreline
to 1,900m water-depth and is located
approximately 52km from Abidjan.

Other partners in the block are PETROCI
(20%) and SK Energy Co Ltd. (15%).

2. field technical background
Three separate significant hydrocarbon 
accumulations have been discovered by 
exploration drilling in the late 1970s and  
through to the mid-1980s by Esso and Agip.  
The Kudu, Eland and Ibex discoveries are 
estimated to contain net P50 contingent 
resources of 26.3 mmboe.

The Kudu Field was discovered by Agip in 
1984 with the drilling of the E1-1X well, which 
tested 23.6 mmcfd and 738 bopd from the 
Cenomanian sand.  Subsequent delineation 
drilling by UMC in 1997 lead to the Kudu-1  
appraisal well that tested 25.7 mmcfd and 728 
bopd from a separate reservoir compartment 
in the Cenomanian.  Kudu is a combination 
structural and stratigraphic trap, with faulting 
along the northern limit and erosion of the 
reservoir to the east and west.

Esso discovered the Eland field in 1978 
with the drilling of the IVCO-19 well, which 
tested 12.4 mmcfd and 520 bopd from the 
Cenomanian.  Esso followed up this discovery 
in 1981 with the drilling of the IVCO-23 well 
which tested 13.0 mmcfd and 330 bopd,  
also from the Cenomanian.

The Eland discovery is a combination of 
a structural and stratigraphic trap.  The 
Cenomanian reservoir is within an erosional 
remnant above an Albian tilted faulted 
structure.  The reservoir is truncated on all sides 
and covered by Turonian and younger shales.  
Both RTF and DST pressure data indicate likely 
communication exists between the two wells.

The Ibex discovery is located in the eastern 
part of the block in 82m of water.  It is  
south-east of the Kudu and Eland fields.

The discovery well was drilled near the 
eastern truncation edge of a sand-rich 
Maastrichtian canyon system that is draped 
over a portion of an anticline.  It found oil 
and gas pay in four sands at depths between 
1750m and 2160m. A drill stem test in the  
oil  zone flowed 2,992 bopd and 1.75 mmcfd.

3. field development and outlook
Gas forms the dominant source of power 
generation in Côte d’Ivoire, with current 
demand met by existing domestic production 
but there being limited capacity to satisfy 
significant forecast demand growth over 

the medium to longer term.  It is a national 
priority to access and secure additional gas 
volumes to meet future power demand in 
Côte d’Ivoire and also to expand thermal 
power generation capacity in the country.  
In particular, it is expected that two new 
gas fired power generation plants will be 
commissioned over the period 2010 to 
2012 which will substantially increase gas 
consumption levels.  This creates a strong 
market opening and favourable demand 
outlook for the CI-01 gas fields as we continue 
to work towards a development and offtake 
solution for the discovered resources on  
the block.  We are also actively engaged  
in subsurface studies to pursue the exciting  
oil and gas exploration potential of the block. 

Preparatory work is under way on Block CI-01 
to evaluate options to develop the gas and  
oil reserves already defined on the block.   
The proposed concept is to develop the Kudu, 
Eland and Ibex fields with gas tied back via 
pipeline either to an onshore power station 
or the Lion Gas Plant, where it will be treated 
and supplied to the local market.  Produced 
oil will be sold on the international market.

review of operations 
continued



Afren plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2008 29

Côte d’Ivoire

CôtE D’IvOIRE – tHE LION GAS PLANt

the lion gas Plant
The Lion Gas Plant (LGP) was constructed
by Ocean Energy in 1998 to improve margins
by extracting and selling high-value natural
gas liquids (NGLs) from gas produced at
Block CI-11.  Gas production from adjacent
Blocks CI-26 and CI-40, operated by Canadian
Natural Resources Limited (CNRL), was
added to the process stream, providing
third party tariff revenue from the use  
of the Block CI-11 pipeline infrastructure,  
and additional gasoline and butane sales 
revenue at the LGP.

The LGP has a total inlet capacity of 75
mmcfd and strips out gasoline and butane
from the rich gas stream it receives,
delivering dry gas to the power sector.
Butane is sold into the local market, whilst
the gasoline is sold on the international
market.  The LGP enjoys tax-exempt status,
providing high margins and attractive plant
economics to Afren.

outlook
Afren intends to investigate the further 
feasibility of extracting propane at the LGP, 
which could be used to supply customers  
in the industrial sector.
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review of operations 
continued

Keta block
In May 2008, Afren completed the acquisition
from Devon Energy of an 88% working
interest and operatorship of the Keta Block,
located offshore Eastern Ghana.  The block
covers an area of 5,500km2, in water depths
ranging from 1,000m to 2,800m.

The Keta Block is covered by 1,600km2  
of good quality, recently reprocessed 3D  
seismic data, as well as a 2D grid comprising 
multiple vintages including third party  
spec. seismic data.  

Historically, the main exploration focus in the 
area had been in the shallower water shelfal 
play types.  However, the main focus going 
forward is the Upper Cretaceous deepwater 
fan plays that have been successfully proven 
as world class oil finds by Tullow, Kosmos and 
Anadarko to the west of Ghana.  

In November 2008, Afren successfully farmed 
out a portion of its interest to Mitsui for a 
significant carry on the commitment well to 
be drilled by the end of the year.  

The new partnership interests on the block are:

Afren Ghana (Energy) Limited:  68%
Mitsui: 20%
GNPC: 10%
Gulf Atlantic Energy: 2%

The Cuda-1x well, targeting an interpreted
Campanian fan / channel complex, was
spudded on 16 November 2008 using the
Transocean Deepwater Discovery drill ship.

The well intersected a zone of severe
pressure in a section interpreted to be  
the top of the Upper Cretaceous.  As a 
consequence, the well had to be plugged 
and abandoned without testing the highly 
promising target intervals.  The rig was 
released on 25 December 2008.

outlook
Afren and its JV partners have elected to
proceed with the next licence phase after
detailed evaluation of the post well results
(subject to government approvals).

Ghana

GHANA
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Congo

CONGO

1. background
Afren holds a 14% interest in the La Noumbi 
exploration permit, onshore Congo Brazzaville.  
The acreage is on trend with the M’Boundi 
field to the south and similar play types are 
expected in the La Noumbi acreage.  The 
co-venture partners are Maurel et Prom, 
holding a 48.5% interest and acting as 
the operator, and Eni S.p.A holding the 
remaining 37.5% interest.

2. 2008 activity
2008 activity was focused on integrating  
the results of the Doungou exploration well  
and planning for the drilling of the ‘Tie-Tie 
Updip’ prospect.

3. outlook
Afren anticipates that the ‘Tie-Tie Updip’ 
well will be drilled in H2 2009 subject to 
partner approval and rig availability.
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1. background
Afren has held licence interests in the
shallow water area of Gabon since 2005.  
The primary exploration target in the area 
is the prolific presalt Gamba sandstone.  
All of the licences are operated by Addax 
Petroleum with Sterling Energy as the 
other JV partner. The Iris Marin permit is 
held under an Exploration and Production 
Sharing Contract (EPSC).  The EPSC in relation 
to the Ibekelia permit is currently being 
negotiated with the Gabonese authorities.

2. themis Marin – block relinquished  
in 2008
The last remaining commitment well,
THAM-1, was spudded on 30 December
2007 and drilled to a total depth of 1,330m.  
The reservoir target was encountered
low to prognosis, with limited hydrocarbon
shows, and was subsequently plugged and
abandoned.  The licence period on Themis
Marin expired in March 2008 and the
partners have since relinquished the block.

3. iris Marin Permit – exploration  
drilling in 2008
The Iris CM-1x well was spudded on  
5 July 2008 using the jack-up drilling  
rig Hercules-156, with Addax acting as  
drilling operator.  The well encountered  
the targeted Gamba reservoir but it was  
found to be water-bearing.  The well was  
therefore plugged and abandoned and  
the rig released on 30 July 2008.

A number of additional leads / prospects 
have been identified, which are currently 
being evaluated.

4. ibekelia licence area – Conversion to  
an exploration and Production sharing 
Contract (ePsC)
Afren has a 20% interest in Ibekelia, in
conjunction with joint venture partners
Addax and Sterling.  In June 2007, the  
group agreed to go forward and negotiate 
an EPSC with the Gabonese authorities.   
This was still progressing at year end 2008 
and is expected to be finalised during the 
course of 2009.

Gabon

GABON

review of operations 
continued
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Joint development Zone block 1
Afren holds a 4.41% net working interest in
the JDZ Block 1 exploration licence through
a 49% equity interest in Dangote Energy
Equity Resources Limited.  The Obo-1 well
was drilled in early 2006, and discovered
both oil and gas with a total of 150ft of
net pay.

operations Update: further technical studies
Operational activity in 2008 has been limited
to further technical studies.  It has been
agreed by the partnership to enter into the
next licensing phase.  Negotiations by the
operator Chevron are ongoing.

outlook
Exploration drilling on the adjacent Blocks
2, 3 and 4 is expected in the near future,
and further drilling on Block 1 is likely after
drilling activity on the neighbouring blocks
has been completed.  The results and lessons
learned from this activity will be extremely
important in unlocking the value of Block 1.

Nigeria

NIGERIA – SãO tOMé & PRíNCIPE
JOINt DEvELOPMENt ZONE
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the year 2008 saw the transition of afren 
into an upstream production company with 
the successful start-up of the okoro setu  
project and the acquisition of the producing 
Ci-11 assets in Côte d’ivoire.  hand-in- 
hand, we have been strengthening our 
environmental, health, safety and social 
(ehss) programmes across our platform to 
meet the needs of long-term production 
operations.

The acquisition of the assets in Côte d’Ivoire 
entailed a comprehensive due diligence 
review of operations both offshore on the 
Mobile Offshore Production Platform and 
at the Lion Gas Plant.  This review focused 
on the integrity of the facilities and the 
management systems in place to ensure safe 
operations.  Since taking control we have 
been working closely with the operations 
team to integrate their systems with those of 
Afren and to ensure that our EHSS standards 
are being applied.  

The Cuda-1x exploration well in Ghana saw 
Afren’s first operated deep-water drilling 
operation and as with the Ebok drilling in 
Nigeria, EHSS performance was excellent 
with no injuries or environmental incidents.  

afren in the CoMMUnity
Engagement and dialogue with our local 
communities have been priorities during 
2008, both for existing projects such as 
Okoro Setu in Nigeria, but also for projects 
in new areas such as Ebok, the Cuda well 
in Ghana and of course the Côte d’Ivoire 
assets.  Our experience of working with the 
community in Eastern Obolo in connection 
with the Okoro Setu project has been 
invaluable in planning the community 
development activities with the Effiat host 
community, associated with the Ebok-4 
appraisal well.  We have formal written 
agreements (MOUs) with the Eastern 
Obolo and Effiat communities in Nigeria, 
and we are working closely with both 
groups to deliver long-lasting, sustainable 
benefits to local people.  The programme of 
scholarship awards has been extended this 
year and we are working with local NGOs 
to establish specific programmes for social 
empowerment of local youth and women, 
through micro credit and entrepreneur 
financing schemes.

Corporate social
responsibility

in nigeria we have a full team of ehss 
professionals charged with supporting 
the okoro setu Project in addition 
to working on our exploration and 
appraisal assets.  during 2008 the team 
was heavily involved with the okoro 
setu development drilling and the 
installation and commissioning of the 
well-head platform, flowlines and the 
armada Perkasa fPso.  by the end of 
2008 over 800,000 manhours had been 
expended on the project. 
 



In addition, Afren is exploring the 
development of an African Energy Institute 
in response to the challenges of the growing 
skills gap in West Africa.  This educational 
initiative is focused on delivering world-class, 
internationally recognised and accredited 
energy education, training and research 
services.  The programme was launched in 
2008 with a study that investigated the skills 
shortage in oil producing countries in Sub-
Saharan Africa.  Project teams, comprised of 
partner members (Afren, CRES and UNITAR), 
were mobilised throughout the region to 
speak with various members of the energy 
industry, ranging from trainees to senior 
level officials in NOCs.  The resulting report 
from this study outlined some of the possible 
reasons for the skills shortage problem as 
well as potential initiatives that could bring 
about measurable improvement.  

The next phase of the project will see the 
roll-out of a pilot Train-the-Trainer course 
in Côte d’Ivoire, a requirement that was 
identified by the study.  
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 our commitment to high standards 
of corporate social responsibility is of 
increasing importance as we make the 
transition into production operations.

in Côte d’ivoire we are continuing to 
support an orphanage for boys located 
in bingerville just outside abidjan.   
this orphanage has received long-term 
support from the local operations 
team and will continue to do so as part 
of afren’s community development 
programme.  in addition, we are also 
working with the local communities 
directly affected by our operations 
to provide support in the areas of 
education and health provision.  

implementation of 
Csr programmes

feedback and continuous improvement

Leadership
Commitment
Strategic Objectives

Risk Management
Action Plans
Implementation

Monitoring 
Review
Audit

Corporate Social  
Responsibility 
Elements

Business Ethics
Human Resources
Environment
Health
Safety
Social

Values
Policies
Procedures

Code of Business 
Conduct
HR Policies
EHSS Management 
System

As part of the preparation for the Cuda 
drilling operations in Ghana, Afren 
worked with the national oil company 
GNPC to identify and consult with coastal 
communities.  This was particularly 
important in giving fishing communities 
early notice of the arrival of the drillship, 
the Deepwater Discovery.  This proactive 
approach was followed up with ongoing 
contact in the communities.  As a 
consequence we experienced excellent 
relations with those communities during  
the drilling of the Cuda-1x well.

At a corporate level, Afren is supporting 
the work of the international charity SOS 
Children’s Villages with its work in West 
Africa and, in particular, in the countries 
where we operate.  This remarkable 
organisation has been caring for orphaned 
and abandoned children around the world 
for 60 years, running family homes in  
over 470 dedicated villages worldwide.  
These villages not only provide housing  
for youngsters of all ages but also ensure 
first-class schooling and healthcare.  
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finanCing
Afren raised significant funding during the 
year for the continued development of the 
Okoro field and the growth of the overall 
portfolio.  In April, approximately US$235 
million of equity funds were raised (before 
expenses) via a placement of 95 million 
shares.  A further borrowing of US$169 
million was established in September to 
fund the acquisition of the Côte d’Ivoire 
business from Devon Energy.  This consisted 
of a Senior Debt Facility of US$102 million 
with BNP Paribas and a Subordinated Facility 
of US$67 million with leading Nigerian 
banks.  The Senior Facility is a similarly 
structured borrowing base rolling facility 
to the Okoro facility taken out in 2007, and 
was structured for the acquisition originally 
expected to complete in the third quarter 
of 2007.  Due to delays in approvals and 
other structural issues, the acquisition 
completed in September 2008 and thus the 
loan structure was already a year advanced.  
In consequence, the first repayment was 
made at the end of December bringing 
the net outstanding on the Senior Facility 
to US$73 million.  In addition, Afren drew 
down further funds from the US$230 million 
borrowing base and letter of credit rolling 
facility with BNP Paribas as lead bank to 
finance the Okoro Project.  Afren also raised 
US$45 million in a loan note from Sojitz  
as part of the long-term strategic alliance.   
In July, an agreement was reached for early 
conversion of the £41.25 million Senior 
Unsecured Bonds.  As a result, the Group’s 
debt was reduced by approximately US$70.9 
million and an additional 71.1 million shares 
were issued.

Cash reserves across the Group at the year 
end amounted to US$117.7 million.  Of this, 
US$58.9 million was restricted for use on the 
Ghana Keta Block operations and the Okoro 
field operations.  Having drawn down the 
majority of the Okoro facility, total debt at 
the year end amounted to US$405.2 million.  
Of this, it is expected that around US$111.2 
million will be repayable during 2009.

At the year end there were significant 
remaining cash payments due on the Okoro 
development, the Ebok appraisal and the 
Cuda-1x drilling.  In addition, the first 
repayment of debt relating to the Okoro 
facility (US$25.1 million) occurred at the 
end of February 2009, so there has been, as 
expected, a reduction in cash reserves in the 
first quarter of 2009.  Going forward, the 
Group is required to make total remaining 
loan repayments of US$86.1 million in 2009.  
Cash flows generated from the Okoro field 
can only be utilised on field expenditure and 
to service and repay the Okoro loan until the 
completion of certain start-up tests specified 
in the financing facility arrangements, which 
is expected to occur in the second quarter 
of 2009.  We are monitoring our short-term 
cash requirements with care and, based 
on our latest forecasts and projections, 
we are confident that we have sufficient 
resources to cover expenditures as required 
utilising existing Group reserves and 
revenue generated in Côte d’Ivoire.  Once 
‘completion’ of the existing Okoro facility  
is obtained, our cash flow is projected to be 
robust throughout the remainder of 2009, 
with the Okoro field cash generative at the 
operating level at relatively low oil prices.

CÔte d’ivoire aCqUisition
In September, Afren announced the 
completion of the acquisition of the 
Côte d’Ivoire business from Devon for an 
estimated total cost of US$184.3 million, 
prior to finalisation settlement.  Further 
details of this acquisition are provided 
in note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

financial review

assets

 15
shareholder value

 30%
Production

 6,900
boepd

assets in six African countries as at the 
year end (2007 year end: 10 assets in five 
countries)

growth in share price since IPO  
(2007: 425% growth)

produced on average over 2H 2008  
(2007: none)

Afren uses a number of Key Performance  
Indicators (KPIs) to assess the development  
and impact of its strategic objectives:
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assets
Total non-current assets stood at US$705.5 
million at the year end compared with 
US$193.6 million at the end of 2007.  This 
reflects the heavy investment in Okoro 
where the carried value has grown from 
US$138.3 million to U$390.3 million and the 
acquisition of the Côte d’Ivoire assets with 
a net value at year end of US$175.9 million.  
In April 2008, Afren signed a Farm-In 
Agreement with Oriental Energy Resources, 
a leading Nigerian-based international oil 
and gas company, for the appraisal and 
potential development of the Ebok field.  
The first appraisal well on this discovery was 
spudded in November and total costs as at 
the year end (including signature bonuses 
paid) amounted to US$47.0 million.  Other 
significant balances relate to La Noumbi 
(US$28.9 million), JDZ Block 1 (US$17.2 
million) and Keta, Ghana (US$13.2 million).

In addition, a non-current asset of US$20.4 
million was recognised as part of the marked 
to market of the hedging instruments –  
a further US$29.2 million related to the 
hedging has been recognised in current 
assets as relating to 2009 positions.  More 
details on the hedging can be found below.

Current assets have grown from US$107.5 
million to US$216.2 million in the year.  
The largest component of this is the cash 
balance of US$117.7 million (2007: US$91.8 
million) referred to above.  The growth in 
inventories (US$13.3 million compared with 
US$3.1 million in 2007) partially reflects 
the additional drilling inventories from the 
Okoro wells and the Cuda-1 well, but mostly 
reflects the inclusion of oil inventory for  
the first time (US$8.7 million) relating to  
oil produced but not sold at year end.

The increase in trade and other receivables 
(US$56.0 million compared with US$12.6 
million in 2007) reflects the increasing  
size of the business with operated activity  
in three countries at year end and the  
inclusion of oil and gas sale debtors of 
US$28.2 million, again for the first time.   
As mentioned above, there is also the short-
term component of the hedging position  
of US$29.2 million, compared with a short-
term liability in 2007 of US$1.4 million, 
reflecting the significant fall in the forward 
curve of the oil price in the near-term.

liabilities
Total current liabilities were US$257.0  
million at the year end, a significant increase 
on US$40.0 million in the prior year due  
both to the increase in activity levels and  
the short-term portion of our bank debt.  
Non-current liabilities stood at US$314.2 
million at year end, the increase of US$163.0 
million in the last 12 months being due  
to a combination of additional loan draw 
downs and the recording, for the first time, 
of decommissioning provisions for Okoro 
and our operations in Côte d’Ivoire.

net inCoMe
2008 saw a reduced loss per share for the 
year of 15.1c compared with 2007 (16.5c).  
Although the total absolute loss of US$56.6 
million was larger than 2007 (US$39.0 million 
loss) there was a significant increase in the 
shareholder base following the placement in 
April and the conversion of the convertible 
bonds (see above).  

Production and revenue
Afren announced First Oil from Okoro 
in June 2008 and production built up 
as planned over the following two 
months.  However, a delay on the Terminal 
Establishment Order resulted in the 
first lifting occurring in October 2008, 
significantly reducing the total production 
in the period.  In total, production at Okoro 
reached 1.2 mmbbls with sales of just over 
1.0 mmbbls at year end.  Total revenue from 
Okoro was US$37.1 million net of royalties, 
achieving an average price of US$48.1  
per barrel before royalties.  

CI-11 production has been accounted for 
from the acquisition date.  Total revenue 
relating to the Côte d’Ivoire assets amounted 
to US$5.4 million for the period.

Cost of sales – operating expenses
The FPSO facility for the Okoro field  
arrived on site in March 2008.  Its certificate 
of readiness was signed in June 2008 and 
full operating costs related to this have 
been incurred since then.  However, sales 
production has only been available from 
October, giving a relatively high charge for 
the period.  Additionally, the production  
was ramping up during the period while  
the majority of the operating costs are fixed.  
Total operating expenses for the Okoro field 
amounted to US$35.3 million after stock 
adjustments of US$3.4 million, relating to  
oil produced but not yet sold.  Budgeted 
costs for 2009 are significantly lower per 
barrel as the benefits of full production are 
felt and given the strong impetus to drive 
cost efficiencies.

In Côte d’Ivoire, total operating costs came 
to US$3.5 million net to Afren.

Cost of sales – depreciation, depletion  
and amortisation
Due to the nature of the development 
structure of Okoro, where Afren funds the 
full field development cost and recovers out 
of sales revenues, there is a relatively high 
depreciation rate on a net barrel.  During 
2008 this averaged US$19.9 per barrel 
after stock adjustments of US$2.2 million.  
CI-11 also suffers a relatively high rate at 
US$25.0 per barrel, due to the impact of the 
acquisition costs.  In total, field depreciation 
comes to US$27.0 million after stock 
adjustments.
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Cost of sales – oil stock provisions
The cost of the acquisition of the Côte 
d’Ivoire assets was allocated over the 
acquired oil and gas assets and the other 
company assets as required under IFRS.   
As part of this, the oil stocks acquired 
were calculated at fair value at the time 
of completion, valuing the oil at around 
US$98 per barrel.  The next lifting occurred 
in December and the acquired barrels were 
effectively sold at around US$40 per barrel, 
leading to a significant loss on disposal.   
This one-off cost has been booked as  
part of the cost of sales and amounts to 
US$5.2 million.

The combination of high depreciation rates, 
the additional opex burden on Okoro for 
the start-up period and the one-off oil stock 
provision has led to a gross loss of US$28.5 
million for the year.  

administrative expenses
Total administrative expenses have increased 
from US$18.1 million to US$32.5 million.  
This again reflects the significant growth  
in the Company as it moves into the 
production stage and operates both a full 
business in Côte d’Ivoire and a producing 
field in Nigeria.  The total number of staff  
in the company has grown from an average 
of 38 people in 2007 to an average of 
92 in 2008 as Afren matures into a fully 
integrated upstream oil company.  Afren 
now has operating offices in both Lagos, 
Nigeria and Abidjan, Côte d’Ivoire as well 
as a technical office in Houston, USA and 
the corporate office in London.  The total 
cost includes a charge of US$6.9 million, net 
of cost allocations, relating to share-based 
payments.  A reduction in administrative 
expenses is expected in 2009, as the first 
round of headcount efficiencies (post period 
end) come into effect.  

derivative financial instruments – hedging 
In May 2007, as part of the financing 
arrangements for the Okoro field, Afren 
entered into a series of swaps and call 
options to economically protect against 
exposure to the variability in the price of 
circa 14% of expected Okoro oil production 
through to end 2010.  The arrangement 
protects the Group against the risk of  
a significant fall in the price of crude by 
establishing a minimum swap price for a 
proportion of the Okoro crude.  However, 
the Group will receive a set discount from 
the market price if the oil price is above that 
minimum.  In this way, no up-front costs are 
payable and the Group enjoys the benefits 
of the majority of any oil price upside whilst 
there is only a cost to the Group if the oil 
price is sufficiently firm.  In September 2008, 
a similar set of instruments was entered  
into in relation to the oil production from 
the Côte d’Ivoire assets covering the period 
from October 2008 to mid-2012.

These derivative instruments have to be 
marked to market for each period and the 
gains and losses arising out of the changes 
in fair value are accounted for in the income 
statement.  During the second half of the 
year, there was a significant weakening in 
the oil price, with Brent moving from circa 
US$120 per barrel in June to nearer US$40 
per barrel in December.  The change in fair 
value of the instruments equates to a gain 
of US$13.4 million relating to Okoro and 
US$41.3 million relating to Côte d’Ivoire.   
This gain has had to be accounted for in the 
2008 net income.  These positions are likely 
to remain volatile as they are marked to 
market at each balance sheet date and their 
value will depend on both the spot price  
and the forward curve.  For 2008, the first 
period to which the instruments relate, 
Afren made a cash gain of US$3.6 million.

impairment of oil and gas assets
During December 2007 and January 2008, 
the Admiral prospect in the Themis Marin 
licence in Gabon was drilled by the operator, 
Sterling Energy.  The well was drilled on 
budget within 11 days, but the reservoir 
target was encountered low to prognosis 
with limited hydrocarbon shows.  The  
licence period expired in March 2008, and 
a decision was taken by the partners to 
relinquish the block.  As such, Afren wrote 
down all the costs on the licence.  In July 
2008 an exploration well (ICM-1) was drilled 
on the Charlie prospect in Iris Marin.  The 
well encountered a thick reservoir section 
but was water bearing.  Afren believes  
that there are still interesting prospects  
on the block, but all costs relating to the 
Charlie well have been written off.  In total 
US$5.2 million of costs relating to Gabon 
were written off in 2008.

In December 2008 Afren announced that the 
deep offshore Cuda-1 well on the Keta Block 
in Ghana had been plugged and abandoned 
after encountering an unexpectedly severe 
high pressure zone.  The well did not reach 
its intended target, so the prospect itself 
is still untested, but the costs of the well 
have been written off as it is unlikely that a 
significant part of the well will be reutilised.  
The total cost to Afren was US$23.8 million.

Given the near-term focus on the substantial 
Ebok development, Afren sees limited 
potential for the Eremor Project in the near-
term.  As such, no value has been assigned  
to the discovery in the accounts, leading to  
a US$6.0 million writedown.  

Other individually immaterial items written 
off totalled US$3.2 million.

financial review
continued
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net interest and other gains  
and losses
Net interest, financing costs and other gains 
and losses for the Group in 2008 amounted 
to US$11.5 million (2007: US$2.9 million).  
Interest on the Okoro development was 
capitalised through to the end of the 
development.  Total gross interest expense 
(including facility fees, amortisation of 
costs and unwinding of discount where 
applicable) amounted to US$33.0 million 
(2007: US$16.2 million), of which US$16.9 
million was capitalised (2007: US$11.1 
million).  In addition, a one-off conversion 
incentive of US$9.3 million was paid to the 
holders of the convertible bonds in July.   
For the first time, Afren also incurred a small 
charge relating to the unwinding of discount 
from the abandonment provisions for the 
Okoro and CI-11 fields (US$0.4 million).  
Interest income came to US$5.3 million 
(2007: US$2.5 million), reflecting the higher 
average cash balances through the year.

Afren made a loss of US$15.4 million due 
to foreign exchange differences in the 
year.  In July 2008, the sterling denominated 
convertible bond held by Afren plc converted 
into shares, as referred to above.  Following 
this, Afren management reviewed the 
functional currency of the holding company 
and concluded that it should be changed 
from £ sterling to US dollars, aligning it with 
all the major subsidiaries in the Group.  The 
US dollar equivalent of the sterling balances 
fell with the change in the exchange rate 
from around US$1.98 : £1.00 at the start of 
July to around US$1.44 : £1.00 at the year 
end leading to the charge to the net income.

A secondary effect of the change in 
functional currency is a change in the 
accounting for warrants issued by Afren plc 
that are not related to contracts for work.  
As the warrants are no longer convertible 
at a fixed price in the Company’s functional 
currency (due to the fluctuation of the 
exchange rates from sterling to US dollar) 
the warrants have to be marked to market 
at each balance sheet date and the increase 
or decrease in the liability is taken to the net 
income.  As Afren shares moved significantly 
between 1 July 2008 (when the revised 
functional currency was adopted) and the 
year end, there was a significant reduction 
in the value of the warrants to the warrant 
holder and hence the deemed liability to 
Afren.  This led to a US$26.6 million gain 
in the income statement in Afren’s books.  
As with the hedge, this is likely to remain 
volatile, with any increases in value of the 
share price creating a charge to the net 
income as the value of the warrants to the 
warrant holder increases.  

At 31 December 2008, as part of the  
co-operation agreement between the two 
companies, Afren owned 19.4 million Gasol 
shares.  Following the fall in the share price 
of Gasol in the second half of 2008, the value 
of this investment has been written down  
to the year end price of 0.75p.  

tax
There is a small tax charge for the period 
relating to the CI-11 operations.

oUtlooK
The delays in both the finalisation of the 
Côte d’Ivoire acquisition and the Okoro 
liftings combined with the fall in the oil price 
have led to a disappointing result for the 
year in 2008.  2009 should benefit from both 
a full year’s production from CI-11 and stable 
production from the Okoro field.  
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board of directors

1

4

2

3

1. Mr egbert iMoMoh
non-executive Chairman
Prior to assuming his current position,  
Mr Imomoh, a founder of Afren, was 
Managing Director and Executive Chairman 
of Afren Energy Resources Limited.  He 
successfully led the growth of Afren’s 
Nigerian asset base, established partnerships 
with indigenous companies and realised the 
First Oil milestone at the Okoro Setu project.

Prior to establishing Afren’s Nigerian 
subsidiary, Mr Imomoh served as Deputy 
Managing Director of Shell Petroleum 
Development Company (Nigeria), one of the 
Shell Group’s largest operating companies, 
which is responsible for operating the  
joint venture that produces approximately 
one million barrels of oil per day.  He is 
also a member of the Society of Petroleum 
Engineers and has served on its board  
as Regional Director for Africa.  

2. Mr osMan shahenshah
Chief executive 
Mr Shahenshah is a founder of Afren and 
has over 20 years’ experience in oil and gas 
finance.  His international career began 
with Credit Suisse First Boston and has 
included senior positions in the oil and gas 
finance groups of the International Finance 
Corporation (the private sector arm of the 
World Bank), and the investment banking 
divisions of Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein 
and Mediocredito Centrale.

Mr Shahenshah has been actively involved  
in the African oil and gas sector for more 
than 15 years, working with companies 
including Shell, Chevron, Total, Eni S.p.A 
and the Nigerian National Petroleum 
Corporation.  He holds a PhD from the 
University of Pennsylvania, a Master’s  
Degree from Columbia University and a 
Bachelor’s Degree from Brown University.

3. Mr shahid Ullah
Chief operating officer
Mr Ullah has held senior management 
positions at Western Atlas and Baker 
Hughes, where he was responsible for 
managing petroleum equities and assets.  
In particular, he brings extensive technical 
and commercial knowledge of the African 
petroleum industry.  Mr Ullah holds a 
degree in Petroleum Engineering from the 
University of Texas and received executive 
development training at Oxford University 
and the London Business School.  He is a 
member of the Engineering Advisory Board 
at the University of Texas.

4. Mr Constantine ogUnbiyi
executive director
Mr. Ogunbiyi is a founder of Afren and 
he has served as an Associate Director 
and Special Assistant to the Chairman, 
General Counsel for the Group as well as a 
Director of Afren’s Nigerian wholly-owned 
subsidiaries.  He has significant and extensive 
experience of private equity, acquisition, 
structured, trade and project finance,  
and public and private partnerships in the 
African energy and infrastructure sectors  
in particular.

Prior to joining Afren, he was the Deputy 
Head of Cadwalader, Wickersham & 
Taft LLP’s Africa Practice.  Before this, 
Mr Ogunbiyi spent over four years with 
Herbert Smith’s International Finance 
and Banking Department.  He has also 
served as a strategic adviser to the New 
Partnership for Africa’s Development 
(NEPAD) Business Group and the Southern 
African Development Community’s (SADC) 
Banking Association’s PPP Unit.  He holds 
Legal Qualifications from the universities of 
London (King’s College), Passau (Germany) 
and Oxford.
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5. Mr gUido Pas
non-executive director
Mr Pas is an international executive with 
a background in senior financial and 
investment management roles relating  
to African natural resources.

Following an early career as a commodity 
and trade finance officer at Chase 
Manhattan Bank, Mr Pas was a founding 
partner of the Addax and Oryx Group, 
a group of international petroleum 
marketing and producing companies 
operating in Africa.  He has participated in 
the development of several listed mining 
companies focused on Africa.

Mr Pas also manages Synergy Resources 
Fund, an unlisted fund investing in mineral 
resources, and Vector XXI Finance, a  
Geneva-based investment advisory company.  
Mr Pas holds a Cum Laude degree in Applied 
Economics from Antwerp University.

6. Mr Peter binghaM
non-executive director
Mr Bingham is a senior financial executive 
with over 40 years’ experience in international 
financial markets, primarily at the Barclays 
Bank Group.  He held successive directorships 
at the London branch level, in the Group’s 
merchant banking division and at BZW 
(now Barclays Capital) where he set up the 
credit risk management team.  Mr Bingham 
ultimately became Head of Banking at 
BZW and served as a member of the central 
Barclays Group Credit Committee.

7. Mr John st. John
non-executive director
Mr St. John was previously Strategic 
Financial Adviser to the Board of Afren, 
having been appointed in November 2006.  
He is also a former Global Head of Equity 
Capital Markets at Dresdner Kleinwort, 
Commerzbank and Lehman Brothers and 
European Head of Equity Capital Markets 
at Citigroup (formerly Salomon Brothers).  
He has acted as an adviser on over US$100 
billion of equity and equity-linked issuance 
in all major markets worldwide.
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1. Mr galib virani 
head of acquisitions and investor relations
Mr Virani has a background in finance and 
mergers and acquisitions.  Prior to joining 
Afren in 2006 as Head of Acquisitions and 
Investor Relations, he worked on a variety of 
mergers and acquisitions and equity capital 
market transactions, predominantly in the 
oil and gas sector, as part of the Corporate 
Finance and Advisory group of Dresdner 
Kleinwort Wasserstein.  Mr Virani has played 
a key role in Afren’s financing and continues 
to contribute to the overall growth of the 
Company’s portfolio of assets.  He is a Fellow 
of the Securities Institute, and holds a Master 
of Finance and Investment (with Distinction) 
and a Master of Philosophy in Emerging 
Market Finance.

2. Mr JaCK MCfarland
director of operations 
Mr McFarland is a registered petroleum 
engineer with over 30 years’ experience in 
the oil and gas industry.  He has extensive 
experience in reservoir, operations and 
production engineering coupled with a 
successful track record in oil and gas asset 
evaluations and acquisitions.  Prior to 
joining Afren, he was a Director at Valiant 
International Petroleum, Vice President and 
Partner at Panther Resource Corporation, 
and President and General Manager at 
Ocean Côte d’Ivoire, amongst others.

3. Mr faiZ iMaM
head of gas and business development 
Manager
Mr Imam has over 10 years’ experience in 
the oil industry.  He has worked in a variety 
of roles including production engineering, 
facilities and gas engineering and government 
relations.  He started his career with Texaco 
in Nigeria as an offshore production engineer 
and moved through to developing projects 
which handled associated gas production, and 
then onto deep-water project development.  
While at Afren, he has made a significant 
contribution to the Company’s business 
development initiatives in Nigeria.

Mr Imam was part of the team that worked 
on the billion barrel Agbami field.  He 
holds a M Eng in Chemical and Biochemical 
Engineering from University College, London.

4. Mr andreW olleveant
head of ehss 
Mr Olleveant is a qualified health and safety 
professional with 18 years’ experience in 
the oil industry, over 10 of which were 
spent in an international role with LASMO.  
He has extensive experience of managing 
the EHSS issues associated with major 
oil and gas projects as well as wider risk 
management experience.  In previous roles 
he has been responsible for developing and 
implementing management systems and 
providing corporate assurance that effective 
controls are in place.  Mr Olleveant holds 
a Master of Science degree in Engineering 
Geology from Durham University and a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Environmental 
Science from Lancaster University.

5. Mr PatriCK Cherlet
Commercial director
Mr Cherlet has held management positions 
at Western Geophysical, Western Atlas, Baker 
Hughes, Randall & Dewey and Jefferies 
International.  Mr Cherlet received an MS 
from Stanford University and an MS from 
Ghent University in Belgium.

6. Mrs Jane barKer
head of human resources
Mrs Barker joined Afren in 2008 as Head of 
Human Resources, a role which encompasses 
Group-wide responsibility for all HR activities 
including recruitment, retention, reward and 
organisational development.  She has over 25 
years’ human resources experience in the oil 
and gas industry with Chevron, Gulf, LASMO 
and African Arabian; this included a three-
year assignment as Head of HR for a new 
country entry in Venezuela.  She also spent 
five years as Head of HR in financial services 
for insurer ‘esure’ during their start-up phase.  

7. Ms shirin Johri
group general Counsel and  
Company secretary
Prior to joining Afren, Ms Johri worked in 
Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft LLP’s African 
practice.  She has extensive experience 
advising on acquisitions and disposals, 
joint ventures, infrastructure projects and 
private equity investment.  Ms Johri has led 
the Afren team in all significant corporate 
acquisitions since joining in 2006. She holds 
an LLM from the Cornell Law School, New 
York, an LLB (Hons) from Delhi University,  
India and a Bachelor’s degree from Delhi 
University.  She has also been called to the 
New York Bar.

8. Mr JereMy WhitloCK
group financial Controller
Mr Whitlock is a qualified accountant with 
20 years’ experience in the oil industry.  He 
spent 13 years with Enterprise Oil in a variety 
of roles across the finance department, 
including several years as Financial Planning 
Manager and International and Corporate 
Accounting Manager.  Prior to joining Afren 
he was Planning Manager at Nexen (UK) Ltd.

9. Mr iain Wright
technical director
Mr Wright leads Afren’s technical team and 
is responsible for all geoscience and reservoir 
engineering activities associated with  
Afren’s ongoing exploration, development 
and production assets together with new 
business technical assessments to enhance  
the Company’s portfolio.  With over 25 years 
in the industry, he has extensive international 
geosciences experience and has served in 
both development and exploration geology 
roles.  Previously, he was a Managing Director 
at Jefferies.  He also worked with Randall 
& Dewey, Baker Hughes, Qatar Petroleum, 
Conoco (UK) and Anadrill Schlumberger.   
Mr Wright received a BSc (Hons) from the 
City of London Polytechnic and is a Certified 
Petroleum Geologist (CPG) with the AAPG, 
a fellow with the Geological Society, the SPE 
and PESGB.

senior  
Management

2

5

9 1468

7

3
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1. Mr oKon aKPan
engineering Manager
Mr Akpan has over 16 years’ experience  
in the oil and gas industry.  He has worked 
in a variety of roles including process 
engineering, project engineering and 
management, pipeline engineering and 
systems engineering.  Prior to joining Afren, 
he worked in various capacities in Shell 
Nigeria and was Project and Team Leader  
for the Odidi gas supply project.

2. Ms sade ogUndeJi
financial Controller
Ms Ogundeji has over 11 years’ experience in 
auditing, banking and accounting.  She was 
previously the Financial Controller at Trust 
Bank of Africa Limited and XL Management 
Services Limited in Nigeria.  

3. Mr taiWo olUshina 
drilling Manager
Mr Olushina has 20 years’ experience in the 
oil and gas industry.  His experience spans  
project / design management, drilling and 
completion engineering and operations.  
Prior to joining Afren, he spent 14 years 
with ExxonMobil in various technical and 
management capacities in Nigeria and the 
USA, including a spell as Head of Drilling 
Engineering, Mobil Producing Nigeria.

4. Mr biola aJayi
geology and geophysics Manager
Mr Ajayi has over 20 years’ experience 
as a Geologist / Geophysicist.  He spent 
the majority of his career with Shell 
and Schlumberger in Nigeria, in various 
capacities including Regional and Operations 
Geologist, Head of Geological Operations 
and Senior Consulting Geoscientist.

senior  
Management
afren nigeria

1 2 3 4
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senior  
Management
afren Côte d’ivoire

1. Mrs sylvie affian
finance Manager, afren Côte d’ivoire
Mrs Affian is a financial accountant with 
over 12 years’ experience in the oil and gas 
industry.  Prior to joining Afren, she was the 
Accountant at United Meridian International 
Corporation, Deputy Finance Manager at 
Ocean Energy and Finance Manager at 
Devon Côte d’Ivoire.  Mrs Affian holds an 
MBA from University of District of Columbia 
(Washington DC).

2. Mr Koffi adJe
general Manager, afren Côte d’ivoire
Mr Adje is an industrial engineer with over 
25 years’ experience in the oil and gas 
industry.  He started his professional career  
in ExxonMobil as a production engineer, 
where he held several management 
positions.  He joined PETROCI (the national 
oil company of Côte d’Ivoire) in 1984 where 
he fulfilled a number of operational roles.  
He later joined Devon Energy as Deputy 
Operations Manager and was subsequently 
appointed General Manager.

3. Mr siriMa bassina
government and business relations,  
afren Côte d’ivoire
Mr Bassina is a lawyer with over 29 years’ 
experience.  He has held several roles in the 
oil and gas industry including Deputy to 
the Vice President of the United Meridian 
Corporation and Ocean Energy.  He currently 
heads Government and Business Relations  
at Afren Côte d’Ivoire.

1
2 3
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Mr bert CooPer
special adviser to the board
Mr Cooper has been active in the African 
natural resources sector for over 25 years.  
During the 1980s he devised and led an 
initiative to restructure what, at the time, 
was Liberia’s biggest industrial project: 
an iron ore mining company with capital 
investment of over US$600 million.   
He also formed Liberia’s mining parastatal, 
whose management, marketing and 
financing requirements were contracted to 
Mr Cooper’s companies.  He was a principal 
member of the team that founded Afren.

Mr ennio sganZerla
international advisory board
Mr Sganzerla was until recently Senior Vice 
President (E&P) at Eni S.p.A, having joined 
the group in 1971.  Since 1997, he has been 
responsible for Eni S.p.A’s operations in the 
North Sea, America, Australasia and Russia.  
Previously, he was Managing Director of  
Eni S.p.A’s sizeable North Sea operations.

Over the course of his wide-ranging 
career at Eni S.p.A, he was instrumental 
in establishing and building Eni S.p.A’s 
presence in Congo, and played an active 
role in increasing the company’s position 
in Nigeria, Gabon and Egypt as Regional 
VP for Africa.  He was also active in leading 
the group’s M&A activities, including the 
acquisition of Lasmo plc, British Borneo  
and others.

Mr brian Ward
international advisory board
Mr Ward was formerly the Regional Chief 
Executive for Shell E&P Africa.  Mr Ward 
was responsible for Shell’s Upstream African 
operations and relationships with host 
governments.

Prior to managing Shell’s operations 
in Africa, Mr Ward’s career included a 
number of senior positions within the 
Shell organisation, including Managing 
Director of Petroleum Development Oman, 
Managing Director of Shell E&P (NAM) in 
Holland, and Deputy Managing Director 
and Production Director for Shell Expro UK.

hiroshi KaneMatsU
international advisory board
Mr Kanematsu is the President of the 
Energy and Mineral Resources Division at 
Sojitz Corporation and Senior Managing 
Executive Officer of Sojitz.  He has been 
involved in international energy and mining 
projects for over 25 years.  Prior to assuming 
his current position, his career included a 
number of senior positions within Sojitz, 
including President and Chief Executive 
Officer for Sojitz Asia and General Manager 
for Sojitz South East Asia.

international  
advisory board
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Directors’ Report

The Directors submit their annual report on the affairs of the Group together with the financial statements and audit report of Afren plc for the year ended  
31 December 2008.

PrinciPal activities
The principal activities of the Group are oil and gas exploration and development in Africa.  The subsidiary undertakings principally affecting the Group’s financial 
statements are listed in note 14 to the financial statements.

Business review
The Company is required by the Companies Act to set out in this report a fair review of the business of the Group during the financial year ended 31 December 2008  
and of the position of the Group at the end of the year and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group (‘business review’).  The information that 
fulfils the requirements can be found within the Chairman and Chief Executive’s Statement, the Review of Operations and the Financial Review, which are incorporated 
into this report by reference.  These sections also include details of expected future developments in the business of the Group and details of Key Performance Indicators 
that management use.
 
PrinciPal risks and uncertainties
Critical to the Group’s achievement of its objectives is effective risk management.  Afren utilises several strands to mitigate risk where it can in an industry acknowledged 
as one in which risks have to be taken to succeed.  It is clear that there is no certainty to oil and gas operations as the geological reality several thousand feet beneath the 
surface can not be known fully, the fiscal and political landscape can change rapidly and the oil market, always volatile, has been especially difficult to predict in recent 
times.  However, within this environment there are certain actions that can be taken.

Key principles to Afren’s risk management are:

Balanced portfolio – Although small, Afren has a mix of exploration, development and producing assets.  These are spread over six countries, mitigating political risk.    
In addition, there is now a mix of gas and oil production, reducing the exposure to the oil market.

Recruitment of able, skilled and experienced personnel – Afren has significantly enhanced its technical skill base during the year by the recruitment of nine professional 
staff from the Randall and Dewey technical team.  In addition, local staff have been recruited in both Nigeria and Côte d’Ivoire to ensure both technical and local 
knowledge.  With the substantial growth experienced by Afren in its first few years, there has been a large learning curve and Afren fully intends to continue training  
and developing its staff to manage the future challenges.

Review of policies and procedures – As a fast-growing company, the policies and procedures that suited a small start-up do not always suit a larger company.  As such, 
Afren is reviewing its procedures to ensure that these fit the business stage it is at.

Selected derivative instruments to protect against oil price movements – With significant production onstream that has been financed in part by debt finance, Afren  
has to ensure that it has sufficient certainty over its minimum cash flows.  As such we have taken out positions protecting our net receipts for a proportion of both the 
Côte d’Ivoire production and the Okoro field production.

Constant review of Afren’s liquidity position – As a small company Afren has always reviewed its cash flows closely to ensure that it is operating within its means as the 
company grows.  The recent fall in the oil price has led to some strain on the cash resources but the management is confident that it has sufficient resources to fulfil all its 
commitments at current prices.

Regular review of operations – A new reporting regime is being introduced to reflect the fact that Afren is now a fully-fledged operator with regular forecasting updates.

Strong business relationships – Afren seeks to build strong relationships with its partners and its financers – both debt and equity.  The successful finance raised during the 
year and the new partnerships brokered are testament to this and ensure that potential issues can be proactively considered.

going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the Review of Operations.  The 
financial position of the Group at the year end, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial Review.  In addition note 20 to the 
financial statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its financial risk management objectives and details of its financial 
instruments and hedging activities; and note 3 describes its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

There has been, for the reasons set out in the Financial Review, a reduction in cash reserves in the first quarter of 2009, however the Group had funds of around US$60 
million at the end of March 2009, of which around US$34 million was restricted.  Going forward, the Group is expecting to make a total of around US$86 million of loan 
repayments during the remainder of 2009 but has limited capital commitments in its current portfolio.  Cash flows generated from the Okoro field can only be utilised on 
field expenditure and to service and repay the Okoro loan until the completion of certain start-up tests specified in the financing facility arrangements, which is expected 
to occur in the second quarter of 2009.  We are monitoring our short-term cash requirements with care and based on our latest forecasts and projections, we are 
confident that we have sufficient resources to cover expenditures as required utilising existing Group reserves and revenue generated in Côte d’Ivoire.  Once ‘completion’ 
of the existing Okoro facility is obtained, our cash flow is projected to be robust throughout the remainder of 2009, with the Okoro field cash generative at the operating 
level at relatively low oil prices.

In addition, proceeds from the recently completed US$126 million equity placing (before fees and expenses) were received in early May.
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After making enquiries, the Directors have formed a judgement, at the time of approving the financial statements, that there is a reasonable expectation that the  
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis  
in preparing the financial statements. 

results and dividends
The Group’s loss for the year was US$56.6 million (2007: US$39.0 million). The Directors have not recommended the payment of a dividend (2007: US$nil).

events since the Balance sheet date
On 23 January 2009, Afren announced the Board of Directors had approved 6.5 million share option awards over the ordinary shares of 1p each in the Company to 
Executive Directors of the Company.

On 12 February 2009, Gasol plc announced that it had successfully placed 200 million shares with Afren plc at 0.5p raising £1 million and increasing Afren’s ownership  
to 21.3%. 

On 26 March 2009, Afren announced the results of an independent assessment of the in place oil and recoverable reserves from the Ebok field in Nigeria by Netherland, 
Sewell & Associates Inc. (NSAI) together with details of future development scenarios for the field.

On 1 May 2009, Afren obtained shareholder approval for a placing with institutional investors of 265 million new ordinary shares of the Company at 32p per share 
which will result in £84.8 million (US$126 million) being raised, before commissions and expenses.

the directors and their interests
The Directors who served the Company during the year and subsequently, together with their and their families’ beneficial interests in shares in the Company, were  
as follows:

Committees             Ordinary shares of £0.01 each

Name
Audit  

and risk Nomination Remuneration

At 6 
May

2009

At 31
December

2008*

At 31
December

2007**

Rilwanu Lukman (i) Chairman (to December 2008) •† • n/a 6,000,000 6,000,000

Osman Shahenshah Chief Executive 1,412,001 1,412,001 875,001

Egbert Imomoh Chairman (from December 2008) # •††† •†† • 772,458 772,458 664,385

Constantine Ogunbiyi (ii) Director 205,000 205,000 25,000

Shahid Ullah (iii) Chief Operating Officer 1,100,000 375,000 –

Evert Jan Sibinga Mulder (iv) Director n/a 23,500 23,500

Peter Bingham Non-executive Director •† •† – – –

Guido Pas Senior Non-executive Director • • 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

John St. John Non-executive Director • •†††† 50,922 50,922 50,922

* Or resignation, if earlier (i) Stepped down from all roles 18 December 2008 † Chairman of Committee during 2008
** Or on appointment, if later (ii) Appointed 3 January 2008 †† Chairman of Committee from December 2008
#   Formerly Executive Director and Chairman  (iii) Appointed 1 July 2008 ††† Appointed to Audit and Risk Committee 25 March 2009 

of the Group’s primary Nigerian subsidiary (iv) Resigned 30 June 2008 †††† Chairman of Committee from 25 March 2009
 
Details of the Directors’ share options are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

suPPlier Payment Policy
The Company’s policy, which is also applied by the Group, is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, to ensure that the 
supplier is aware of the terms of the payment and to abide by the terms of the payment.  Trade creditors of the Group at 31 December 2008 were equivalent to 59 days’ 
purchases (2007: 35 days), based on the actual year end balance.

charitaBle and Political donations
During the year the Group made charitable donations of US$156,159, the majority of which related to African focused charities and institutions (2007: US$38,700).

No political donations were made in either 2008 or 2007.
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Directors’ Report

suBstantial interests
As of 1 May 2009, interests notified to the Company in accordance with Chapter 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules comprised: 

%

Credit Suisse Securities 11.30

Lansdowne Partners 10.68

Vidacos Nominees 6.11

GLG Partners 4.87

JP Morgan Chase & Co 4.48

Standard Bank 4.29

FMR Corp 3.62

Percentages are based on the issued share capital at the date of notification.

directors’ remuneration
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

service contracts
No Director has a service contract, consultancy agreement or other such arrangement with a notice period in excess of one year. 

auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:

• So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and
•  The Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 

Company’s auditors are aware of that information

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

The auditors for the year ended 31 December 2008 were Deloitte LLP. Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution  
to reappointment them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

annual general meeting
At the Annual General Meeting of the Company, resolutions will be proposed to receive these accounts and the Directors’ and auditors’ reports and to re-elect the 
Directors who are retiring at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.  Resolutions to reappoint Deloitte LLP as the 
Company’s auditor, to authorise the Directors to fix Deloitte LLP’s remuneration as auditor, to authorise the Directors to make political donations and to incur political 
expenditure, to grant the Directors authority to allot ordinary shares and to buy back the Company’s ordinary shares will also be proposed.

For a more detailed explanation of these and other amendments, please refer to the Notes on Resolutions set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.  A copy of 
the current Articles of Association and the proposed new Articles of Association that reflect these amendments will be available for inspection during normal business 
hours (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) at the registered office of the Company (Kinnaird House, 1 Pall Mall East, London SW1Y 5AU) and the offices  
of Herbert Smith, Exchange House, Primrose Street, London EC2A 2HS up until the close of the meeting.

On behalf of the Board

osman shahenshah 
Chief Executive
6 May 2009

continued
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The Directors are committed, where practicable for a company of this size and nature, to applying the requirements of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance.
This statement explains how the Directors applied the principles of the code during the period ended 31 December 2008. 

internal controls
The Board has responsibility for establishing and maintaining the Group’s system of internal controls and reviewing its effectiveness.  The procedures which include  
inter alia financial, operational and compliance matters and risk management are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  The Board has approved the annual budget. 
Performance against budget is monitored and reported to the Board.  The internal control system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.  The Board has considered the need for an internal audit function but does not consider it necessary at the current time.

Board structure
The Board is responsible to shareholders for the proper management of the Group. During the year, the Board comprised the Non-executive Chairman, four Executive 
Directors (the Chief Executive, the Chief Operating Officer, the Managing Director, Nigeria and an additional Director) and three further Non-executive Directors.  
During the year, one Director stepped down at the end of June (Mr Evert Jan Sibinga Mulder) and one Director joined the Board in July (Mr. Shahid Ullah).  In December 
Dr Rilwanu Lukman stepped down as Chairman due to his appointment as Nigeria’s Minister of Petroleum Resources and Mr Egbert Imomoh, who had been serving  
as the Managing Director, Nigeria, was appointed as Non-executive Chairman.  Currently, Afren’s Board consists of a Non-executive Chairman, three Executive Directors 
and three Non-executive Directors.  Brief biographies are on pages 40 and 41 and demonstrate a range of relevant experience at a senior level.

The Board meets at least quarterly and as issues arise which require Board attention.  The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically referred to it for decision.   
In addition to those formal matters required by the Companies Act(s) to be set before a board of directors, the Board will also consider strategy and policy, acquisition 
and divestment proposals, approval of major capital investments, risk management policy, significant financing matters and statutory shareholder reporting.  During 
2008, all operational Board meetings were attended by all the Board members in office at the time of the Board meetings, except for a board meeting in March 2008 
that Mr Evert Jan Sibinga Mulder was unable to attend, a board meeting in September that Mr Egbert Imomoh and Mr Shahid Ullah were unable to attend and a board 
meeting in December that Guido Pas was unable to attend.  To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors receive appropriate and timely information and the 
Chairman ensures that the Directors take independent professional advice as required.  Appropriate training is available where necessary.

A statement of the Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the accounts is set out on page 55.

The Company has established Audit and Risk, Nomination and Remuneration Committees.  Terms of Reference for the Committees are available on request from  
the Company.

audit and risk committee
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises of Mr Peter Bingham (Chairman), Mr Guido Pas and Mr John St. John.  In addition, Mr Egbert Imomoh was appointed to serve 
on this committee in March 2009.  It meets at least three times a year and is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly reported 
on and monitored.  It liaises with the auditors and reviews the reports from the auditors relating to the accounts and internal control matters.  If required, meetings are 
attended by appropriate members of senior management.  The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the requirement for an internal audit function.

nomination committee
The Nomination Committee comprised of Dr Rilwanu Lukman (Chairman) until he stepped down and Guido Pas.  Mr Egbert Imomoh took over the Chairman’s role 
from Dr Lukman in March 2009.  The Committee meets as required and is responsible for reviewing and recommending to the Board the appointment of Directors.

remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee consisted of Mr John St. John (Chairman from March 2009), Dr Rilwanu Lukman (until December 2008), Mr Peter Bingham (Chairman 
until March 2009) and, since March 2009, Mr Egbert Imomoh.  The Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall 
framework for remuneration and its cost.  In addition, it determines the individual remuneration for the Executive Directors giving due regard to the overall framework 
for the Company’s remuneration, external advisers where appropriate, the interests of shareholders, the performance of the Group and all relevant legal requirements.  
The Remuneration Committee also makes recommendations to the Board concerning employee incentives, including share-based schemes and pension contributions.  
Directors of the Group are not permitted to participate in discussions or decisions of the Committee regarding their own remuneration.  Full details of the Directors’ 
remuneration are presented in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

relationshiPs with shareholders
The Board remains fully committed to maintaining regular communication with its shareholders.  There is regular dialogue with major institutional shareholders and 
meetings are offered regularly following significant announcements.  Press releases have been issued throughout the year and the Company maintains a website  
(www.afren.com) on which all press releases are posted and which also contains major corporate presentations and the reports and accounts.  Additionally, this Annual 
Report, which is sent to all registered shareholders, contains extensive information about the Group’s activities.  Enquiries from individual shareholders on matters 
relating to their shareholdings and the business of the Group are welcomed.  Shareholders are also encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting to discuss the 
progress of the Group.

conflict of interests
The Company amended its articles of association in June 2008 to deal with, amongst other things, the provisions on conflicts of interest in the Companies Act 2006 
which came into force in October 2008.  Following this the Company has put in place procedures for the disclosure and review of any conflicts, or potential conflicts,  
of interest which the Directors may have and for the authorisation of such conflict matters by the Board.  In deciding whether to authorise a conflict or potential conflict 
the Directors must have regard to their general duties under the Companies Act 2006.  The authorisation of a conflict matter, and the terms of authorisation, may be 
reviewed at any time by the Board and will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Nominations Committee.

Corporate Governance Statement
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information not suBject to audit

remuneration committee
The members of the Remuneration Committee consisted of Mr John St. John (Chairman from March 2009), Mr Peter Bingham (Chairman until March 2009), Dr Rilwanu 
Lukman (until December 2008) and since March 2009, Mr Egbert Imomoh.  All are Non-executive Directors.

No Director plays a part in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.

Executive remuneration packages are designed to attract, motivate and retain Directors of the calibre required to grow the business and enhance value to shareholders.  
The performance measurement of the Executive Directors and the determination of their annual remuneration package are undertaken by the Committee.

Executive Directors are entitled to accept appointments outside the Company providing that the Chairman’s permission is sought and fees in excess of £10,000 from all 
such appointments are accounted for to the Company, except where specific approval is gained from the Board.

There are five main elements of the remuneration package for Executive Directors:
• Basic annual salary
• Benefits in kind
• Pension contribution
• Annual bonus payments
• Share option incentives or other equity instruments

The Company’s policy is that a substantial proportion of the remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management should be performance related.

Basic salary
An Executive Director’s annual salary is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee prior to the beginning of each year and when an individual changes position or 
responsibility.  In deciding appropriate levels, the Committee relies on objective research which gives up-to-date information on a comparable group of companies.   
Basic salaries are reviewed in December, with increases taking effect from 1 January. 

Benefits in kind
The Executive Directors receive certain benefits in kind, principally private medical insurance, club membership and critical illness cover.

Pension contriBution
UK-based Executive Directors are members of the Company pension scheme.  The scheme is a defined contribution scheme and the Company contributes 10% of salary 
subject to the participant contributing at least 5% of their salary.

annual Bonus Payments
A formal annual cash bonus scheme has been in place since 2006.  During 2008 bonuses were awarded to all the Executive Directors serving throughout the relevant 
period.  In addition, three Executive Directors received bonuses upon achieving First Oil at the Okoro Setu Project. Details of the Executive Directors’ bonuses are on page 51.

share oPtions
The 2005 Share Option Scheme was established to incentivise the Directors and staff, aid recruitment to the Company and enable Directors and employees to share 
in the benefit from the increased market capitalisation of the Company.  The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for supervising the scheme and the grant of 
options under its terms.

Options were awarded to Constantine Ogunbiyi in April 2008 under this scheme.

long term incentive Plan
An alternative share plan was introduced during 2008 to give awards to Directors and staff subject to outperforming a comparator group of similarly focused oil and 
gas exploration and production companies in terms of shareholder return over a three-year period.  The Afren Performance Share Plan awards a number of shares to 
Directors and staff based on a multiple of salary.  However, these shares only vest after a three-year period and the full award is made only if Afren has performed in the 
top quartile when compared against a selected peer group of upstream oil and gas companies focused on Africa: Addax, Bowleven, Gulf Keystone Petroleum, Gulfsands 
Petroleum, Hardy Oil & Gas, Mart Resources, Petroceltic International, Roc Oil Company, Serica Energy, Soco International, Sterling Energy, Stratic Energy, Tullow Oil, 
Vaalco Energy and White Nile.  If Afren does not achieve at least median performance in the peer group, no shares will be awarded.  At the median level, 30% of the 
shares will vest and there is a sliding scale between median and top quartile performance where only a percentage of the total award will vest.

The first awards under this scheme were granted in June 2008 and will vest in June 2011 subject to meeting the performance criteria detailed above.  Details of the 
awards by Director are included below.

share awards
As part of the incentives to attract the Jefferies, Randall & Dewey technical team, a number of shares were awarded, subject to continuing employment in the most  
part, to the team.  None of this team was eligible to an award under the Long Term Incentive Plan.  The timing of the shares issued range from six months to three years.  
Mr. Shahid Ullah was eligible for some of the shares awarded under this scheme.

The Company’s policy is to grant options or an alternative share-based incentive on appointment and at regular intervals thereafter. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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directors’ contracts
It is the Company’s policy that Executive Directors should have contracts of an indefinite term providing for a maximum of one year’s notice.  The details of the Directors’ 
contracts are summarised below:

Name of Director Date of contract Notice period

Egbert Imomoh  Non-executive Director and Chairman  1 January 2009 3 months

Osman Shahenshah Chief Executive Officer     27 February 2009 12 months

Constantine Ogunbiyi Executive Director 12 June 2008 12 months

Shahid Ullah Chief Operating Officer   16 April 2008 6 months

non-executive directors
All Non-executive Directors have specific terms of engagement and their remuneration is determined by the Board based on independent surveys of fees paid to non-
executive directors of similar companies.  The Chairman, in recognition of his role as both Chairman and ambassador for the Company, is paid a basic fee of £85,000 p.a.  
The basic fee paid to each other Non-executive is £40,000 p.a. pro rata.  All Non-executive Directors participate in the share option scheme, but are not eligible to join 
the Company’s pension scheme.

total shareholder returns

•  Afren plc    •  FTSE All Share Index    •  FTSE AIM Oil & Gas Index    •  Ernst and Young Oil & Gas Index

The graph shows the relative performance of Afren plc against the AIM Oil & Gas Index, the AIM All Share Index and the Ernst and Young Oil & Gas Index since Afren’s 
IPO.  As an AIM listed oil and gas company, Afren would look to compare its performance with other AIM companies and other similar-sized oil and gas companies.   
The selected indices give the most appropriate benchmark for these categories.

audited information
directors’ emoluments

Name of Director

Fees/basic
salary

US$’000

Benefits
in kind

US$’000

Pension
contributions

US$’000

Termination
payments
US$’000

First Oil  
bonus 

US$’000

Annual
bonuses
US$’000

total
2008

us$’000

Total
2007

US$’000

executive

Mr Egbert Imomoh* 426 7 – – 292 324 1,049 699

Mr Constantine Ogunbiyi 380 22 26 – 255 216 899 n/a

Dr Osman Shahenshah 569 37 57 – 670 432 1,765 1,237

Mr Evert Jan Sibinga Mulder 269 – 4 549 – – 822 667

Mr Shahid Ullah 237 11 – – – 100 348 n/a

Mr Brian O’Cathain – – – – – – – 232

1,881 77 87 549 1,217 1,072 4,883 2,835

* Egbert Imomoh’s remuneration relates to his service as an Executive Director to the end of 2008.

14/03/05 14/09/05 14/03/06 14/09/06 14/03/07 14/09/07 14/03/08 14/09/08
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
continued

audited information continued
directors’ emoluments continued

Name of Director

Fees/basic
salary

US$’000

Benefits
in kind

US$’000

Pension
contributions

US$’000

Termination
payments
US$’000

First Oil  
bonus 

US$’000

Annual
bonuses
US$’000

total
2008

us$’000

Total
2007

US$’000

non-executive

Mr Peter Bingham 75 – – – – – 75 70

Dr Rilwanu Lukman 160 – – – – 250 410 170

Mr Guido Pas 75 – – – – – 75 70

Mr John St. John 75 – – – – – 75 58

385 – – – – 250 635 368

Aggregate emoluments 2,266 77 87 549 1,217 1,322 5,518 3,203

Three of the Executive Directors were members of the Company’s defined contribution scheme during the year (2007: three).  

directors’ equity interests
share options
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company granted to or held by the 
Directors.  Details of the options held and granted during the year under the 2005 Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Name of Director

As at
1 January 

2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed
Date

granted

As at 31
December 

2008
Share price

at grant date
Exercise

price
Exercisable

from
Exercisable

to

E Imomoh 133,334 – – – 28.06.05 133,334 36p 20p 28.06.05 27.06.15

133,333 – – – 28.06.05 133,333 36p 20p 01.03.06 27.06.15

133,333 – – – 28.06.05 133,333 36p 20p 01.03.07 27.06.15

250,000 – – – 28.06.05 250,000 36p 50p 28.06.05 27.06.15

250,000 – – – 28.06.05 250,000 36p 50p 01.03.06 27.06.15

166,667 – – – 28.06.05 166,667 36p 100p 28.06.05 27.06.15

166,667 – – – 28.06.05 166,667 36p 100p 01.03.06 27.06.15

166,666 – – – 28.06.05 166,666 36p 100p 01.03.07 27.06.15

200,000 – – – 30.05.06 200,000 63p 63p 30.05.07 29.05.16

200,000 – – – 30.05.06 200,000 63p 63p 30.05.08 29.05.16

200,000 – – – 30.05.06 200,000 63p 63p 30.05.09 29.05.16

25,000 – – – 28.03.07 25,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.07 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.08 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.09 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.10 27.03.17

25,000 – – – 28.03.07 25,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.07 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.08 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.09 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.10 27.03.17

25,000 – – – 28.03.07 25,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.07 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.08 27.03.17

75,000 – – – 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.09 27.03.17

75,000 28.03.07 75,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.10 27.03.17
C Ogunbiyi 33,334 – – – 28.06.05 33,334 36p 20p 28.06.05 27.06.15

33,333 – – – 28.06.05 33,333 36p 20p 01.03.06 27.06.15

33,333 – – – 28.06.05 33,333 36p 20p 01.03.07 27.06.15

75,000 – – – 28.06.05 75,000 36p 50p 28.06.05 27.06.15

75,000 – – – 28.06.05 75,000 36p 50p 01.03.06 27.06.15

83,334 – – – 28.06.05 83,334 36p 100p 28.06.05 27.06.15

83,333 – – – 28.06.05 83,333 36p 100p 01.03.06 27.06.15

83,333 – – – 28.06.05 83,333 36p 100p 01.03.07 27.06.15

66,667 – – – 30.05.06 66,667 63p 63p 30.05.07 29.05.16

66,667 – – – 30.05.06 66,667 63p 63p 30.05.08 29.05.16

66,666 – – – 30.05.06 66,666 63p 63p 30.05.09 29.05.16

100,000 – – – 26.06.07 100,000 67.5p 70p 26.06.08 25.06.17

100,000 – – – 26.06.07 100,000 67.5p 70p 26.06.09 25.06.17
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Name of Director

As at
1 January 

2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed
Date

granted

As at 31
December 

2008
Share price

at grant date
Exercise

price
Exercisable

from
Exercisable

to

C Ogunbiyi 100,000 – – – 26.06.07 100,000 67.5p 70p 26.06.10 25.06.17

continued – 50,000 – – 25.04.08 50,000 144.5p 150p 25.04.09 25.04.18

– 100,000 – – 25.04.08 100,000 144.5p 150p 25.04.10 25.04.18

– 100,000 – – 25.04.08 100,000 144.5p 150p 25.04.11 25.04.18

– 150,000 – – 25.04.08 150,000 144.5p 190p 25.04.09 25.04.18

– 300,000 – – 25.04.08 300,000 144.5p 190p 25.04.10 25.04.18

– 300,000 – – 25.04.08 300,000 144.5p 190p 25.04.11 25.04.18
O Shahenshah 383,334 – – – 28.06.05 383,334 36p 20p 28.06.05 27.06.15

383,333 – – – 28.06.05 383,333 36p 20p 01.03.06 27.06.15

383,333 – – – 28.06.05 383,333 36p 20p 01.03.07 27.06.15

425,001 – – – 28.06.05 425,001 36p 50p 28.06.05 27.06.15

424,999 – – – 28.06.05 424,999 36p 50p 01.03.06 27.06.15

183,334 – – – 28.06.05 183,334 36p 100p 28.06.05 27.06.15

183,333 – – – 28.06.05 183,333 36p 100p 01.03.06 27.06.15

183,333 – – – 28.06.05 183,333 36p 100p 01.03.07 27.06.15

200,000 – – – 30.05.06 200,000 63p 63p 30.05.07 29.05.16

200,000 – – – 30.05.06 200,000 63p 63p 30.05.08 29.05.16

200,000 – – – 30.05.06 200,000 63p 63p 30.05.09 29.05.16

41,667 – – – 28.03.07 41,667 53.5p 80p 28.03.07 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.08 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.09 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.10 27.03.17

41,667 – – – 28.03.07 41,667 53.5p 120p 28.03.07 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.08 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.09 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.10 27.03.17

41,666 – – – 28.03.07 41,666 53.5p 180p 28.03.07 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.08 27.03.17

125,000 – – – 28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.09 27.03.17

125,000   28.03.07 125,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.10 27.03.17
EJ Sibinga Mulder 100,000 – – – 28.03.07 100,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.07 27.03.17

300,000 – – – 28.03.07 300,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.08 27.03.17

300,000 – – – 28.03.07 300,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.09 27.03.17

300,000 – – – 28.03.07 300,000 53.5p 80p 28.03.10 27.03.17

100,000 – – – 28.03.07 100,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.07 27.03.17

300,000 – – – 28.03.07 300,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.08 27.03.17

300,000 – – (150,000)  28.03.07 150,000 53.5p 120p 28.03.09 27.03.17

300,000 – – (300,000)  28.03.07 – 53.5p 120p 28.03.10 n/a

100,000 – – – 28.03.07 100,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.07 27.03.17

300,000 – – – 28.03.07 300,000 53.5p 180p 28.03.08 27.03.17

300,000 – – (300,000)  28.03.07 – 53.5p 180p 28.03.09 n/a

300,000 – – (300,000)  28.03.07 – 53.5p 180p 28.03.10 n/a
P Bingham 62,500 – – – 28.06.05 62,500 36p 50p 28.06.05 27.06.15

62,500 – – – 28.06.05 62,500 36p 50p 01.03.06 27.06.15

43,334 – – – 28.06.05 43,334 36p 100p 28.06.05 27.06.15

43,333 – – – 28.06.05 43,333 36p 100p 01.03.06 27.06.15

43,333 – – – 28.06.05 43,333 36p 100p 01.03.07 27.06.15

72,500 – – – 21.06.07 72,500 69p 70p 21.06.07 20.06.17

72,500 – – – 21.06.07 72,500 69p 70p 20.06.08 20.06.17
R Lukman 62,500 – – (62,500)  28.06.05 – 36p 50p 28.06.05 n/a

62,500 – – (62,500)  28.06.05 – 36p 50p 01.03.06 n/a

43,334 – – (43,334)  28.06.05 – 36p 100p 28.06.05 n/a

43,333 – – (43,333)  28.06.05 – 36p 100p 01.03.06 n/a

43,333 – – (43,333)  28.06.05 – 36p 100p 01.03.07 n/a

500,000 – – (500,000)  18.12.06 – 50p 50p 18.12.06 n/a
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
continued

Name of Director

As at
1 January 

2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed
Date

granted

As at 31
December 

2008
Share price

at grant date
Exercise

price
Exercisable

from
Exercisable

to

G Pas 62,500 – – – 28.06.05 62,500 36p 50p 28.06.05 27.06.15

62,500 – – – 28.06.05 62,500 36p 50p 01.03.06 27.06.15

43,334 – – – 28.06.05 43,334 36p 100p 28.06.05 27.06.15

43,333 – – – 28.06.05 43,333 36p 100p 01.03.06 27.06.15

43,333 – – – 28.06.05 43,333 36p 100p 01.03.07 27.06.15

72,500 – – – 21.06.07 72,500 69p 70p 21.06.07 20.06.17

72,500 – – – 21.06.07 72,500 69p 70p 21.06.08 20.06.17
J St. John 132,000 – – – 21.06.07 132,000 69p 70p 21.06.07 20.06.17

132,000 – – – 21.06.07 132,000 69p 70p 21.06.08 20.06.17

136,000 – – – 21.06.07 136,000 69p 70p 21.06.09 20.06.17
Total 13,105,000 1,000,000 – (1,805,000)  12,300,000

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for the share options during the financial year.

The options issued on 28 June 2005, 28 March 2007, 25 April 2008 and those issued to Peter Bingham and Guido Pas on 21 June 2007 have no performance criteria 
attached to them.  Those issued to John St. John on 21 June 2007 only vest if a closing share price for the Company of over £1.00 has been achieved for a three-month 
period.  The options issued on 30 May 2006 will only vest if the share price has increased by 40% over the market price at date of grant for a period of 10 days. 

long term incentive Plan
On 1 June 2008, awards were made to Afren Directors and employees under the Afren Performance Share Plan.  Shares were awarded to each member of the scheme 
that will vest in full only if Afren achieves top quartile performance against its peers of oil and gas upstream companies with significant interests in Africa over a three-
year period, based on Total Shareholder Return (TSR).  No shares will vest if Afren does not at least perform at the median level.  At the median level, 30% of the shares 
will vest and there is a straight-line calculation between the median level and the top quartile.  Awards under this scheme were as follows:

Director Date of award Date of vesting
Maximum number  

of shares

Egbert Imomoh 01.06.2008 01.06.2011 271,084

Constantine Ogunbiyi 01.06.2008 01.06.2011 240,964

Osman Shahenshah 01.06.2008 01.06.2011 361,446

shares on joining
On joining, Shahid Ullah was granted shares which will be issued for a nominal consideration subject to certain time constraints.  The amounts and timing of these 
awards are as follows:

Date Number shares

Quarter 4, 2008 375,000

Quarter 2, 2009 1,087,500

Quarter 4, 2009 562,500

Total 2,025,000

The closing market price of the ordinary shares at 31 December 2008 was £0.26 and the range during the year was £0.26 to £1.86. 

founders’ scheme
As presented to the AGM in June 2007, a Founders’ Scheme has been introduced.  Under this scheme the Founders of Afren undertook to invest a total of US$5.0 
million equivalent in Afren shares prior to 30 September 2008 and were granted a total of 40 million warrants at an exercise price of £1.60 per share but only if the 
share price has reached £2.50 for at least 30 days (an increase of 56% above the exercise price).  The warrants expire in December 2009.  The shares were purchased at 
an average price of £1.28 and the agreements were finalised in January 2009.  The warrants were subject to certain anti-dilution clauses and as such will be repriced in 
the recently announced private placement to the lower of the share price of the financing over the five days prior to the issue of the shares or the issue price of the new 
shares plus 20%.  The performance criteria is similarly repriced to 56% above the warrant price.

aPProval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 6 May 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

mr john st. john
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
6 May 2009
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  The directors are required by the IAS Regulation to prepare the Group 
financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and have also elected to prepare the parent company 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union.  The financial statements are also required by law to be properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.  

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows.  This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition 
criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial 
statements’.  In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRSs.  However, directors are also required to:

• properly select and apply accounting policies;
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; and 
•  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular 

transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website.  Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Afren plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Afren plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise 
the Group Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Company 
Statements of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 33.  These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.  We have 
also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.  Our audit work has been undertaken  
so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

resPective resPonsiBilities of directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing  
(UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.  We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.  The information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information 
presented in the Chairman and Chief Executive’s Statement, the Review of Operations and the Financial Review that is cross referred from the Business Review section  
of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements.  We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.  
Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit oPinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.  An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.  It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.  In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. 

oPinion
In our opinion:
•  the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at  

31 December 2008 and of its loss for the year then ended;
•  the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance with the 

provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008; 
•  the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the  

Companies Act 1985; and
• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

deloitte llP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
London
United Kingdom

6 May 2009
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Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008

               Group

Notes
2008

us$000’s
2007

US$000’s

Revenue 5 42,501 –

Cost of sales (70,980) –

Gross loss (28,479) –

Administrative expenses (32,491) (18,100)

Other operating income/(expenses) 

– derivative financial instruments 20 54,682 (5,983)

– impairment of oil and gas assets 6 (38,212) (12,037)

Operating loss 7 (44,500) (36,120)

Investment revenue 9 5,286 2,515 

Finance costs 10 (25,760) (5,171)

Other gains and (losses)

– foreign currency losses (15,382) (263)

– fair value of financial liabilities 20 26,607 –

– impairment charge on available for sale investments 14 (2,296) –

Loss before tax (56,045) (39,039)

Income tax expense 26 (520) –

Loss after tax (56,565) (39,039)

Loss per share

Basic and diluted 11 15.1c 16.5c

All operations were continuing throughout both years.
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2008

               Group               Company

Notes
2008

us$000’s
2007

US$000’s
2008

us$000’s
2007

US$000’s

assets

Non-current assets

Intangible oil and gas assets 12 148,809 49,656 – 3,868 

Property, plant and equipment

– oil and gas assets 13 530,325 140,926 – –

– other 13 5,813 1,545 2,299 878 

Investments in subsidiaries 14 – – 43,062 32,849 

Derivative financial instruments 20 20,354 – – –

Available for sale investments 14 211 1,475 211 1,475 

705,512 193,602 45,572 39,070 

Current assets

Inventories 15 13,276 3,090 – –

Trade and other receivables 17 56,030 12,626 330,731 139,885 

Derivative financial instruments 20 29,161 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 18 117,719 91,783 39,106 39,937 

216,186 107,499 369,837 179,822 

Total assets 921,698 301,101 415,409 218,892 

liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 (145,755) (40,019) (37,749) (10,924)

Borrowings 20 (111,218) – – –

(256,973) (40,019) (37,749) (10,924)

Net current (liabilities)/assets (40,787) 67,480 332,088 168,898 

Non-current liabilities

Provision for decommissioning 21 (20,276) – – –

Borrowings 20 (293,946) (146,691) – (69,206)

Derivative financial instruments 20 – (4,575) – –

(314,222) (151,266) – (69,206)

Total liabilities (571,195) (191,285) (37,749) (80,130)

Net assets 350,503 109,816 377,660 138,762 

equity

Share capital 25 8,806 5,365 8,806 5,365 

Share premium 25 446,958 146,245 446,958 146,245 

Other reserves 30 18,173 16,872 10,416 19,340 

Accumulated losses (123,434) (58,666) (88,520) (32,188)

Total equity 350,503 109,816 377,660 138,762 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 6 May 2009.  They were signed on its behalf by:

osman shahenshah
Chief Executive
6 May 2009
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Cash Flow Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

               Group               Company

Notes
2008

us$000’s
2007

US$000’s
2008

us$000’s
2007

US$000’s

Operating loss for the year (44,500) (36,120) (45,786) (15,918)

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 30,473 973 632 675 

Derivative financial instruments (54,682) 5,983 – –

Impairment of oil and gas assets 38,212 12,037 – 377 

Provision for inventories – spare parts 1,206 – – –

Other operating expenses – investment write off – – – 796 

Share-based payments charge 28 10,819 1,995 6,691 1,995 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (18,472) (15,132) (38,463) (12,075)

Increase in trade and other operating receivables (30,757) (4,287) (7,550) (3,645)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other operating payables 23,018 10,183 30,861 (3,144)

Derivative financial instruments realised losses (817) – – –

Corporation tax paid (520) – – –

Currency translation adjustments 737 (171) 710 (166)

Net cash used in operating activities (26,811) (9,407) (14,442) (19,030)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment:

– oil and gas assets (224,297) (63,060) – –

– other (5,115) (1,216) (2,051) (729)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure (62,396) (24,538) – (211)

Advances to Group undertakings – – (175,788) (52,315)

Investment in subsidiaries – – (10,761) –

Increase in inventories – spare parts (2,709) – – –

Purchase of investments (1,501) – (1,501) –

Investment revenue 5,349 2,372 4,529 1,944 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 29 (168,749) – – –

Net cash used in investing activities (459,418) (86,442) (185,572) (51,311)

Issue of ordinary share capital 238,313 84,625 238,313 84,625 

Costs of share issues (7,663) (3,219) (7,663) (3,219)

Proceeds from borrowings 362,502 84,000 – –

Borrowing costs (11,597) (7,338) – –

Incentive paid on early conversion of bonds (9,332) – (9,332) –

Repayment of borrowings (29,032) – – –

Interest and financing fees paid (16,282) (6,855) (7,399) (7,317)

Net cash provided by financing activities 526,909 151,213 213,919 74,089 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 40,680 55,364 13,905 3,748 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 91,783 35,665 39,937 35,521 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (14,744) 754 (14,736) 668 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 117,719 91,783 39,106 39,937 

The Group cash and cash equivalents balance at 31 December 2008 included US$58.9 million to which the Group has restricted access, as discussed further in note 18 
(Company: US$nil).

During the year a material non-cash transaction occurred, being the early conversion of the Group’s convertible bonds (see note 22).
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2008

Share
capital

US$000’s

Share
premium
account

US$000’s

Other
reserves

US$000’s

Accumulated
losses

US$000’s

Total
equity

US$000’s

group

At 1 January 2007 3,752 58,266 16,042 (24,096) 53,964 

Issue of share capital 1,613 91,198 – – 92,811 

Deductable costs of share issues – (3,219) – – (3,219)

Share-based payments for services – – 1,936 – 1,936 

Other share-based payments – – 3,454 – 3,454 

Reserves transfer relating to convertible bonds – – (2,974) 2,974 –

Reserves transfer on exercise of options – – (1,495) 1,495 –

Revaluation of available for sale investments – – 227 – 227 

Translation differences – – (318) – (318)

Net loss for the year – – – (39,039) (39,039)

Balance at 31 December 2007 5,365 146,245 16,872 (58,666) 109,816 

Issue of share capital 2,021 238,537 – – 240,558 

Deductible costs of share issues – (7,663) – – (7,663)

Issue of loan notes, net of costs (note 23) – – 7,350 – 7,350 

Share-based payments for services – – 10,701 – 10,701 

Other share-based payments – – 118 – 118 

Reserves transfer relating to convertible bonds – – (1,789) 1,789 –

Reserves transfer on exercise of options – – (3,849) 3,849 –

Revaluation of available for sale investments – – (472) – (472)

Conversion of bonds into shares 1,420 69,839 (9,500) 9,500 71,259 

Redesignation of warrants as financial liabilities (note 20) – – (3,395) (23,711) (27,106)

Translation differences – – 2,188 – 2,188 

Other movements – – (51) 370 319 

Net loss for the year – – – (56,565) (56,565)

Balance at 31 December 2008 8,806 446,958 18,173 (123,434) 350,503 
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Share
capital

US$000’s

Share
premium
account

US$000’s

Other
reserves

US$000’s

Accumulated
losses

US$000’s

Total
equity

US$000’s

company

At 1st January 2007 3,752 58,266 18,743 (11,065) 69,696 

Issue of share capital 1,613 91,198 – – 92,811 

Deductible costs of share issues – (3,219) – – (3,219)

Share-based payments for services – – 1,936 – 1,936 

Other share-based payments – – 3,454 – 3,454 

Reserves transfer relating to convertible bonds – – (2,974) 2,974 –

Reserves transfer on exercise of options – – (1,495) 1,495 –

Revaluation of available for sale investments – – 227 – 227 

Exchange differences – – (551) – (551)

Net loss for the year – – – (25,592) (25,592)

Balance at 31 December 2007 5,365 146,245 19,340 (32,188) 138,762 

Issue of share capital 2,021 238,537 – – 240,558 

Deductible costs of share issues – (7,663) – – (7,663)

Share-based payments for services – – 6,573 – 6,573 

Reserves transfer relating to convertible bonds – – (1,789) 1,789 –

Conversion of bonds into shares 1,420 69,839 (9,500) 9,500 71,259 

Reserves transfer on exercise of options – – (2,932) 2,932 –

Other share-based payments – – 118 – 118 

Revaluation of available for sale investment – – (472) – (472)

Exchange differences – – 2,154 – 2,154 

Redesignation of warrants as financial liabilities – – (3,395) (23,711) (27,106)

Other movements – – 319 – 319 

Net loss for the year – – – (46,842) (46,842)

Balance at 31 December 2008 8,806 446,958 10,416 (88,520) 377,660 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

1. general information
Afren plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985.  The address of the registered office is given on the inside back cover.   
The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in note 4 and in the Chairman and Chief Executive’s Statement and Review of Operations  
on pages 11 to 33.  These financial statements are presented in US dollars. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2.

adoption of new and revised standards
In the current year, two Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee are effective for the current period.  These are: IFRIC 11 
IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions and IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.   
The adoption of these Interpretations has not led to any changes in the Group’s accounting policies.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these financial statements were  
in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had not yet been adopted by the EU):

IFRS 1 (amended) / IAS 27 (amended) Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
IFRS 2 (amended)  Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
IFRS 3 (revised 2008)  Business Combinations
IFRS 8  Operating Segments
IAS 1 (revised 2007)  Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 23 (revised 2007)  Borrowing Costs
IAS 27 (revised 2008)   Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 32 (amended) / IAS 1 (amended) Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
IFRIC 12  Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 15  Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
IFRIC 16  Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group 
except for:
• additional segment disclosures when IFRS 8 comes into effect for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009;
•  treatment of acquisition of subsidiaries when IFRS 3 comes into effect for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the  

first annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

2. accounting Policies
functional and presentation currencies
The Company’s major subsidiaries changed their functional currencies from local currency to US dollar in prior year.  In July 2008, the sterling denominated convertible 
bond held by Afren plc converted into shares and following this, Afren management reviewed the functional currency of the holding company and concluded that it 
should be changed from pound sterling to US dollars, aligning it with all the major subsidiaries in the Group.  The majority of the Company’s transactions, in value, and 
assets and liabilities are now in US dollar and hence it was appropriate to change the functional currency.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  The financial statements have also been prepared  
in accordance with IFRS adopted for use in the European Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments and oil inventory subject to certain 
commodity swap arrangements that have been measured at fair value. 

going concern
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern basis of accounting.  The use of this basis of accounting takes into consideration  
the Group’s current and forecast financing position, additional details of which are provided in note 20 and the Going Concern section of the Directors’ Report.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to the  
31 December each year.  Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operational policies of an entity so as to gain benefit from 
its activities.  Entities over which the Company exercises joint control are accounted for using proportional consolidation, under which the Group records its share of 
revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities.

As a consolidated Group income statement is published, a separate profit and loss account for the parent Company has not been published in accordance with section 
230(4) of the Companies Act 1985.
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2. accounting Policies continued
Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method.  The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of fair values, at the date of 
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination.  The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3  
are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business 
combination, the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Property, plant and equipment – other
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation and any provision for impairment.

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of the tangible fixed assets, less anticipated disposal proceeds, on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful economic life as follows:

Leasehold improvements   over life of lease
Fixtures and equipment  over three years
Computer hardware and software  over three years
Gas plant  over ten years

exploration, evaluation and oil and gas assets
The Group follows the successful efforts method of accounting for exploration and evaluation (‘E&E’) costs.  All licence acquisition, exploration and evaluation costs are 
initially capitalised as intangible fixed assets in costs centres by field or exploration area, as appropriate, pending determination of commerciality of the relevant property.  
Directly attributable administration costs are capitalised insofar as they relate to specific exploration activities.  Pre-licence costs and general exploration costs not specific 
to any particular licence or prospect are expensed as incurred.

If prospects are deemed to be impaired (‘unsuccessful’) on completion of the evaluation, the associated costs are charged to the income statement.  If the field 
is determined to be commercially viable, the attributable costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment in single field cost centres.  These costs are then 
depreciated on a unit of production basis.

All field development costs are capitalised as property, plant and equipment.  Property, plant and equipment related to production activities are amortised in accordance 
with the Group’s Depletion and Amortisation accounting policy.

revenues
Revenue represents the sales value, net of VAT and royalties paid in kind or where the financial obligation does not fall directly to Afren, of the Group’s share of oil liftings 
in the year together with gas and tariff income.  Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

commercial reserves
Commercial reserves are proven and probable oil and gas reserves, which are defined as the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which 
geological, geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with a specified degree of certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs and which 
are considered commercially producible.  There should be a 50% statistical probability that the actual quantity of recoverable reserves will be more than the amount 
estimated as a proven and probable reserves and a 50% statistical probability that it will be less.

depletion and amortisation – oil and gas assets
All expenditure carried within each field is amortised from the commencement of production on a unit of production basis, which is the ratio of oil and gas production 
in the period to the estimated quantities of commercial reserves at the end of the period plus the production in the period, generally on a field-by-field basis.  Costs used 
in the unit of production calculation comprise the net book value of capitalised costs plus the estimated future field development costs.  Changes in the estimates of 
commercial reserves or future field development costs are dealt with prospectively.

Where there has been a change in economic conditions that indicates a possible impairment in a discovery field, the recoverability of the net book value relating to that 
field is assessed by comparison with the estimated discounted future cash flows based on management’s expectations of future oil and gas prices and future costs.

Any impairment identified is charged to the Income Statement as additional depletion and amortisation.  Where conditions giving rise to impairment subsequently reverse, 
the effect of the impairment charge is also reversed as a credit to the Income Statement, net of any depreciation that would have been charged since the impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

2. accounting Policies continued
decommissioning
Provision for decommissioning is recognised in full when the related facilities are installed.  A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is also recognised as part 
of the cost of the related property, plant and equipment.  The amount recognised is the estimated cost of decommissioning, discounted to its net present value, and is 
reassessed each year in accordance with local conditions and requirements.

Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning or decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision, and  
a corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment.

The unwinding of the discount on the decommissioning is included as a finance cost.

impairment
Non-current assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount.  Such triggering 
events are defined in IFRS 6 in respect of E&E assets and include the point at which determination is made as to whether commercial reserves exist.

Where there has been an indication of a possible impairment, management assesses the recoverability of the carrying value of the asset by comparison with the 
estimated discounted future net cash flows based on management’s expectation of future production, oil prices and costs.  Any identified impairment is charged to  
the Income Statement.

investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries held by the Company as fixed assets are stated at cost less any provision for permanent diminution of value.

foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (its functional 
currency, which is US dollar for the majority of the subsidiaries).  For the purpose of consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each Group 
company are expressed in US dollars, the presentational currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded 
at the rate of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.  At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising are included in the profit and loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of each Group company are translated into US dollars at exchange rates 
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.  Exchange differences arising are classified  
as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve.  Such translation differences are recognised as income or as expense in the period in which the operation  
is disposed of.

operating leases
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the relevant lease.

taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the rates of tax expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised.
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2. accounting Policies continued
share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”.

The Group makes equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees and other third parties.  Equity-settled share-based schemes are measured at fair value 
(excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant, measured by use of an option valuation model.  The expected life used in the model 
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. 

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the period to exercise, based on the 
Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

The Company is liable for Employer’s National Insurance on the difference between the market value at date of exercise and exercise price.  This expense is accrued by 
reference to the share price of the Company at the balance sheet date.

Pensions
Payments to a defined contribution pension scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due.

inventories
Inventories (spare parts) are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs comprise direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those 
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less costs 
to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Inventories (oil and butane inventories) are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value other than certain oil inventory in Côte d’Ivoire, which is settled via  
a reduction in the amount recoverable in respect of realised gas sales from the Lion Gas Plant.  The inventory subject to this swap is recorded at its fair value.

finance costs and debt
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Financial costs of debt are allocated to periods over the term of the related debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount.  Arrangement fees and issue costs are deducted 
from the debt proceeds on initial recognition of the liability and are amortised and charged to the Income Statement as finance costs over the term of the debt.

financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual provision of the instrument. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
The Group has entered into swaps and call options to economically protect against exposures to variability in the price of a proportion of Okoro and Côte d’Ivoire crude 
oil production for 2008 to 2012.  Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value.  The gains and losses arising out of changes in fair value of these derivative 
financial instruments are accounted for in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Available for sale investments
Available for sale investments are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of available for sale 
investments are recognised directly in equity, until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity is included in the profit or loss for the period.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition of their fair value.  Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income 
statement when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Trade payables
Trade payables are stated at their fair value.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.  An equity instrument is any contract 
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 
received net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

2. accounting Policies continued
Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an equity component.  At the date of issue, the fair value of the 
liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt.  The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible 
loan notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the Group, is included in equity.  
Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible loan notes based on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue.  
The portion relating to the equity component is charged directly against equity.

The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt to the liability component of 
the instrument.  The difference between this amount and the interest paid is added to the carrying amount of the convertible loan note.

3. critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management has made the following judgements that may have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

oil and gas assets
Management is required to assess the oil and gas assets for indicators of impairment.  Note 13 discloses the carrying value of tangible oil and gas assets.  As part of this 
assessment, management has carried out an impairment test (ceiling test) on the tangible oil and gas assets (Okoro Setu and Côte d’Ivoire assets).  This test compares 
the carrying value of the assets at the balance sheet date with the expected discounted cash flows from each project.  For the discounted cash flows to be calculated, 
management has used a production profile based on its best estimate of proven and probable reserves of the assets and a range of assumptions, including an internal  
oil price profile benchmarked to mean analysts’ consensus and a 10% pre-tax discount rate.

intangible assets
Management is required to assess impairment in respect of intangible exploration assets.  Note 12 discloses the carrying value of such assets.  The triggering events  
are defined in IFRS 6.  In making the assessment management is required to make judgements on the status of each project and the future plans towards finding 
commercial reserves. 

share-based payments
Management is required to make assumptions in respect of the inputs used to calculate the fair values of share-based payment arrangements.  Details of these can be 
found in note 28.

fair value of côte d’ivoire acquisition
The assets and liabilities in Côte d’Ivoire acquired during the year have been recorded at fair value at the completion date, as outlined further in note 29.  The estimates  
of such fair values required significant judgement to be applied, particularly in respect of oil and gas assets, inventory and decommissioning provisions.

decommissioning
The Group has decommissioning obligations in Nigeria and Côte d’Ivoire.  The extent to which a provision is required depends on the legal requirements at the date  
of decommissioning, the costs and timing of work and the discount rate to be applied.

financial risk management
In respect of financial risk management, at the balance sheet date, the Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents; trade and other receivables and  
its derivative asset. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments as they fall due.  The Group uses projected cash flows to 
monitor funding requirements for the Group’s activities.  Additional details in respect of the Group’s financing facilities are in note 20.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates is mitigated by regular reviews of available fixed and variable rate debts and taking the most 
favourable for the Group’s needs.  The interest on borrowings from BNP Paribas, Sojitz and FCMB is based on LIBOR plus a margin and therefore the interest charged  
is affected by movement in LIBOR. 

credit risk management 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter-party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.  The Group reviews the credit risk of the 
entities that it sells its products to or that it enters into contractual arrangements with and will obtain guarantees and commercial letters of credit as may be considered 
necessary where risks are significant to the Group.  The Group’s business is diversified in terms of both region and the number of counter-parties and, other than 
transactions with major oil companies with high credit rating, the Group does not have significant exposure to any single counter-party or group of counter-parties 
with similar characteristics.  The credit risk on cash is limited because the majority is deposited with banks with good credit ratings assigned by international credit rating 
agencies.  The Group’s total maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2008 was US$223 million made up of cash and bank balances, derivative financial 
instruments and trade and other receivables.
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4. segmental rePorting
geographical segments
The Group currently operates in three geographical markets: Nigeria, Côte d’Ivoire and Other West Africa.  This is the basis on which the Group records its primary 
segment information.  Unallocated operating expenses, assets and liabilities relate to the general management, financing and administration of the Group.

2008
Nigeria 

US$000’s
Côte d’Ivoire 

US$000’s

Other  
West Africa

US$000’s
Unallocated

US$000’s
Consolidated

US$000’s

Sales revenue by origin 37,117 5,384 – –  42,501 

Operating loss before derivative financial instruments (33,458) (7,888) (29,013) (28,823) (99,182)

Derivative financial instruments gains 13,338 41,344 – – 54,682 

Segment result (20,120) 33,456 (29,013) (28,823) (44,500)

Investment revenue 5,286 

Finance costs (25,760)

Other gains and losses – impairment charge on available for sale investment (2,296)

Other gains and losses – fair value of financial liabilities 26,607 

Other gains and losses – foreign currency losses (15,382)

Loss before tax (56,045)

Segment assets 538,840 237,591 80,899 64,368 921,698 

Segment liabilities (351,655) (160,628) (18,008) (40,904) (571,195)

Capital additions – oil and gas assets 280,076 107 – – 280,183 

Capital additions – oil and gas assets (acquisition of subsidiaries) – 144,428 – – 144,428 

Capital additions – exploration and evaluation 51,866 387 43,566 – 95,819 

Capital additions – exploration and evaluation (acquisition of subsidiaries) – 35,502 – – 35,502 

Capital additions – other 2,703 561 – 2,293 5,557 

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation (25,295) (4,535) – (643) (30,473)

Impairment of oil and gas assets (9,222) – (28,990) – (38,212)

Impairment of available for sale investments – – – (2,296) (2,296)

2007
Nigeria 

US$000’s
Côte d’Ivoire 

US$000’s

Other  
West Africa 

US$000’s
Unallocated 

US$000’s
Consolidated 

US$000’s

Sales revenue by origin – – – – –

Operating loss before derivative financial instruments (10,109) – (4,906) (15,122) (30,137)

Derivative financial instruments losses (5,983) – – – (5,983)

Segment result (16,092) – (4,906) (15,122) (36,120)

Investment revenue 2,515 

Finance costs (5,171)

Other gains and losses – foreign currency losses (263)

Loss before tax (39,039)

Segment assets 210,254 – 45,993 44,854 301,101 

Segment liabilities (108,780) – (2,516) (79,989) (191,285)

Capital additions – oil and gas assets 92,450 – – – 92,450 

Capital additions – exploration and evaluation 9,944 – 12,002 – 21,946 

Capital additions – other 484 – 4 728 1,216 

Depreciation (298) – – (675) (973)

Impairment of oil and gas assets (7,128) – (4,909) – (12,037)

Business segments
The operations of the Group comprise one class of business, being oil and gas exploration, development and production.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

5. revenue

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Oil revenue 35,699 –

Gas revenue 6,802 –

42,501 –

6. imPairment of oil and gas assets

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Impairment of tangible oil and gas assets 6,044 –

Exploration costs written off 32,168 11,660 

Pre-licence costs written off – 377

38,212 12,037

Impairment of oil and gas assets includes US$23.8 million (2007: US$nil) relating to Keta Block in Ghana, US$6.0 million (2007: US$nil) relating to Eremor Block in 
Nigeria, US$1.0 million (2007: US$7.1 million) relating to the Ofa well test operations in Nigeria, US$1.9 million (2007: US$2.4 million) relating to the Themis Marin licence 
in Gabon and US$3.3 million (2007: US$nil) relating to the Iris Marin licence in Gabon.  In 2007 US$2.1 million costs of the Doungou well on the La Noumbi licence in 
Congo (Brazzaville) were written off.

7. oPerating loss
The operating loss for the year is stated after charging:

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Staff costs (note 8) 28,343 12,886 

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation 30,473 973 

Property lease rentals 1,843 1,289 

FPSO lease rentals 16,747 –

Provision for inventories – spares 1,206 –

An analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 166 174 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:

– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 173 100 

Total audit fees 339 274 

– Tax services 250 76 

– Corporate finance services 97 156 

– Recruitment and remuneration services – 48 

– Other services 174 50 

Total non-audit fees 521 330 

Corporate finance services primarily represents due diligence work performed in connection with corporate transaction activities of the Group.  Other services represent 
amounts in respect of the review of the Group’s and Nigerian subsidiaries’ interim results.

During the year a proportion of the Group’s staff costs shown above is recharged to the Group’s joint venture partners and a proportion is capitalised into the cost of 
intangible and tangible oil and gas assets under the Group’s accounting policy for exploration, evaluation and oil and gas assets.
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8. staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) employed was as follows:

2008 2007

Administration 16 9 

Professional 76 29 

92 38 

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Wages and salaries 16,036 8,462 

Share-based payments 10,670 1,759 

Social security costs 892 2,348 

Pension costs 745 317 

28,343 12,886 

Details of Directors’ remuneration are provided in the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited.

9. investment revenue

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Interest on bank deposits 5,286 2,515

10. finance costs

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Convertible bond interest payable  5,512  10,514 

Incentive on early conversion of bonds 9,332 –

Bank interest payable  19,750  3,198 

Other finance costs  6,905  2,530 

Interest and unwinding of discount on loan notes  836  –  

Unwinding of discount on decommissioning  350 –

 42,685 16,242 

Less: capitalised interest (16,925) (11,071)

 25,760 5,171 

Capitalised interest includes all the interest charged relating to the Okoro field development financing facilty up to First Oil, plus a share thereafter during completion 
of the drilling programme.  It also includes a proportion of the FCMB loan interest and the convertible bond interest.  The effective interest rate used for the interest 
capitalisation is 11.1% and 15.2% in respect of the FCMB loan and the convertible bond respectively.  The Okoro loan interest is based on LIBOR plus a margin of 
between 4.5% and 5.75%.  Upon conversion of the bond interest expense was capitalised based on rates of between 12.2% and 13.7%. 

In July, an agreement was reached for early conversion of the £41.25 million Senior Unsecured Bonds resulting in a one-off conversion incentive of US$9.3 million being 
paid to the holders of the convertible bonds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

11. loss Per ordinary share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year after taxation of US$56,565,000 (2007: US$39,039,000) and 373,370,052 ordinary shares  
(2007: 236,862,944), being the weighted average number of shares in issue for the year.  As there is a loss for the year, there is no difference between the basic and 
diluted earnings per share.

2008 2007

Basic and diluted 15.1¢ 16.5¢

12. intangiBle oil and gas assets
Costs of exploration – pending determination

group
us$000’s

Company
US$000’s

At 1 January 2007 87,846 3,657 

Additions 21,946 142 

Transfer to tangible oil assets (48,476) –

Amounts written off (11,660) –

Foreign exchange differences – 69 

At 1 January 2008 49,656 3,868 

Additions 95,819 401 

Acquisition of subsidiaries (see note 29) 35,502 –

Transfer to a subsidiary company – (4,269)

Amounts written off (see note 6) (32,168) –

At 31 December 2008 148,809 –

The Group’s carrying value at 31 December 2008 includes US$28.9 million (2007: US$28.0 million) relating to the La Noumbi permit in Congo (Brazzaville) and  
US$17.2 million (2007: US$16.8 million) in respect of JDZ Block One of the Nigeria – São Tomé & Príncipe Joint Development Zone (‘JDZ Block One’).

Additions in the year includes the Group’s farm-in for the development of Ebok field located offshore South East Nigeria.  The carrying value at 31 December 2008 in 
respect of Ebok was US$47.0 million.  In addition, the Group completed the acquisition of its interest in the Keta Block, Ghana, and Block CI-01, in Côte d’lvoire, during 
the year.  The carrying value at 31 December was US$13.2 million and US$35.9 million respectively.

Additional amounts are payable in relation to JDZ Block One if proved reserves are discovered and upon approval of a field development programme.  The amount payable 
is based on the level of proven reserves and prevailing oil and gas prices and is subject to adjustment upon any subsequent amendments to such oil and gas reserves. 

Additional amounts are payable in relation to the Ebok field upon meeting certain operational criteria and the approval of the field’s development plan by the  
Nigerian Government.
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13. ProPerty, Plant and equiPment

Production 
US$000’s

Development 
US$000’s

Gas plant 
US$000’s

Total  
US$000’s

grouP

oil and gas assets

Cost

At 1 January 2007 – – – –

Transfer from intangible assets – 48,476 – 48,476 

Additions – 92,450 – 92,450 

At 1 January 2008 – 140,926 – 140,926 

Additions 125,221 154,855 107 280,183 

Acquisition of subsidiaries (see note 29) 89,850 – 54,578 144,428 

Transfers 289,737 (289,737) – –

At 31 December 2008 504,808 6,044 54,685 565,537 

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation

At 1 January 2008 – – – –

Charge for the year 27,804 – 1,364 29,168 

Impairment charge – 6,044 – 6,044 

At 31 December 2008 27,804 6,044 1,364 35,212 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2007 – 140,926 – 140,926 

At 31 December 2008 477,004 – 53,321 530,325 

During the year, the carrying amount in respect of the Okoro field in Nigeria was transferred from development to producing assets.

Leasehold
improvements

US$000’s

Fixtures and
equipment
US$000’s

Computer
hardware

and software
US$000’s

Total
US$000’s

grouP

other property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2007 723 621 387 1,731 

Additions 487 464 265 1,216 

Foreign exchange movements 12 5 9 26 

At 1 January 2008 1,222 1,090 661 2,973 

Additions 1,786 1,716 2,066 5,568 

Foreign exchange movements – 3 – 3 

At 31 December 2008 3,008 2,809 2,727 8,544 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2007 157 192 77 426 

Charge for the year 581 212 180 973 

Foreign exchange movements 14 9 6 29 

At 1 January 2008 752 413 263 1,428 

Charge for the year 372 429 504 1,305 

Foreign exchange movements – (1) (1) (2)

At 31 December 2008 1,124 841 766 2,731 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2007 470 677 398 1,545 

At 31 December 2008 1,884 1,968 1,961 5,813 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

13. ProPerty, Plant and equiPment continued

Leasehold
improvements

US$000’s

Fixtures and
equipment
US$000’s

Computer
hardware

and software
US$000’s

Total
US$000’s

comPany

other property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2007 522 374 251 1,147 

Additions 233 291 205 729 

Foreign exchange movements 12 5 8 25 

At 1 January 2008 767 670 464 1,901 

Additions 340 378 1,333 2,051 

Foreign exchange movements – 1 – 1 

At 31 December 2008 1,107 1,049 1,797 3,953 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2007 142 114 63 319 

Charge for the year 401 146 128 675 

Foreign exchange movements 14 9 6 29 

At 1 January 2008 557 269 197 1,023 

Charge for the year 92 228 312 632 

Foreign exchange movements – (1) – (1)

At 31 December 2008 649 496 509 1,654 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2007 210 401 267 878 

At 31 December 2008 458 553 1,288 2,299 

14. investments

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

subsidiaries

Shares at cost in subsidiary undertakings – – 43,062 32,849 
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14. investments continued
A list of the significant investments in subsidiaries and associated undertakings, including the name, proportion of ownership interest, country of operation and country 
of registration, is given below:

Name Principal activity %
Country of
operation

Country of
registration

Directly held

Afren Block One Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 UK England & Wales

Afren Nigeria Holdings Limited Holding company 100 UK England & Wales

Afren Gabon Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Gabon England & Wales

Gabon Investments (Iris Marin) Pty Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Gabon Australia

Gabon Investments (Themis Marin) Pty Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Gabon Australia

Afren CI (UK) Limited  
(formerly Afren Production and Shipping Limited) Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 UK England & Wales

Afren Congo Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Congo Bahamas

Afren Energy International plc Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 UK England & Wales

Afren Energy Ghana Holdings Limited Holding company 100 Ghana Bahamas

Afren USA Inc. Service company 100 USA USA, Delaware

Indirectly held

Afren JDZ One Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Norway Norway

Dangote Energy Equity Resources Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 49 (i) Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Energy Resources Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Okoro Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 UK England & Wales

Afren Global Energy Resources Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 50 (i) Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Onshore Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Block 90 Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Oil and Gas Development Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Afren OML 46 Resources Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Investments Oil & Gas (Nigeria) Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Energy Services Limited Service company 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Afren Nigeria Holdings (Nigeria) Limited Holding company 100 Nigeria Nigeria

Zetah Noumbi Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 14 Congo Bahamas

Afren CI (II) Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 UK England & Wales

Afren CI One Corporation Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Côte d’lvoire Cayman

Afren Côte d’lvoire Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Côte d’lvoire Cayman

Lion GPL SA Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Côte d’lvoire Côte d’lvoire

Afren Energy Ghana Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Ghana Bahamas

Afren Resources Limited Oil and gas exploration, development and production 100 Nigeria Nigeria

(i) Accounted for via proportional consolidation as the Group exercises joint control over its operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

14. investments continued
All operating companies are engaged in the exploration, development and production of oil and gas properties whilst holding and service companies manage the 
operating companies.

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Available for sale investments

At the beginning of the year 1,475 1,224 1,475 1,224 

Purchase in the year 1,501 – 1,501 –

Revaluation 647 227 647 227 

Impairment charge (2,296) – (2,296) –

Foreign exchange 3 24 3 24 

Reversal of revaluation gain (1,119) – (1,119) –

Fair value at 31 December 211 1,475 211 1,475 

15. inventories

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Oil and gas inventory  8,652 – – –

Spare parts 4,624 3,090 – –

13,276 3,090 – –

Spare parts include a provision of US$1.2 million (2007: US$nil) to write-down the inventory to recoverable amount.

16. interest in joint ventures
The Group has a 49% share of Dangote Energy Equity Resources Limited (DEER), a jointly controlled entity which is involved in operations in JDZ Block One.

The Group has a 50% interest in Afren Global Energy Resources Limited (AGER), a jointly controlled entity.  AGER holds the Production Sharing Contracts for OPLs 907 
and 917 which were signed in February 2008.  In 2007 AGER’s operations as at the year end were not material to the Group.  

The Group’s share of DEER’s and AGER’s assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entities at 31 December 2008 and 2007 and for the years then 
ended, which are included in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

     2008 2007

50% share  
in ager 

us$000’s

49% share  
in deer

us$000’s

49% share  
in DEER

US$000’s

Current assets  879  121 29 

Non-current assets  3,206  17,221 16,809 

4,085 17,342 16,838 

Current liabilities  – (281) (33)

Non-current liabilities  – – –

4,085 17,061 16,805 

Administrative expenses  113 (17) 13 

Bank interest received  –  – –

Loss/(profit) before and after income tax 113 (17) 13 
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17. trade and other receivaBles

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Trade and other debtors 20,731 5,266 689 4,840 

Prepayments and accrued income 33,948 6,354 10,689 2,171 

VAT recoverable 1,351 1,006 1,346 940 

Due from subsidiary undertakings (i) – – 304,614 121,575 

Due from joint ventures – – 13,393 10,359 

56,030 12,626 330,731 139,885 

(i) The amount in the Company is shown net of a provision for doubtful debt of US$20,931,000 (2007: US$nil).

Trade and other debtors in respect of the Group includes US$14.6 million (2007: US$nil) owed by customers in respect of crude oil and gas sales.  

Prepayments and accrued income in respect of the Group includes a US$13.6 million (2007: US$nil) accrued income on crude and gas sales and US$7.9 million in 
prepayment of operating costs relating to the Floating Production and Storage Offtake vessel (FPSO) for the Okoro field (2007: US$4.0 million).  Prepayments also include 
US$10 million (2007: US$nil) deposited with third parties in respect of pending transactions.

There were no material past due not impaired receivables at either balance sheet date, nor any material bad debt provisions (other than as disclosed above in respect of 
intercompany balances).

18. cash and cash equivalents

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Cash and cash equivalents 117,719 91,783 39,106 39,937 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and Company in the form of short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and 
earn interest at respective short-term deposit rates.  The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value. 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2008 includes US$58.9 million (2007: US$25 million) that is restricted.  This relates to short-term restrictions on project cash, 
pending completion of certain milestones.

19. trade and other PayaBles

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Trade creditors 70,608 10,980 2,949 1,832 

Other creditors 21,918 3,695 532 –

Accruals 51,880 23,469 2,474 8,753 

PAYE and social security 1,058 286 1,012 261 

VAT payable 291 181 – –

Derivative financial instruments – 1,408 – –

Due to subsidiary undertakings – – 30,782 78 

145,755 40,019 37,749 10,924 

Group accruals include interest payable of US$5,562,000 (2007: US$1,495,000) relating to the bank borrowings described in note 20, and US$414,000 of coupon 
interest relating to loan notes described in note 23.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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20. Borrowings and derivative financial instruments
Borrowings

      Group       Group

       2008       2007

current
us$000’s

non-current
us$000’s

Current
US$000’s

Non-current
US$000’s

Convertible bond (note 22) –  – –  69,206 

Loan notes (note 23) –  33,205 –  – 

Bank borrowings (see below) 111,218  260,741 –  77,485 

111,218 293,946 – 146,691 

     Company      Company

       2008       2007

current
us$000’s

non-current
us$000’s

Current
US$000’s

Non-current
US$000’s

Convertible bond (note 22) – – – 69,206 

Bank borrowings at the year end included US$191.6 million (2007: US$32.4 million) relating to the US$230 million Okoro Development facility from BNP Paribas.  
Interest on the loan is based on LIBOR plus a margin of between 4.5% and 5.75% as at 31 December 2008.  The facility is repayable in semi-annual instalments of 
approximately US$30.0 million ending in 2011.  The loan is secured by the assets of the Okoro field.  The repayment profile is impacted by borrowing base calculations 
linked to the certified reserves of the Okoro field.

In addition, the acquisition of operations in Côte d’lvoire were financed by a financing package arranged through BNP Paribas.  The outstanding balance on the 
financing package was US$139.6 million (US$133.9 million net of financing arrangement costs) as at 31 December 2008.  Repayment instalments for US$72.9 million 
(senior debt) of the facility amount are determined by borrowing base calculations linked to the certified reserves of the Côte d’lvoire operations whilst US$66.7 million 
(subordinate debt) of the facility is repayable in semi-annual instalments of US$6.7 million commencing January 2010.  Interest on the senior debt is based on LIBOR plus 
a margin of between 3.25% and 3.5% as at 31 December 2008. Interest on the subordinate debt is based on LIBOR plus a margin of 4.25%.  The senior debt includes 
certain financial covenants which are assessed on a quarterly basis.

Borrowings also include a balance of US$46.5 million (2007: US$45.1 million) relating to an unsecured loan facility from First City Monument Bank plc (FCMB).   
Interest on the loan is based on LIBOR plus a margin of 4.45%.  The loan is repayable in six equal semi-annual instalments commencing 2010 and ending in 2012.

Derivative financial instruments

      Group       Group

       2008       2007

current
us$000’s

non-current
us$000’s

Current
US$000’s

Non-current
US$000’s

Financial assets 29,161  20,354 –  – 

Financial liabilities –  – 1,408  4,575 

29,161 20,354 1,408 4,575 

In 2007 the Group entered into derivative financial instruments (swaps and call options) to economically protect against exposures to variability in the price of Okoro 
crude oil production for 2008, 2009 and 2010.  The Group will receive a minimum amount if the market falls, but will receive a set discount from the market price if the 
oil price is above that minimum.  The arrangement protects the Group against the risk of a significant fall in the price of crude oil by establishing a minimum price for 
the Okoro crude.  During 2008 on acquisition of CI-11 field in Côte d’lvoire from Devon, the Group entered into similar instruments to protect against variability in price 
of CI-11 crude oil production for 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012.  The gains of US$54.7 million (2007: loss of US$6.0 million) arising during the year as a result of the 
changes in fair value of these derivative financial instruments are accounted for in the income statement, as the criteria for hedge accounting were not met.  

In addition to the above commodity derivatives, the change in functional currency of the holding company from pound sterling to US dollar in July 2008 described in 
note 2 has resulted in certain sterling denominated warrants being accounted for as derivatives from that date, as they are no longer convertible at a fixed price in that 
company’s functional currency.  Accordingly the fair value of the warrants at that date of US$27.1 million was recorded as a liability which resulted in a charge to retained 
earnings, after reversing the amounts previously recorded in equity, of US$23.7 million.  The fair value of the warrants at 31 December 2008, recorded within other 
creditors, was US$0.5 million and the resultant movement since July of US$26.6 million has been taken to the income statement.  
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20. Borrowings and derivative financial instruments continued
The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings is set-out below on an undiscounted basis.

Group maturity profile 
2008

us$000’s
2007

US$000’s

Due within one year  111,218  11,030 

Due within two to five years  318,421  157,410 

Due after five years  –    –   

429,639 168,440 

Company maturity profile
2008

us$000’s
2007

US$000’s

Due within one year  –  7,360 

Due within two to five years  –  71,061 

Due after five years  – –

 – 78,421 

fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments:

              Carrying amount                Fair value

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Financial assets

Derivative financial instruments 49,515 – 49,515  – 

Cash and cash equivalents  117,719  91,783  117,719  91,783 

Trade and other receivables  34,365  5,266  34,365  5,266 

Available for sale investments  211  1,475  211 1,475 

201,810 98,524 201,810 98,524 

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments –  5,983 – 5,983 

Trade creditors 70,608  10,980 70,608 10,980 

Other creditors 21,918  3,695 21,918 3,695 

Borrowings – BNP Paribas 191,588  32,384 186,803 37,604 

Borrowings – FCMB 46,501  45,101 47,192 50,415 

Borrowings – Côte d’lvoire 133,870 – 128,751 –

Loan notes 33,205 – 39,842 –

Convertible bond –  69,206 – 136,299 

497,690 167,349 495,114 244,976 

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments have been determined by reference to observable data in quoted markets at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of bank borrowings and loan notes have been determined by discounting future cash outflows relating to the borrowings and loan notes respectively. 
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20. Borrowings and derivative financial instruments continued
Sensitivity analysis
interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings.  The Group has managed the interest rate risk by 
using a mix of fixed and variable rates on convertible bonds, loan notes and bank borrowings respectively.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to changes in LIBOR rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax. 

2008 Increase

Increase in
Group loss

US$000 Decrease

Decrease in
Group loss

US$000

Interest payable 1% (1,463) 1% 1,464 

2007 Increase

Increase in
Group loss

US$000 Decrease

Decrease in
Group loss

US$000

Interest payable 1% (155) 1% 144 

oil price risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in oil price relates primarily to the Group’s derivative financial instruments.  The terms of the derivative financial instruments 
are such that the Group will receive a minimum amount if the market falls, but will receive a set discount from the market price if the oil price is above that minimum.   
The effect on Group loss and equity of changes in the oil price on the fair value of the derivative financial instruments is shown below:

Positive/
(adverse)

2008
us$000

Positive/ 
(adverse)

2007
US$000

Increase in oil price by 10% (8,872) (582)

Decrease in oil price by 10% 10,025 902 

foreign exchange risk
The effect on Group loss and equity of a 10% change in the closing sterling to US dollar exchange rate is shown below:

Positive/
(adverse)

2008
us$000

Increase in exchange rate by 10% 2,533

Decrease in exchange rate by 10% (2,533)

The impact of a 10% change in the Nigerian Naira to US Dollar exchange rate would not be material in 2008 or in 2007.  The impact of a 10% change in the Sterling to 
US Dollar exchange rate was not material in 2007.

Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it remains sufficiently funded to support its business strategy and maximise shareholder value.  The Group’s funding needs 
are met through a combination of debt and equity.  The Group monitors net debt position on an ongoing basis.  The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing 
loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.  Capital includes share capital, share premium, other reserves and accumulated losses.
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21. Provision for decommissioning

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

At 1 January – – – –

Provision in respect of Okoro and CI-11 producing fields 19,926 – – –

Unwinding of discount 350 – – –

At 31 December 20,276 – – –

The provision for decommissioning has been recognised following the start of production from the Okoro field and following the acquisition of the CI-11 field in 2008.   
The provision represents the present value of the amounts that are expected to be incurred up to 2016.  The provision has been made using Afren’s internal estimates 
that management believe form a reasonable basis for the expected future costs of decommissioning. 

22. convertiBle Bonds
Convertible bonds related to the private placement in 2006 of US$75.0 million equivalent in British Pounds (being £41.25 million) of Convertible Senior Unsecured  
Bonds due 2011.  The bonds were at a coupon of 9% per annum (payable semi-annually) and were converted into ordinary shares of the Company during 2008.   
The conversion price of 58.2p (approximately) per ordinary share was set at a 25% premium to the price determined in the pricing method at the time of issue.   
The Bonds also contained other terms, including anti-dilution provisions effective in the event of certain future issuances, and a bondholder put option, payable in  
cash or shares (at a discount to the share price during the period prior to payment) at the Company’s option.  The bonds were converted to equity in July 2008.
 

Group and Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Liability component at 1 January 72,912 68,177 

Interest charged 5,512 10,514 

Incentive on early conversion of bonds 9,332 –

Amortisation of bond issue costs 225 405 

Exchange difference 9 1,133 

Interest paid (16,731) (7,317)

Conversion of bonds (71,259) –

– 72,912 

Reported in:

Group and Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Interest payable in current liabilities – 3,706 

Non-current liabilities – 69,206 

Total liability component at 31 December – 72,912 

The interest charged until conversion is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 15.2% to the liability component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued

23. loan notes

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Nominal value at date of issue, net of issue costs  39,901 – – –

Equity component (note 30) (7,350) – – –

Unwinding of discount 422 – – –

Coupon interest 414 – – –

Amortised issue costs 232 – – –

33,619 – – –

Reported in:

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Interest payable in current liabilities 414 – – –

Non-current liabilities 33,205 – – –

Total liability component at 31 December 33,619 – – –

On 9 October 2008 Afren entered into a strategic alliance with Sojitz, a Japanese investment and industrial conglomerate, to jointly pursue acquisition opportunities 
of scale in Africa.  Sojitz invested US$45 million in the form of loan notes in Afren which become convertible bonds at the time of entering into or announcing joint 
acquisitions.  The loan notes bear a coupon based on LIBOR plus a margin of 2%.  The net proceeds from the issue of the loan notes were split between a liability 
component and an equity component at the date of issue.  The liability component of the loan notes was US$33.2 million as at 31 December 2008.  The interest 
charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 11.7% to the liability component.  The loan notes are repayable in full in October 2011.

24. contingent liaBilities
As at 31 December 2008 the Group had US$nil (2007: US$17.6 million) outstanding letter of credit issued by a bank relating to a drilling contract on the Okoro 
development.  The Group had a US$6.0 million (2007: US$nil) stand-by letter of credit issued by a bank in respect of contractual arrangements of the FPSO.

As part of the contractual arrangements on the Ofa field in Nigeria, Afren may be liable to contribute up to a maximum of US$500,000 in respect of abandonment 
should certain events specified in the contract occur.

25. share caPital and share Premium

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

(i) Authorised

800 million ordinary shares of 1p each (equivalent to approx US$1.45 cents) (2007: 400 million) 11,600 7,836 

Equity share capital
allotted and fully paid

Share
premium

Number US$000’s US$000’s

(ii) Allotted equity share capital and share premium

As at 1 January 2008 273,006,563 5,365 146,245 

Issued during the year for cash (i) 100,490,511 1,977 228,673 

Non-cash shares issued (ii) 73,494,785  1,464 72,040 

As at 31 December 2008 446,991,859 8,806 446,958 

(i) Share premium figure is shown net of issue costs of US$7.7 million.
(ii) Non-cash shares issued were primarily in respect of the conversion of the convertible bonds during 2008.
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26. taxation

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

UK corporation tax – –

Overseas corporation tax 520 –

520 –

The current tax can be reconciled to the overall tax charge as follows:

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Pre-tax loss (56,045) (39,039)

Tax at the UK corporate tax rate of 28.5% (2007: 30%) 15,973 11,712 

Tax effect of items which are not deductible for tax (12,628) (5,855)

Temporary differences not recognised (9,117) (1,348)

Adjustment to tax losses in respect of prior years – 72 

Items not subject to UK corporation tax 25,474 –

Effect of different tax rates (19) –

Overseas corporation tax 520 –

Loss not recognised (19,683) (4,581)

Tax charge for the year 520 –

At the balance sheet date the Group and Company had tax losses of US$101,956,000 (2007: US$32,827,000) and US$95,673,000 (2007: US$27,680,000) respectively, 
in respect of which a deferred tax asset has not been recognised as there is insufficient evidence of future taxable profits.  Such losses can be carried forward indefinitely.  
The Group and Company had temporary differences of US$34,185,000 (2007: US$2,396,000) and US$1,444,000 (2007: US$69,000) in respect of share-based 
payments, property, plant and equipment and pensions in respect of which deferred tax assets have not been recognised as there is insufficient evidence of future 
taxable profits.

Deferred tax has not been recognised on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries as the Group has no intention to remit the earnings to the UK in the foreseeable future.  
The extent of the unrecognised deferred tax in respect of this is not material.

27. oPerating lease and caPital commitments

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in income for the year 18,590 1,289 1,379 1,209 

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due  
as follows:

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Within one year 40,998 26,520 949 1,178 

In the second to fifth years 103,109 125,339 2,530 4,418 

144,107 151,859 3,479 5,596 

Operating lease commitments includes rentals of US$28.6 million (2007: US$25.2 million) within one year and US$100.0 million (2007: US$120.8 million) between two 
and five years for the FPSO that is used on the Okoro field production.  Other operating lease represents rentals payable by the Company and Group for certain of its 
office properties.  Property leases are negotiated for an average term of three years and rentals are fixed for an average term of three years.

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Capital commitments – Group

Oil and gas assets – Development  –  183,278 

Oil and gas assets – Exploration & Evaluation 11,154 3,951 

11,154 187,229 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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28. share-Based Payments
During 2008 the Group had in place three share-based payment arrangements for its employees and also issued warrants to a contractor.  The charge in relation to 
these arrangements is shown below, with further details of each scheme following:

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2005 Share Option Scheme 2,528 1,936

Long Term Incentive Plan 1,051 –

Share Award Scheme 7,123 –

Other (warrants) 117 59

10,819 1,995

2005 share option scheme
The Group operates a share option scheme for employees.  The Group’s policy is to award options to employees on appointment or completion of their probationary 
period and periodically thereafter.  Options are issued at market price on the grant date and have vesting periods of up to three years.  The options expire after 10 years  
if they remain unexercised and are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest except at the discretion of the Board. 

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

         2008        2007

number of
share options

weighted 
average 
exercise

price £
Number of

share options

Weighted 
average 
exercise
price £

Outstanding at beginning of year 27,520,000 0.72 22,478,152 0.52 

Granted during year 2,620,000 1.45 12,595,000 0.92 

Exercised during year (1,482,002) 0.56 (5,600,000) 0.35 

Lapsed during year (2,205,000) 1.07 (1,953,152) 0.83 

26,452,998 0.77 27,520,000 0.72 

Exercisable at end of year 15,953,231 0.68 10,315,000 0.56 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 31 December 2008 was 7.7 years (2007: 8.6 years).  In 2008 options were granted to  
eight new employees on joining or completion of their probationary period.  One Director received an award in April 2008 upon his appointment as Director.  The 
aggregate of the fair value of the options granted during 2008 was US$1.2 million (2007: US$1.9 million).
      
The weighted average share price for exercised options in 2008 was 158p (2007: 76p).
      
The options granted during the year have been valued by reference to the Barrier option valuation model, consistent with the prior year.  The inputs into the Barrier 
model were as follows:       

2008 2007

Weighted average share price (pence) 131.3 63.0

Weighted average exercise price (pence) 144.9 92.2 

Weighted average target price before eligibility to exercise (barrier) (pence) 147.2 111.1 

Expected volatility 50% 50%

Expected life (years) 3 3 

Risk free rate 5.0% 5.0%

Expected dividends – –

The volatility of Afren shares was again reviewed following a further 12 months of share price data.  The volatility was measured utilising several formulae, including an 
Exponentially Weighted Moving Average model and a GARCH (Generalised Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity) model, and over several time periods.  These 
gave a range of estimates for the share price volatility, but no significant change from the previous year.  Therefore the volatility assumption was kept as for last year, but 
will remain under review going forwards.

The Company and Group recognised total expenses related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions in the form of options in 2008 of US$2,528,000 of 
which US$2,512,000 related to employees, including Executive Directors, of the Group (2007: US$1,936,000 and US$1,759,000 respectively).
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28. share-Based Payments continued
long term incentive Plan
Equity-settled share option scheme
An alternative share plan was introduced during 2007 (and first grants made in June 2008) to give awards to Directors and staff subject to outperforming a comparator 
group of similarly focused oil and gas exploration and production companies in terms of shareholder return over a three-year period.  The Afren Performance Share 
Plan awards a number of shares to Directors and staff based on a multiple of salary.  However, these shares only vest after a three-year period and the full award made 
only if Afren has performed in the top quartile when compared against a selected peer group of upstream oil and gas companies focused on Africa: Addax, Bowleven, 
Gulf Keystone Petroleum, Gulfsands Petroleum, Hardy Oil & Gas, Mart Resources, Petroceltic International, Roc Oil Company, Serica Energy, Soco International, Sterling 
Energy, Stratic Energy, Tullow Oil, Vaalco Energy and White Nile.  If Afren does not achieve at least median performance in the peer group, no shares will be awarded.  
At the median level, 30% of the shares will vest and there is a sliding scale between median and top quartile performance where only a percentage of the total award 
will vest.  

Awards are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the awards vest, except under certain circumstances e.g. redundancies, where the number of awards 
vesting will be prorated according to the length of time the employee has been employed during the three-year vesting period.

Details of the share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

         2008        2007

number of
share options

weighted 
average 
exercise 

price £
Number of

share options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price £ 

Outstanding at beginning of year – – – –

Granted during the year 3,017,020 0.01 – –

Exercised in year – – – –

Forfeited during the year (264,458) 0.01 – –

Outstanding at end of year 2,752,562 0.01 – –

Exercisable at end of year – – – –

The awards outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.4 years and an exercise price of £0.01. 

The aggregate of the fair value of the options granted during 2008 was US$5.6 million.

The fair values were calculated using a stochastic model. The inputs used for fair valuing awards granted during 2008 were as follows: 

2008

Weighted average share price (pence) 171.0 

Weighted average exercise price (pence) 1.0 

Expected volatility 53%

Expected life (years) 3 

Risk free rate 5.0%

Expected dividends –

The volatility of Afren shares was calculated by looking at the available historic movements in Afren’s return index as defined by Datastream (an index which tracks share 
price plus reinvested dividends on the ex-dividend date) over the period commensurate with the proportion of the performance period that had not elapsed by the date 
of grant. 

The Company and Group recognised total expenses related to the above equity-settled share-based payment transactions in the form of Long Term Incentive Plan in 
2008 of US$749,000 and US$1,051,000 respectively (2007: US$nil). 

share award scheme
Equity-settled share award scheme
As part of the incentives to attract the Jefferies, Randall & Dewey technical team, a number of shares were awarded in 2008, subject to continuing employment in the 
most part, to the team.  None of this team was eligible to an award under the Long Term Incentive Plan.  The timing of the shares issued range from six months to three 
years over which the fair value was spread.
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28. share-Based Payments continued
Details of the awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

         2008

number of
share awards

weighted 
average 
exercise 

price £

Outstanding at beginning of year – –

Granted during the year  5,113,094 0.01

Exercised in year (2,143,531) 0.01

Lapsed during the year  –   –

Outstanding at end of year  2,969,563 0.01

Exercisable at end of year – –

The weighted average share price of awards exercised in the year was 51p.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 31 December 2008 was 0.9 years.  All awards have an exercise price of £0.01.   
In 2008 awards were granted to 13 new employees on joining from Randall and Dewey.  The aggregate of the fair value of the options granted during 2008  
was US$11.0 million.

As the exercise price for these awards is nominal and there are no market based vesting criteria, the awards granted during the year were valued using the share prices 
on dates of grant which was 137p on a weighted average basis. 

The Company and Group recognised total expenses related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions in relation to the above awards in 2008 of 
US$3,283,000 and US$7,123,000 respectively (2007: US$nil).

other equity-settled share consideration (warrants)
From time to time, the Company will give consideration for services or assets in the form of warrants.  In October 2008 the Company issued 250,000 warrants to  
a contractor. 

Details of the warrants outstanding during the year are as follows: 

         2008        2007

number of
warrants

weighted 
average 
exercise

price £
Number of

warrants

Weighted 
average 
exercise
price £

Outstanding at beginning of year 15,959,981 0.79 3,552,702 0.59 

Granted during the year 250,000 1.00 12,407,279 0.85 

Exercised during the year (1,864,981) 0.59 – –

Redesignated as financial liabilities in the year (12,000,000) 0.85 – –

Outstanding at end of year 2,345,000 0.67 15,959,981 0.79 

Exercisable at end of year 2,095,000 0.63 15,809,981 0.79 

The weighted average share price of warrants exercised in the year was 170p.
 
On 1 July 2008 the 12 million warrants granted to FCMB in 2007 were redesignated as financial liabilities (see note 20).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 31 December 2008 was 3.4 years (2007: 4.3 years).
 
The aggregate of the fair value of the warrants granted in 2008 was US$0.1 million (2007: US$3.5 million).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued
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28. share-Based Payments continued
The warrants granted during 2008 have been valued by reference to the Black Scholes option valuation model.  The inputs into the Black Scholes model were as follows:

2008 2007

Weighted average share price (pence) 65.0 60.3 

Weighted average exercise price (pence) 100.0 84.7 

Expected volatility 50% 50%

Weighted average expected life (years) 3.1 2.5 

Risk free rate 5.0% 5.0%

Expected dividends – –

The Company and Group recognised total costs of US$117,000 (2007: US$3,454,400), of which US$117,000 (2007: US$59,000) was expensed, related to equity-settled 
share-based transactions in the form of warrants in 2008.

During the year the Company and Group issued 2,314,102 shares (US$2,247,000) to satisfy professional fees payable in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries 
described in note 29.

29. acquisition of suBsidiaries
On 25 September 2008, Afren announced that it had completed the acquisition of Devon Energy Corporation’s interests in Côte d’Ivoire, comprising a 47.96%  
working interest and operatorship of the producing Block C1-11, a direct participating 65% interest (with rights over an additional 15% interest) and operatorship in 
the undeveloped Block C1-01 and a 100% interest in the onshore Lion Gas Plant, effective 30 June 2007.  The adjusted consideration for the acquisition, including 
transaction costs and working capital adjustments, was US$184.3 million funded through a financing package arranged by BNP Paribas.  The transaction took the  
form of an acquisition of 100% of the ordinary shares of Devon Côte d’Ivoire Ltd (CI-11), Devon CI One Corporation (CI-01) and Lion G.P.L., S.A. (Lion GPL). 

The fair value of net assets acquired was as follows:

CI-11 
US$000’s

CI-01 
US$000’s

Lion GPL 
US$000’s

Total 
US$000’s

Oil and gas assets 89,850 35,502 54,578 179,930 

Other property, plant and equipment 399 – 162 561 

Inventories 7,093 – 1,591 8,684 

Trade and other receivables 8,077 – 1,929 10,006 

Cash and cash equivalents 285 – 238 523 

Trade and other payables (5,275) – (344) (5,619)

Provision for decommissioning (9,831) – – (9,831)

90,598 35,502 58,154 184,254 

Total consideration 184,254 

Total consideration 184,254 

Less cash and cash equivalents acquired (523)

Less accrued consideration (12,735)

Less non-cash costs of acquisition (i) (2,247)

Cash outflow on acquisition 168,749 

(i) Non-cash costs of acquisition relates to shares issued to satisfy professional fees payable in respect of the acquisition.
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29. acquisition of suBsidiaries continued
The book values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and their fair value to the Group is as follows:

CI-11 CI-01

Book value
US$000’s

Fair value 
adjustments

US$000’s

Fair value  
to the Group 

US$000’s
Book value
US$000’s

Fair value 
adjustments

US$000’s

Fair value  
to the Group 

US$000’s

Oil and gas assets 16,083 73,767 89,850 57,189 (21,687) 35,502 

Other property, plant and equipment 648 (249) 399 160 (160) –

Inventories 4,994 2,099 7,093 – – –

Trade and other receivables 73,081 (65,004) 8,077 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 285 – 285 – – –

Trade and other payables (6,128) 853 (5,275) (98,766) 98,766 –

Deferred tax balances (425) 425 – – – –

Investment in subsidiaries – – – (2,165) 2,165 –

Provision for decommissioning (933) (8,898) (9,831) – – –

87,605 2,993 90,598 (43,582) 79,084 35,502 

Lion GPL

Book value
US$000’s

Fair value 
adjustments

US$000’s

Fair value  
to the Group 

US$000’s

Oil and gas assets 19,606 34,972 54,578 

Other property, plant and equipment 87 75 162 

Inventories 163 1,428 1,591 

Trade and other receivables 35,968 (34,039) 1,929 

Cash and cash equivalents 238 – 238 

Trade and other payables (386) 42 (344)

55,676 2,478 58,154 

CI-11 contributed US$0.1 million to the Group’s revenue and a US$10.1 million loss to the Group’s result for the period between the date of acquisition and the balance 
sheet date.

Lion GPL contributed US$5.3 million to the Group’s revenue and made a US$1.4 million profit, reducing the Group’s loss for the period between the date of acquisition 
and the balance sheet date. 

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2008, the total Group revenue for the year would have been US$85.2 million, and Group loss for the year would 
have been US$45.1 million. This proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the revenue and results of the Group that 
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2008, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued



Afren plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2008 87

30. other reserves

Translation
reserve

US$000’s
Loan notes 
US$000’s

Convertible
bond

US$000’s

Investment
revaluation

reserve
US$000’s

Share-based
payment

reserve
US$000’s

Shares to be 
issued 

US$000’s
Total

US$000’s

group

At 1 January 2007 (2,701) – 14,263 245 4,235 – 16,042 

Share-based payments for services – – – – 1,936 – 1,936 

Other share-based payments – – – – 3,454 – 3,454 

Transfer to retained earnings – – (2,974) – (1,495) – (4,469)

Revaluation of available for sale investments – – – 227 – – 227 

Exchange differences (318) – – – – – (318)

At 31 December 2007 (3,019) – 11,289 472 8,130 – 16,872 

Share-based payments for services – – – – 10,701 – 10,701 

Other share-based payments – – – – 118 – 118 

Issue of loan notes, net of costs – 7,350 – – – – 7,350 

Transfer to retained earnings – (370) (1,789) – (3,849) – (6,008)

Conversion of bonds into shares – – (9,500) – – – (9,500)

Redesignation of warrants as financial liabilities – – – – (3,395) – (3,395)

Revaluation of available for sale investments – – – (472) – – (472)

Shares to be issued – – – – – 319 319 

Exchange differences 2,188 – – – – – 2,188 

At 31 December 2008 (831) 6,980 – – 11,705 319 18,173 

Translation
reserve

US$000’s

Convertible
bond

US$000’s

Investment
revaluation

reserve
US$000’s

Share-based
payment

reserve
US$000’s

Shares to be 
issued 

US$000’s
Total

US$000’s

company

At 1 January 2007 – 14,263 245 4,235 – 18,743 

Share-based payments for services – – – 1,936 – 1,936 

Other share-based payments – – – 3,454 – 3,454 

Transfer to retained earnings – (2,974) – (1,495) – (4,469)

Revaluation of available for sale investments – – 227 – – 227 

Exchange differences (551) – – – – (551)

At 31 December 2007 (551) 11,289 472 8,130 – 19,340 

Share-based payments for services – – – 6,573 – 6,573 

Other share-based payments – – – 118 – 118 

Transfer to retained earnings – (1,789) – (2,932) – (4,721)

Conversion of bonds into shares – (9,500) – – – (9,500)

Redesignation of warrants as financial liabilities – – – (3,395) – (3,395)

Shares to be issued – – – – 319 319 

Revaluation of available for sale investments – – (472) – – (472)

Exchange differences 2,154 – – – – 2,154 

At 31 December 2008 1,603 – – 8,494 319 10,416 
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31. Profit and loss account

               Group               Company

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

At 1 January (58,666) (24,096) (32,188) (11,065)

Loss for the year (56,565) (39,039) (25,911) (25,592)

Redesignation of warrants as financial liabilities (23,711) – (23,711) –

Transfer from other reserves 15,508 4,469 14,221 4,469 

At 31 December (123,434) (58,666) (67,589) (32,188)

32. Post Balance sheet events
On 23 January 2009, Afren announced the Board of Directors had approved 6.5 million share option awards over the ordinary shares of 1p each in the Company to 
Executive Directors of the Company.

On 12 February 2009, Gasol plc announced that it had successfully placed 200 million shares with Afren plc at 0.5p raising £1 million and increasing Afren’s ownership  
to 21.3%. 

On 26 March 2009, Afren announced the results of an independent assessment of the in place oil and recoverable reserves from the Ebok field in Nigeria by Netherland, 
Sewell & Associates Inc. (NSAI) together with details of future development scenarios for the field.

On 1 May 2009, Afren obtained shareholder approval for a placing with institutional investors of 265 million new ordinary shares of the Company at 32p per share 
which resulted in £84.8 million (US$126 million) being raised, before commissions and expenses.

33. related Party transactions
The transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation.  Amounts owed by and to such 
subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 17 and 19 respectively.  Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries were as follows:

2008
subsidiaries

us$000’s
joint ventures

us$000’s

Net loan advances 152,257 3,034 

Investments 10,213 –

2007
Subsidiaries

US$000’s
Joint Ventures

US$000’s

Net loan advances 63,388 559 

remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’.  

2008
us$000’s

2007
US$000’s

Short-term employee benefits 4,882 3,034 

Other long-term benefits 87 63 

Termination benefits 549 105 

Share-based payment 4,555 764 

10,073 3,966 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
continued
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trading transactions

      Purchase of goods/services 
         Amounts owed  

          to related parties

year ended 
2008

us$000’s

Year ended 
2007

US$000’s

year ended 
2008

us$000’s

Year ended 
2007

US$000’s

Energy Investment Holdings Ltd  8,298  4,710  –   –

St. John Advisors  524  20  –    –   

Tzell Travel Group  556 177  83 –

H'Art of Africa  87  n/a   –    n/a  

Energy Investment Holdings Ltd is the contractor company for the consulting services of Bert Cooper, a member of the International Advisory Board and Special Adviser 
to the Board.  The majority of the payments relate to success fees for acquisitions and financing arrangements.  Of this total, US$2.25 million was paid in shares in 2008 
(2007: US$3.15 million).
  
St. John Advisors is the contractor company for the consulting services of John St. John, a non-executive Director.  The majority of the payments relate to success fees for 
equity financing.  St. John Advisors also receive a monthly retainer of £15,000 for equity consulting advice.  This contract is for 12 months from 27 June 2008.  

Tzell Travel Group operates as a franchise.  The franchisee utilised by Afren for some of its travel needs is a close family member of the Chief Executive Officer and Tzell 
Travel Group is therefore considered a related party.  Afren uses several travel agents as there is a significant travel element to its operations and Tzell competes on an 
even basis with these.  Tzell provided approximately 20% of the travel arrangements by value in 2008.      

H’Art of Africa is a business specialising in the importation of African art.  It is owned and run by a close family member of a Director of Afren appointed in 2008 and was 
engaged to source art for the Afren office in the UK.           
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Glossary of Terms

AGM
Annual General Meeting

appraisal well
A well drilled to follow up a discovery and evaluate its 
commercial potential

bbls 
barrels of oil

bcf 
billion cubic feet of gas

bn
billion

boe 
barrels of oil equivalent

boepd 
barrels of oil equivalent per day

bopd 
barrels of oil per day

capital employed 
equity plus interest-bearing debt

CR 
Corporate Responsibility

deg API 
a measure of how heavy or light a petroleum liquid is 
compared with water

dwt 
dead weight tonnage

EHSS 
Environment, Health, Safety and Security

farm-in 
to acquire an interest in a licence from another party

farm-out 
to assign an interest in a licence to another party

FPSO 
Floating Production Storage and Offloading vessel

ft 
feet

GOR 
Gas Oil Ratio

H1 
first half

H2 
second half

Hydrocarbons 
compounds containing only the elements hydrogen 
and carbon, they may exist as solids, liquids or gases

JDZ 
Joint Development Zone

joint venture or JV 
a group of companies who share the cost and 
rewards of exploring for and producing oil or gas 
from a Permit or Licence

km2 
square kilometres

licence or permit 
area of specified size, which is licensed to a company 
by the government for production of oil and gas

LSE 
London Stock Exchange

Major 
Major international oil company

m 
metres

mmbbl, mmbbls 
million barrels

mmboe 
millions of barrels of oil equivalent

mmcf/d 
million cubic feet of gas per day

MOPP
Mobile Offshore Production Platform

MOU 
Memorandum of Understanding

OML 
Oil Mining Licence

operator 
a company which organises the exploration and 
production programmes in a permit or licence  
on behalf of all the interest holders in the permit  
or licence

OPL 
Oil Prospecting Licence

Q1 
first quarter

Q2 
second quarter

Q3 
third quarter

Q4 
fourth quarter

spud 
to commence drilling a well

STOIIP 
Stock Tank Oil Initially In Place

tcf 
trillion cubic feet of gas

WI 
working interest

1P 
proven

2P 
proven and probable

3D 
three-dimensional

3P 
proven, probable and possible
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Afren is a leading independent oil and gas exploration 
and production company. 

Our focus lies exclusively on the vibrant continent of 
Africa, the world’s fastest growing source of natural 
resources and an increasingly key supplier to the major 
global economies.

By adhering to, and delivering against, a clear and 
differentiated strategy, Afren has continued on the 
sound growth trajectory we have set in previous years. 

The year 2008 heralded a landmark as we achieved 
our stated goal of First Oil.  This, coupled with recent 
appraisal drilling results, points to the potential  
of producing up to 65,000 barrels of oil equivalent  
a day by the close of 2010.

Afren: an African  
Success Story 

Designed and produced by SampsonMay  
Telephone: 020 7403 4099 www.sampsonmay.com
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Secretary and Registered Office
Shirin Johri
Afren plc
3rd Floor, Kinnaird House
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Afren plc
Kinnaird House
 1 Pall Mall East
London SW1Y 5AU
England

T: +44 (0)20 7451 9700
F: +44 (0)20 7451 9701

Email: info@afren.com

www.afren.com

Afren Energy Resources Limited 
 1st Floor, The Octagon
 13A, A.J. Marinho Drive
Victoria Island Annexe
Lagos
Nigeria
 
T: +234 (1) 4610130 – 7
F: +234 (1) 4610139

Afren Côte d’Ivoire, Limited
Avenue Delafosse Prolongée
RDC Résidence Pelieu
04 B P 827 Abidjan 04
Côte d’Ivoire

T: +225 20 254 000
F: +225 20 226 229

Afren Resources USA Inc
 10001 Woodloch Forest Drive
Suite 360
The Woodlands
Texas 77380
USA

T: +1 281 363 8600
F: +1 281 292 0019
 

Afren Energy Resources Ghana Limited
c/o GNPC
 1st Floor, Petroleum House
PMB, Tema
Ghana

T/F: +233 22 206 828
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